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CONVERGING MARKET FORCES =

RAPID GLOBALIZATION, INDUSTRY RATIONALIZATION AND GREATER DEMAND
FOR PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGY — ARE CREATING AN ENVIRONMENT
WHERE PROGRESSIVE AND FISCALLY RESPONSIBLE COMPANIES WILL

CONTINUE TO PROSPER
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As we enter our 80th year of providing innovative

technologies to the global transportation, industrial and

consumer markets, we are more enthusiastic than ever

about our future and the future of the industry.

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION INTENDS TO CONTINUE TO PROSPER by providing advanced chemical
formulations designed tc meet specific customer needs. Building upon decades of technical knowledge, a
powerful global organization and leading positions in the markets we serve, we’'ll continue to offer customers
the best overall solutions to the challenges of a complex and evolving marketplace that enable them to become

even more successful.

FINANGIAL ISHLIGHTS

Increase

[In Milliens Except Per Share and Employee Datal 2007 2004 [Decrease) .
Operations Mail FgFa, S‘J
RevenUeS. e e $4,49%.0 $4,040.8 1%
Income from continuing operations............. ... o 283.4 179.8 58% Loy ca g TR
NELINCOME. ...\t 283.4 103.6 174% MAR €4 e
Income from continuing operations per share, diluted ... ............. 4.05 2.59 56%
Net income per share, diluted .. ..................coo i 4.03 1.49 172% Washingﬁﬁﬁ, Q@
Dividends per share. . ... ... ... it e 116 1.04 12% 091 -
Cash provided by operating activities ................. ... ... 0une. 476.4 3348 42%
Return on average shareholders’ equity ............. ... ... ...... 16% 6% 167%
As Adjusted Income From Continuing Operations Per Share, Diluted*
Income from continuing operations per share, diluted as reported. ..... $ 405 $ 259 56%
Restructuring and tmpairment charges ................. .. .oiene (.01 0.47
As adjusted income from continuing operations per share, diluted. .. .. $ 404 $ 306 33%
Financial Position
Total @SSBtS. L.t $4,4438 $4,390.9 &%
Shareholders equity . ... 1.951.3 1.683.1 16%
Debt as a percent of capitalization................ ... 42% 48% (13%)
Other
Capital expenditures. .. ... ... . i i e $ 1828 $ 1309 40%
Shares outstanding at December 31 ......... ... oo oL 68.4 49.0 (1%]
Number of employees ... ... ... e e 6,921 6,746 %

1
COMMBN HISTORY !

2007 2006
High Low Low

T QUAIT BT . L ottt e $64.13 $48.76 $41.70
2N QUATEET i e e e 69.89 51.40 38.52
A QUM BN, L e 68.46 52.38 38.03
£ I TV o U 6%.95 3416 4416

*Non-GAAP Disclosure Recontiliation - As adjusted income from continuing eperations per share, diluted (non-GAAP] is a measure of earnings that differs
from income from cantinuing operations per share, diluted measured in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles [GAAPI. As adjusted
income from continuing operations per share, diluted is earnings from continuing aperations per share, diluted per the company’s consolidated results
adjusted for exclusion of restructuring and impairment charges. Management believes that both income from continuing operations per share, diluted and
as adjusted income from continuing operations per share, diluted, which excludes these special charges, assist the investor in understanding the results of
operations of The Lubrizol Corporation. In addition, management and the board evaluate results using both income from continuing operations per share,

diluted and as adjusted income from cantinuing operations per share, diluted,
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

It's a great time to be a

MARKET LEADER
IN SPECIALTY CHEMICALS

Customer requirements demand unsurpassed
expertise in chemical synthesis and formulating science.
Dramatic changes in global businesses require extra-
ordinary responsiveness in both people and processes.
Shareholders expect appropriate returns on their invest-
ments. And it is of the utmost importance to us, our
employees and our communities that we canduct business
in a respectful and responsible manner.

At The Lubrizol Corporation, we see these demands
as opportunities to continue distinguishing ourselves.

Our record-setting financial perfarmance in 2007
demonstrates our success. Total revenues grew 11 percent
over 2006 resulls to $4.5 biltion, earnings increased to
$4.05 per share and cash flow from operations was $476
million for the year. Record results like these require an
grganization to have a clear vision, effective strategies and
a comnmitted work force.

The Lubrizol Additives segment generated record
income for the fourth consecutive year through its contin-
ved emphasis on commercial leadership and technology
development. In a market characterized as “flat,” we con-
tinued to harvest growth opportunities throeugh technical
innovations and superior service that contributed to our
customers’ success.

We are applying this same customer focus to, and
saw commercial successin, the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
segment. We continued investing in technology, capacity
and people that increased our capabilities, and believe
that these are markets and technologies where we will
add considerable value over time,

A LEADER IN TECHNOLOGY INNOVATION

Lubrizol's technical and commercial teams work
closely with customers, equipment manufacturers,
technical societies and regulators to understand current
and future market needs.

While we serve many different markets, similar
technologies drive their growth. All our product lines can
be reduced in concept to functionalized polymers and
surface active agents that are highly formulated for
specific performance attributes. We provide unigue value
stemming from a strong and focused technology base that
is growing into many new commercial areas. Qur know-
how in micro-dispersions led to energy-saving industrial
grease additives and to combustion improvers for fuels.
Polymerization expertise developed for Performance
Coatings found success in personal care products. Stat-
istical modeling capabilities developed for transportation
additive formulations are accelerating product develop-
ment in our Consumer Specialties and Engineered
Polymers product lines. Our broader complementary
technology base increases the speed and reduces the cost
of bringing products to market.
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Innovation also includes applying existing tech-
nologies to new or adjacent markets. We expanded
our TempRite® engineered polymers business into new
flexible piping applications. We grew Performance Coatings
hyperdispersants product sales into plastics additives.
And we launched our BiocQualified™ additives program to
support the performance needs for biofuels.

Superior market understanding and products,
coupled with a dedication to helping customers succeed,
proved to be a winning combination for Lubrizol in 2007.

A LEADER IN GLOBAL SUPPLY

Streamlined, scalable processes enable our world-
wide technical, commercial and product supply activities
to aperate more efficiently. While optimizing our ability
to serve established markets, we continued making
investments that increased capacities for our faster-
growing product lines. By deing so, we are establishing a
balanced, global platform for continued growth.

o Inthe Americas, we expanded Estane® engineered
polymers production in our Avon Lake, Ohio facility.
We also opened a technology and commercial center in
Sao Paulo, Brazil supporting our products for personal
care applications.

o In Europe, we consolidated the manufacture of Lubrizol
Additives products in our regional hub in Rouen, France,
and we began expanding Performance Coatings hyper-
dispersants production in Huddersfield, United Kingdom.

o Tosupport double-digit growth in Asia, we commis-
stoned an applications lahoratory for Performance
Coatings in Mumbai, India; added a conductive
polymers manufacturing line in Seremban, Malaysia:
and increased staffing in Pudong, China. In Songjiang,
China, we began a significant site development project,
adding manufacturing, laboratory, technical service
and commercial capabilities across all Advanced

Materials product lines.

These investments enabling global growth are
paying off, as sales outside the United States accounted
for 62 percent of total revenue in 2007.

We equally were intent on attracting, developing
and unifying the people resources that woutd create
shareholder value today and lead this organization in the
future. We established a global recruitment system to
support worldwide staffing needs. We created a common
training system to enhance employee develapment, And
we maintained our effort in deploying business processes
and communications tools that speed information flow
throughout the arganization.




James L. Hambrick

A LEADER IN FINANCIAL STRENGTH

Given the recent uncertainties in the capital
markets, a strong balance sheet inspires great confidence
among customers, employees and shareholders. Over the
last several years we reduced debt substantially, yet still
ended 2007 with a cash balance in excess of $500 million,
This strength enhances our financial flexibility to pursue
our strategic initiatives of organic growth, operating
improvements and portfolio enhancement.

Record earnings and excellent working capital
management contributed to Lubrizol's record cash flow of
$476 million, a 42 percent improvement over 2004, This
added to the foundation for making investments to enhance
our competitive advantage and increase shareholder returns.

Capital expenditures represented one area of
substantial investment in 2007 as we spent $183 million
on new capacity to meet growing demand for our products,
as well as an projects necessary to maintain the health of
our operations.

We made two acquisitions in 2007, investing a
total of $140 million. We purchased Croda International
Plc's refrigeration lubricants business and the metal-
working additives preduct line of Lockhart Chemical
Company. These purchases contributed to our strategic
goals of geographic expansion and product line extension
and are expected ta deliver more than $120 million per
year in new revenue. We continue to evaluate possible
future acquisitions.

We reduced debt by $113 million during the year,
completely repaying the remaining balance on our euro
credit facility. And we rewarded shareholders by repur-
chasing $100 million in common shares and by raising our
quarterly dividend by 15 percent.

A LEADER IN CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

At Lubrizol, the manner in which we achieve results
is as impartant as the results themselves. Our founders’
Carporate Philosophy remains our touchstone, and | am
confident that they would have been as proud as | am of
our total performance in 2007.

Q

Personnel and environmental safety remained
of paramount importance, and | am pleased that we
had no major incidents at any of our facilities in 2007. In
addition, six U.S. facilities received certification for their
Responsible Care® Management Systems. Our Deer Park,
Texas and Wickliffe, Ohio operations earned the added
distinction of OSHA's Voluntary Protection Program Star
status - a distinction that fewer than one in 4,000 U.5.
plants can claim. All our plants and laboratories around
the world are well-recagnized for their progressive and
committed operating record of continuous improvement.

| am proud of our continued emphasis on both
company and individual philanthropy. We recognize that
success as an organization relies on the success of the
communities in which we operate. Lubrizol welcomes the
opportunity to give something back to the many places we
call “home,” whether through the $2.9 million provided by
The Lubrizol Foundation, charitable giving managed locally
by site leaders around the world or supporting employees’
time away from work to contribute their own efforts.

In conclusion, we are pleased with the momentum
we have created for Lubrizot and excited about the
opportunities bhefore us. While we understand the
challenges our industry faces, we know that our technical
expertise, global reach and financial strength put us in a
unigue position to demonstrate our market leadership to
customers, employees and shareholders. We appreciate
the confidence you have shown in us through your
investment. My 4,900 colleagues and | are committed to
working every day to earn your continued trust.

Sincerely,

y oy

James L. Hambrick
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
February 28, 2008

86 SUPERIOR MARKET UNDERSTANDING

and products, coupled with a dedication to helping customers

succeed, proved to be a winning combination for Lubrizol in 2007. 99
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Developing new technolegy has long been at the core of any specialty chemicals company’s growth
strategy. But a narrow focus on technology alone is no longer a viable option in today’s global market.hhe
companies that will succeed over the long term will be those that can provide value-creating, performance-
enhancing solutions tailored to the specific demands of customers. At Lubrizol, we believe one of our greatest
strengths is our proven ability to deliver solutions that enable our customers to exceed the complexiland
urgent needs of their customers.
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. ENVIRONMENTAL NEEDS DRIVE TECHNOLOGY

Demands for improved operating efficiency and
reduced environmental impact in vehicles and equipment
play to Lubrizol's strengths in formulation and application
development. These same strengths will serve us well
as we develop comparable solutions for the coatings,
consumer specialties and plastics markets. From improving
fuel econorny to maintaining the quality of drinking water,
every day Lubrizol is working to deliver technology-

leading solutions that benefit our customers and our world.

2007 ANNUAL REPORT i 5
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A worldwide partner

As customers increasingly take a singular, global

view of their businesses, they demand partners who

can provide consistently strong products and services

anywhere in the world at any time. To address this rapidly

changing view of the marketplace, we are strategically

deploying our physical and human resources around the
globe, while investing to ensure that our systems are net-

worked to facilitate quick and consistent customer response.

oo

a]s]

GLOBAL DEMOGRAPHICS DRIVE GROWTH

Around the world, an emerging middle class is starting to enjoy an enhanced standard of living that
is fueling increased demand for a wide range of products - from health and beauty products to new vehicles to
sports equipment. With this enhanced standard of living also comes a longer lite expectancy, which is creating the
need for equally enhanced medical care. With a broad product line that includes Carbopol®polymer technology for
hair care products, Estane® thermoplastic polyurethanes for active wear, Thermedic® polymer lines for medical

devices and much more, Lubrizol is helping customers meet this increased demand from Memphis to Mumbai.
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LUBRIZOL 1S WELL-POSITIONED IN A

@YNAMH@ PERIOD

F INDUSTRY CHANGE

We have evolved beyond the lubricant additive market to

become a leader in the global specialty chemicals industry.
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Only the fittest will thrive.

In this period of significant integration and rationalization, only the strongest specialty chemicals
companies - those with leading market positions, financial strength and a proven glebal business strategy - will
prosper. Lubrizol is among the fittest, with a strong cash position and cash flow generation to fund future growth;
access to large, profitable addressable markets; leading market positions in both consumer and industrial

markets around the world; and a deep management tearn executing a proven growth strategy.

PEOPLE DRIVE OUR ENTERPRISE

a]s]
2 ]s]

The world may be changing rapidly, but one
constant remains. Lubrizol's continued success dep:gnds
on capable, skilled and motivated people. As a leader |n the
specialty chemicals marketplace, we are fortunate to recruit
and retain some of the brightest minds in the industry. This
competitive advantage atlows us to aggressively pursue

our growth goals as a united and driven organization.
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FINANCIAL

RESULTS
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OUR PERFORMANCE
REFLECTS THE
ONGOING SUCCESSIFUL
TRANSFORMATION

OF LUBRIZOL AND
THE UNDERLYING
STRENGTH, DIVERSITY
AND RESILIENCY OF
OUR BUSINESSES.




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSIORN AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THIS MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDI-
TION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION
WITH THE CONSOLIOATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, THE NOTES THERETO
AND THE HISTORICAL SUMMARY APPEARING ELSEWHERE IN THIS ANNUAL
REPORT. HISTORICAL RESULTS AND PERCENTAGE RELATIONSHIPS SET
FORTH EN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDING
TRENDS THAT MIGHT APPEAR, SHOULD NOT BE TAKEN AS INDICATIVE OF
FUTURE OPERATIONS. THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION CONTAINS FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS THAT INVOLVE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES. OUR
ACTUAL RESULTS MAY DIFFER MATERJALLY FROM THOSE DISCUSSED IN
SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AS A RESULT OF VARIOUS FAC-
TORS, INCLUDING THOSE DESCRIBED UNDER THE SECTION "CAUTIONARY
STATEMENTS FOR SAFE HARBOR PURPOSES™ INCLUDED ELSEWHERE IN
THIS ANNUAL REPORT.

OVERVYIEW

General We are an innovative specialty chemical company that
produces and supplies technologies that improve the quality and
perfermance of our customers’ products in the global transporta-
tion, industrial and consumer markets. Our business is founded on
technological leadership. Innovation provides opportunities for us in
growth markets as well as advantages over our competitors. From
a base of more than 1,600 patents, we use our product development
and formulation expertise to sustain our leading market positions
and fuel our future growth. We create additives, ingredients, resins
and compounds that enhance the performance, quality and value
of our customers’ products, while minimizing their environmental
impact. Our products are used in a broad range of apptications, and
are sold into relatively stable markets such as those for engine oils,
specialty driveline lubricants and metalworking fluids, as well as
higher-growth markets such as personal care and over-the-counter
pharmaceutical products and performance coatings and inks. Our
engineered polymers products also are used in a variety of indus-
tries, including construction, sporting goods, medical products and
automotive. We are an industry leader in many of the markets in
which our product lines compete.

We are geographically diverse, with an extensive glebal
manufacturing, supply chain, technical and commercial infra-
structure. We operate facilities in 27 countries, including production
facilities in 19 countries and laboratories in 12 countries, in key
regions around the world through the efforts of more than 6,900
employees. We sell our products in more than 100 countries and
believe that our customers vatue our abitity to provide customized,
high quality, cost-effective performance formulations and solutions
worldwide. We also believe that our customers value our global sup-
ply chain capabilities.

On November 1, 2007, we completed the acquisition of the
refrigeration lubricants business of Croda International Plc [Croda)
for approximately $124.6 million in cash. The acquisition primarily
included lubricant technology, trade names, customer lists, manu-
facturing know-how and inventory. No manufacturing facilities were
included in the transaction. We began consolidating the results of the
refrigeration lubricants business of Croda in our consolidated finan-

cial statements in November 2007. Revenues in 2007 for this busi-
ness, which were included in the company’s consolidated results,
were approximately $8.3 million. The preliminary purchase price
altocation for this acquisition included goodwill of $53.3 millien and
intangible assets of $64.7 miltion.

On February 7, 2007, we completed the acquisition of a
broad line of additive products used in the metalworking markets
worldwide frem Lockhart Chemicat Company [Lockhart) for approxi-
mately $15.7 million in cash. We purchased Lockhart's entire metal-
working product tine, which included natural, synthetic and gelled
sulfonates; emulsifier packages; corrosion inhibitors and lubricity
agents; grease additives; oxidates; esters; soap; semi-finished coat-
ings; and rust preventatives. We began conselidating the results of
the metalworking business of Lockhart in our consolidated financial
statements in February 2007. In 2007, these product lines contrib-
uted revenues of $146.8 million to our consolidated results. The pur-
chase price allocation for this acquisition included goodwill of $8.3
million and intangible assets of $7.6 million,

In May 2006, we sold the food ingredients and industrial
specialties business [FIIS) and the active pharmaceutical ingredi-
ents and intermediate compounds business [A&l), both of which
were included in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment. A&! and
almost all of the FIIS divestiture reported into the Noveon® consumer
specialties product line, while a small portion of the FIIS divestiture
reported into the performance coatings product line. In 2004, we
recorded a $15.9 million after-tax loss on the sale of these divested
businesses. During the first quarter of 2006 and in connection with
the held-for-sale classification, we performed an impairment test
resulting in a $80.6 million after-tax impairment charge in the first
quarter of 2006. We have reflected the results of these divested busi-
nesses in the discontinued operations - net of tax line item in the
consolidated statements of income for 2006 and 2005.

in February 2006, we sold certain assets and liabilities
of our Telene® resins business (Telene), which was included in the
Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment. We have reflected the results
of Telene in the discontinued operations - net of tax line item in the
consolidated statements of income for 2006 and 2005, including an
after-tax loss on the sale of $0.7 million recorded in 2006.

In December 2005, we sold certain assets, liabilities and
stack of our Engine Control Systems |ECS] business and, in Septem-
ber 2005, we sold certain assets and liabilities of our U.S. and U.K.
Lubrizol Performance Systems {LPS] operations, both of which were
included in the Lubrizol Additives segment. We have reflected the
results of these businesses in the discontinued operations - net of
tax line item in the consolidated statement of income for 2005.

Lubrizot Additives Segment Challenging industry market forces
and conditions continue to influence the Lubrizol Additives business.
A key factor is the low global growth rate for this market, which we
believe is in the range of approximately 0% to 1% per year. Additional
characteristics of this market are:

o Consolidation of the additive industry and capacity reductions in
recent years, which has tightened the supply of lubricant additive
components and packages.

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION 8 n



MARAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS continuep

o Frequent product specification changes primarily driven by origi-
nat equipment manufacturers (QEMs] and the impact of environ-
mental and fuel economy regulations on the OEMs. The specifica-
tion changes require us to incur product development and testing
costs, but also enable us to apply our technology know-how to
create products and solve problems. We believe our technology,
and our expertise in applying it, are key strengths.

o Improved engine design, which can result in longer lubricant
drain intervals. Longer drain intervals reduce demand for finished
lubricants.

o New vehicle production levels, which affect our driveline fluids in
particular because the initial factory fill is an important market
factor in that product line.

o In recent years, a general tightening of supplies leading to signifi-
cant increases in raw material and energy costs.

We believe we are the market leader in lubricant additives
and intend to remain the leader by continuing to invest in this busi-
ness. Our strategy is to continue to optimize our product line mix with
existing production capacity. Our Lubrizol Additives segment repre-
sents approximately 66% of consolidated revenues.

Lubrizol Advanced Materials Segment Our Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segment’s growth strategy involves a combination of
internal growth and acquisitions. Our internal growth strategy in
the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment is to use our strengths,
including our technology. formulating skills and bread geographic
infrastructure, to develop and invest in new performance technolo-
gies in higher-growth industrial and consumer markets. Key fac-
tors to our success continue to be the introduction of new products,
development of new applications for existing products, cross-selling
of products, the integration of future acquisitions and geographic
expansion. Our Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment represents
approximately 34% of consolidated revenues.

Primary Factors Affecting 2007 Results From Continuing
Operations The factors that most affected our consolidated 2007
results from continuing operations were:

v Our ability to recover past raw material cost increases, increased
operating costs in strategic gecgraphic regions and research and
development efforts now and into the future as we move new tech-
nologies into our global manufacturing plants. Raw material costs
increased 7% in 2007 after increasing 14% in 2006. Our results
were affected by how quickly and the extent to which we were
able to raise selling prices in response to raw material and other
cost increases. Both the Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segments implemented price increases in 2007 in
response to continuing increases in these costs.

o Volume increases of 4% in the Lubrizol Additives segment and 2%
in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment. In addition, we expe-
rienced a favorable currency impact on gur 2007 revenues of 3% in
the Lubrizol Additives segment and 2% in the Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segment.

12 g THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

o Increased operating costs due to an unfavorable currency impact,
general salary and benefit cost increases, the funding of growth
resources, increased environmental-related charges. higher
maintenance materials and contract labor costs in the Lubrizol
Additives segment primarily in our plants in the U.S. Gulf Coast
and Europe, unfavorable manufacturing cost absorption, costs
associated with the implementation of @ common infermation
systems platform primarily in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
segment and higher incentive compensation expense.

o A reduction in restructuring and impairment-related charges of
$50.4 million as 2006 charges included a $41.2 million charge asso-
ciated with the impairment of the Noveon trade name and a $10.7
million charge related to plant and product tine closures in both
the Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizol Advanced Materials segments.

o Reduced interest expense - net of $15.5 million as a result of
tower interest expense of $7.9 million associated with reduced
debt levels and higher interest income of $7.6 million associated
with higher cash and short-term investment balances primarily
related to our significant cash flows from operating activities and
the cash proceeds from the 2006 divestitures.

o Reduced effective tax rate primarily due to the favorable resolution
of tax matters from prior years, an improvement in our geographic
earnings mix as a result of our strong international growth and an
increase in non-taxable foreign currency translation gains associ-
ated with international subsidiaries, whose functional currency is
the U.S. dollar.

2007 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS COMPARED WITH 2006

Income from continuing operations increased $103.6 million to
$283.4 miilion in 2007 compared with $179.8 million in 2006. The
increase in income from continuing operations primarily was due to
improvements in the combination of price and product mix mainly in
the Lubrizol Additives segment as we were abte to recover lost mar-
gin attributable to past raw material cost increases and we continued
to increase the value of our customer offerings in this segment. Our
2007 results also were impacted favorably by increased volume,
lower net interest costs, lower restructuring and impairment-related
charges and the favorable resolution of tax matters from prior years,
which more than offset higher raw material cost, higher manufactur-
ing expenses and increased selling, technology, administrative and
research {STAR) expenses.

Net income for 2004 included a loss from discontinued
operations - net of $74.2 million, which primarily related to a $60.6
million after-tax impairment charge recorded in the first quarter of
2006 to reflect the FIIS business at its fair value and a $16.6 millien
after-tax loss on the sale of divested businesses.




fin Millions of Dollars Year Ended December 31

Excepl Per Share Datal 2007 2006 $Change % Change
Revenues ......ooevvveeennns. G | $4,040.8  $458.2 1%
Costofsales................ gai37en) 3,045.2 3329 1%
Grossprofit .................. 1% 20%5) 995.6 1253 13%
Selling and administrative
EXPENSES ... ...\ venriues (42282 381.7 40.5 1%
Research, testing and
development expenses .. ... 21839 205.5 13.4 %
Amortization of
intangible assets .......... j24%3] 237 0.6 3%
Restructuring and
impairment charges ....... j1t6} 51.9 (50.4] .
Other income -net...._...,... (928} i8.51 0.3] 4%
Interest income ... .......... 280)] (20.4] 17.6] 7%
Interest expense ..._........ 5] 99.7 (7.9 (8%)
Income from continuing opera-
tions before incorne taxes .. .. 39970] 262.0 137.0 52%
Provision for incame taxes . . .. 1,1 576 82.2 334 41%
Income froem continuing
operations. ................. 28312 179.8 103.6 58%
Income [loss) from discon-
tinued operations - net of tax = (76.2) 76.2 *
Netincome................... O FERA | $ 1036 31798 174%
)
Basic earnings [loss) per share:

Continuing operations . . ...... 8 a|($ 282 $ 148  56%
Discontinued operations. ... .. e .11 11 *
Net income per share, basic .... |8 &I|($ 15 $ 25 172%

Diluted earnings llossl per share:
Continuing operations. ... ... B A% 25 $ 146 56%
Discentinued operations. . ... .. = (1.10} 1.10 *
Netincome per share, diluted... | GB|$ 149 $ 256 172%

* Calgulation nol meaningful

Revenues The increase in revenues in 2007 compared with 2006
primarily was due to a 5% improvement in the combination of price
and product mix, a 4% increase in volume and a 2% favorable cur-
rency impact. We experienced volume gains in all geographic zones
except North America.

Analysis of Voelume - 2007 vs. 2006 Volume patterns vary in different
geographic zones. The foltowing table shows the geographic break-
down of our volume in 2007 as well as the percentage changes com-
pared with 2006:

2007
Yolume % Change
NorthAmerica............ . .o ivreauinan o -
BUFOPE. . vttt ettt ee et 26223 5%
Asia-Pacific /Middle East ................... 218} %
Latin America. . ....oovv e i aiens _ % 24%
TOML oot e §L00A) £%
[———]

Segment volume variances by geographic zone, as well as the factors
explaining the changes in segment revenues for 2007 compared with
2006, are contained within the "Segment Analysis” section.

Cost of Sales The increase in cost of sales for 2007 compared with
2006 primarily was due to higher raw material costs, higher manu-
facturing expenses and increased volumes. Average raw material
cost increased 7% in 2007 compared with 2006. Total manufacturing
expenses increased 12% in 2007 compared with 2006 primarily due
to an unfavorable currency impact, increased volumes, increased
salaries and benefits, higher maintenance materials and contract
labor costs in the Lubrizol Additives segment mostly attributable to
our plants in the U.S. Gulf Coast and Europe, increased envirenmen-
tal-related charges and unfavorable manufacturing cost absorption
as we lowered first quarter 2007 production to reduce inventory levels
from the prior year end. The increase in manufacturing expenses
partially was offset by a decrease in utility costs. On a per-unit-sold
basis, manufacturing costs increased 7% in 2007 compared with
2006. Excluding the impact of currency, per-unit manufacturing costs
increased 4% in 2007 compared with 2006.

Gross Profit Gross profit increased $125.3 million, or 13%, in 2007
compared with 2006. The increase primarily was due to an improve-
ment in the combination of price and product mix and higher volume
partially offset by higher average raw material cost and higher manu-
facturing expenses. Our gross profit percentage increased to 24.9%
in 2007 compared with 24.6% in 200&. This increase was attributable
to an increase in the Lubrizol Additives segment gross profit per-
centage largely due to the favorable impact of price and product mix
and increased volume, partially offset by a decrease in the Lubrizol
Advanced Materials segment gross profit percentage primarily as a
resutt of higher raw material costs.

Selting and Administrative Expenses Selling and administra-
tive expenses increased $40.5 million, or 11%, in 2007 compared
with 2006. The increase primarily reflects higher salaries and ben-
efits as a result of annual merit increases and the funding of growth
resources, an unfavorable currency impact and an increase asso-
ciated with the implementation of a commoen information systems
platform primarily in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment. In
addition, 2006 expenses included a $2.9 million pension settlement
charge related to a non-qualified pension plan distribution.

Research, Testing and Development Expenses The timing and
amount of research, testing and development expenses (technology
expenses] are affected by lubricant additives product standards, which
change periodically to meet new emissions, efficiency, durability and
other performance factors as QEMs improve engine and transmis-
sion designs. Technology expenses increased $13.4 million, or 7%, in
2007 compared with 2006 primarily due to an unfavorable currency
impact and an increase in annual salaries and benefits. During 2007
and 2006, approximatety 88% of our technology costs were incurred
in company-owned facilities and approximately 12% were incurred at
third-party facilities.

Restructuring and Impairment Charges In 2007, we recorded
aggregate restructuring and impairment charges of $1.5 million
primarily related to impairment charges in the Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segment, partially offset by a gain recorded on the sale of
a Lubrizol Additives manufacturing facility tocated in Bromborough,
United Kingdom. We received net cash proceeds of $5.9 miltion and
recorded a pretax gain of $2.8 million upon closing of the sale in
January 2007.
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The components of the 2007 restructuring and impairment
charges are detailed as follows:

Other
Asset Plant Exit
fln Millions of Dollars! Impairments Costs  Severance Total
Lubrizol Advanced Materials
plant ctosures, production
line impairments and
workforce reductions ....... fan ma [$0'5) B84an
Bromberough, UK. ptant
closureandsale............ (218}] 09 o
Carporate/other
workforce reductions ....... _° _ = @0 @9
Total restructuring and
impairment charges ... ... .. % [60%3] 1$0768 848
| e | em— [ e—

Other Income - Net Other income - net of $8.8 million in 2007
primarily consisted of a $5.0 million gain recorded on the sale of land
and a favorable currency impact. Other incame - net of $8.5 mitlion
in 2006 primarily was comprised of favorable legal settlements of
insurance and commercial matters of $11.6 million.

Interest Expense - Net The decrease in interest expense - net in
2007 compared with 2006 primarily was due to lower interest expense
of $7.2 million associated with our reduced debt balances and an
increase in interest income of $7.& million as a result of our increased
cash and short-term investment balances primarily related to our
significant cash flows from operating activities and from the divesti-
ture proceeds received in May 2006.

Provision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rate was 29.0% in
2007 compared with 31.4% in 2006. The decrease in the effective tax
rate primarily was due to the favorable resolution of tax matters from
prior years, an improvement in our geographic earnings mix as a
result of our strong international growth and an increase in non-tax-
able foreign currency translation gains associated with international
subsidiaries, whose functional currency is the U.5, dollar,

Income from Continuing Operations Primarily as a result
of the above factors, income from continuing cperations per diluted
share increased 56% to $4.05 in 2007 compared with $2.59 in 2006,

Net Income Net income in 2004 included a loss from discontinued
operations per diluted share of $1.10, which consisted of operating
income of $0.01 per diluted share, excluding an $0.87 per diluted
share non-cash impairment charge and a $0.24 per diluted share
loss on the sale of divested businesses.

2006 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS COMPARED WITH 2005

Incorne from continuing operations increased $20.4 miltion to $179.8
million for 2006 compared with $159.4 million for 2005. The increase
in earnings from centinuing operations primarily was attributable to
improvements in the combination of price and product mix, higher
volume and reduced interest expense - net, which more than offset
higher raw material and utility costs, higher restructuring and impair-
ment charges and higher STAR expenses.
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We recorded restructuring and impairment charges that
reduced income from continuing operations by $0.47 per diluted
share in 2006, which primarily related to a pretax impairment charge
associated with the Noveon trade name and the phase-out of a
manufacturing facility located in Bromborough, United Kingdom. We
incurred restructuring and impairment charges of $0.15 per diluted
share in 2005, which primarily related to the phase-out of manufac-
turing facilities located in Broemborough, United Kingdom; Linden,
New Jersey; and Mountaintop, Pennsylvania, as well as other work-
force reductions.

Net income for 2006 included the factors described above
for income from continuing operations and the impact of discon-
tinued operations. Loss from discontinued operations - net was
$76.2 million in 2006 compared with income from discontinued oper-
ations - net of $27.8 million in 2005. The loss from discontinued
operations - net in 2006 primarily related to a $560.6 million after-tax
impairment charge recorded in the first quarter of 2006 to reflect the
FIIS business at its fair value and a $16.6 million after-tax loss on the
sale of divested businesses.

- Year Ended December 11
{In Miltions of Dollars
Excepl Per Share Datal 20048 2005 $Change % Change
Revenues ................00e $4,040.8  $3,622.2 %4184 12%
Costofsales................ 3,045.2 2,700.1 345.1 13%
Grossprofit .................. 995.4 922.1 735 8%
Selling and administrative
eXPENSES . .. ... 381.7 348.4 333 10%
Research, testing and
development expenses ... .. 205.5 198.9 X I%
Amaortization of
intangible assets .......... 237 235 0.2 1%
Restructuring and
impairment charges ....... 519 15.9 34.0 *
Other income -net .......... 8.5 11.8] 16,7 *
interestincome ............. 20.4) (8.1 [12.3) *
Interest expense ............ 99.7 105.1 15.4) [5%]
Income from continuing
operations befare income taxes 2620 240.2 21.8 9%
Provision for income taxes . . . . B2.2 80.8 1.4 2%
Income from continuing
operations,................. 179.8 159.4 204 13%
[Lossl incorme fram discon-
tinued operations - net of tax 176.21 278 [104.00 *
Netincome................... $ 10346 ¢ 1872 $(83.4) [45%]
Basic earnings [lass] per share:

Continuing operations........ $ 262 % 235 % 027 1%
Discontinued operations. .. ... 1.11] .41 (1.52) .
Netincome per share, basic .... % 151 % 278 $ [1.25) (45%l

Diluted earnings [toss) per share:
Continuing operations........ $ 259 $ 232 % 07 12%
Discontinued aperations.... ... 1.10] 0.40 (1.50 .
Netincome per share, diluted... $ 149 $ 272 $ [1.23) {45%)

* Calculation not meaningful
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Revenues The increase in revenues in 2006 compared with 2005
primarily was due to an 11% imprevement in the combination of price
and product mix and a 1% increase in volume. We experienced vol-
ume gains in Asia-Pacific / Middle East and Latin America.

Analysis of Volume - 2004 vs. 2005 Volume patterns vary in dif-
ferent geographic zones. The following table shows the geographic
break-down of aur volume in 2006 as well as the percentage changes
compared with 2005:

20046
Volume % Change
NorthAmerica............cooiiiii e, 48% -
EUEOPE oo e e e e e 26% 1%}
Asia-Pacific /Middle East ................... 21% 6%
LatinAmerica ...........coiiiiiiiiieia _ 9% 1%
Total ... 100% 1%

Segment volume variances by gecgraphic zone, as well as the factors
explaining the changes in segment revenues for 2006 compared with
2005, are contained within the "Segment Analysis” section,

Cost of Sates The increase in cost of sales for 2006 compared
with 2005 primarily was due to higher average raw material cost
and higher manufacturing expenses. Average raw material cost
increased 14% in 2006 compared with 2005 primarily due to higher
petrochemical raw material cost. Total manufacturing expenses
increased 4% in 2006 compared with 2005, primarily due to higher
salaries and benefits, higher utility costs and increased volume. On a
per-unit-sold basis, manufacturing costs increased 2% in 2006 com-
pared with 2005,

Grass Profit Gross profit increased $72.5 million, or 8%, in 2006
cornpared with 2005. The increase primarily was due to an improve-
ment in the combination of price and product mix and higher volume
partially offset by higher average raw material cost. In addition, gross
profit was impacted unfavorably by higher salaries and benefits, an
increase in utility costs and an unfavorable currency impact in 2006
when compared with 2005. Although we were successful in raising
selling prices to offset higher cost of sales, our 2006 gross profit
percentage decreased to 24.6% compared with 25.5% in 2005 due to
the increase in net sales from our pricing responses to escalating
raw material costs.

Selling and Administrative Expenses Selling and adminis-
trative expenses increased $33.3 million, or 10%, in 2006 compared
with 2005. The increase primarily reflects an increase in salaries and
benefits including the addition of growth resources, an increase of
$4.5 million associated with a newly commenced project to imple-
ment a commen information systems platfoerm primarily in the
Lubrizol Advanced Materiats segment, the unfavorable impact of
variable accounting for some of our liability-based incentive plans, a
$2.9 million pension settlement charge for a non-qualified pension
plan distribution and incremental stock-based compensation
expense of $2.4 million associated with the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) Ne, 123R.

Research, Testing and Development Expenses The timing and
amount of research, testing and development expenses are affected
by lubricant additives product standards, which change periodically
to meet new emissions, efficiency, durability and other performance
factors as OEMs improve engine and transmission designs. Tech-
nology expenses increased $6.6 million, or 3%, in 2006 compared
with 2005 primarily due to increases in annual salaries and benefits.
During 2006 and 2005, approximately 87% of our technology costs
were incurred in company-owned facilities and approximately 13%
were incurred at third-party facilities.

Restructuring and Impairment Charges In 2006, we recorded
aggregate restructuring and impairment charges of $51.9 million, or
$0.47 per diluted share, primarily related to the write-down of a trade
name in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segrment and the phase-out
of a manufacturing facility in the Lubrizol Additives segment.

The compenents of the 2006 restructuring and impairment
charges are detailed as follows:

Other
Asset Plant Exit

{in Mittions of Dollars] Impairments Costs  Severance TYotal

Noveon trade name

impairmen? ............... $41.2 $ - $ - $41.2
Bromborough, U.K.

plantclosure .............. - 48 1.9 &7
Lubrizel Advanced

Materials plant and line
closures and workforce
reductions ...........0000.. 33 0.2 0.6 4.1

Other.........ooovviiviennns - - [0.1)

Total restructuring and
impairment charges ........ $44.5 $5.0 $24 $51.9

As part of our corporate goal to enhance our “"one com-
pany” identity and to refiect more accurately our positioning in the
marketplace, we completed a corporate identity review in the fourth
quarter of 2006. We made a final determination in January 2007 that
the trade name "Noveon” no longer would be used to describe the
Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment of our company and that its
use would be discontinued except in connection with our consumer
specialties product line. We acquired the rights to the Noveon trade
name in June 2004 when we acquired Noveon International, inc.
[Noveon Internationall. At the time of acquisition, an appraised value
was attached to the Noveon trade name. We calculated a pretax
charge of $41.2 million [$25.4 million after tax] to reduce the related
assel to its estimated fair value. This charge was reflected in the
fourth quarter of 2006 as we believed at that time we would more
likely than not discontinue the use of the Noveon trade name, except
in the limited context of our consumer specialties product line.
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In September 2006, we entered into an agreement to sell
the manufacturing facility located in Bromborough, United Kingdom.
The sale closed in January 2007. In connection with the sale, we
received net cash proceeds of $5.9 million and recorded a pretax gain
of $2.8 million during the first quarter of 2007, The gain was classi-
fied as a reduction to restructuring charges associated with closure
of the facility. Production from the Bromborough facility was trans-
ferred to higher-capacity Lubrizol facilities in France and the United
States. The sale of the facility avoided approximately $3.0 mitlion to
$5.0 million in restructuring costs that would have been associated
with demolition of the plant facilities on the site. On January 17, 2005,
we announced our plans to phase-out production at the Brombor-
ough facility by the end of 2006. At that time, we estimated that total
restructuring costs, including employee severance and other plant
closure costs [including planned demolition costs), would be approx-
imately $15.0 million. Cumulative pretax charges of approximately
$12.8 million were incurred through 2006, of which $6.7 million were
incurred in 2006, to satisfy severance and retention obligations, plant
dismantling, site restoration and other site environmental evaluation
costs. We invested approximately $15.3 million in capital related to
the Bromborough ctosure through December 31, 2004 for capacity
upgrades in France and the United States,

In the first quarter of 2005, we decided to close two Lubrizol
Advanced Materials performance coatings production facilities in the
United States. One facility, located in Mountaintop, Pennsylvania, was
closed in October 2005 and sold in January 2004. We recorded an
additional $0.8 million in asset impairments and other exit costs and
$0.6 million in severance obligations in 2004 relating to the other
facility located in Linden, New Jersey, which was closed in the third
quarter of 2004. Additional asset impairment charges of $2.7 million
were recorded in 2006, which primarily related to the planned closure
of a perfarmance coatings preduction line in the first quarter of 2007

Other Income - Met The increase in other income - net for 2006
compared with 2005 primarily was due to the favorable legal settle-
ments of insurance and commercial matters of $11.6 million and
an increase in the net gain on the sale of property of $1.3 million,
partially offset by an increase in currency transaction losses of
$2.4 mitlion and an increase in the elimination of minority interest of
$2.4 million due to higher profitability of our joint ventures,

Interest Expense - Net The decrease in interest expense - net for
2006 compared with 2005 primarily was due to an increase in interest
income of $12.3 million as a result of our increased cash and short-
“term investments from the divestiture proceeds and a decrease in
interest expense of $5.4 million due to a reduction in our leng-term
debt balances.
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Pravision for Income Taxes Our effective tax rate was 31.4%
in 2006 compared with 33.6% in 2005. The decrease in the effective
tax rate primarily was due to the favorable provision impacts of
foreign operations,

Income from Continuing Operations Primarily as a result of the
above factors, income from continuing operations per diluted share
was $2.59 in 2006 compared with $2.32 in 2005.

Net Income Net income included a loss from discontinued opera-
tions per diluted share of $1.10 in 2004 compared with incorne from
discontinued aperations per diluted share of $0.40 in 2005. The loss
from discontinued operations per diluted share of $1.10 in 2004 con-
sisted of operating income of $0.01 per diluted share, excluding an
$0.87 per diluted share impairment charge and & $0.24 per diluted
share loss on the sale of divested businesses.

SEGMENT ANALYSIS

We primarily evaluate performance and allocate resources based
on segment operating income, defined as revenues less expenses
identifiable to the product lines included within each segment, as
well as projected future returns. Segment operating income will
reconcile to consolidated income from continuing operations before
income taxes by deducting corporate expenses and corporate other
income (expense) that are not attributable to the operating segments,
restructuring and impairment charges and net interest expense.

The proportion of consolidated revenues and segment
operating income attributed to each segment was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
REVENUES:
Lubrizol Additives ................. [65%) 64% 63%
Lubrizol Advanced Materials . ....... 34,5 36% 37%
SEGMENT OPERATING INCOME:
Lubrizol Additives ................. £735%) 64% 4%
Lubrizol Advanced Materials ........ 275 36% 6%




OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT

_
N

2007 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2005
fin Millions of Dollars] 2007 2008 2005 $ élEr;ge ’ ﬁ_cfn_a;;a $ Chan;e fél‘ﬁnge
REYENUES:

Lubrizol AGItVES ..\ eee e ee oo eeae e 152196181 $2,600.5 $2,280.0 $34075) 114 $3205 14%

Lubrizol Advanced Materials ................coooeeiuan. 11537:5) 1,440.3 1.342.2 5L 7% _ 98 7%
TR .o g}am@ $4,040.8 $3,4222 @ WD $418.6 12%

GROSS PROFIT:

Lubrizol ADBIIVES . .. .. uuvtreentisnsrara s oeeieeanns S I70417 581.2 $ 5310 15.32315] 214 $ 502 9%

Lubrizol Advanced Materials .. .....o.ovvivrrvrernroennn =(_5:_[}§ 4144 2911 i@ o _ 233 %
£ 01T D 151812075} 995.6 $ #22.1 $1258] \13%3 $ 735 8%

SEGMENT OPERATING INCOME:

Lubrizol AddItiVes . . ... ...t e e B e 303.0 $ 2633 8 292 $ 39.7 15%

Lubrizo! Advanced Materials ........................... R .1E] 167.6 150.9 12561 (15 167 11%
01T T U 97&}3?3 4706 $ 4142 Q_@ 41:3%) $ 564 14%

LUBRIZOL ADDITIVES SEGMERT
2007 COMPARED WITH 2006

Revenues Revenues increased 14% in 2007 when compared with
2006. The increase was due to a 7% improvement in the combination
of price and product mix, a 4% increase in volume and a 3% favorable
currency impact. This increase includes the impact of acquisitions,
which contributed 1% to the volume increase in 2007,

Yolume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The
foltowing table shows the geographic break-down of our volume in
2007 as well as the percentage changes compared with 200é:

2007
Yolume % Change
North AMerica......oovvevrvienrieniaeanns a9 -
EUMOPE ottt e e e e eriae i eeeeen 131%) 6%
Asia-Pacific /MiddleEast . ................... 255 4%
Latin America . ........oiiiiiiiiaiaiianns {704 24%
Tobal ..o e WD 4%
[——]

Volume in 2007 established a record primarily due to busi-
ness gains in Europe, Asia-Pacific /Middle East and Latin America.
North America volumes were level when compared with 2006 as our
decision to exit tow margin fuel additive business was offset by stren-
ger custormer demand in other product areas.

Gross Profit Gross profit increased $123.5 million, or 21%, in 2007
compared with 2006 as we continued to recover margin lost in prior
periods. The Lubrizol Additives segment implemented a series of
price increases in 2005 and 2004 in response to continued raw mate-
rial and manufacturing cost increases. The effective dates of the
selling price increases varied by geographic sales zone. Gross profit
improved primarily due to the combination of price and product mix,
increased volume and a favorable currency impact, partially offset
by a 6% increase in average material cost in 2007 as compared with
2006. Manufacturing costs on a per-unit-sold basis increased 9%

in 2007 compared with 2006 primarily due to higher manufactur-
ing costs for maintenance materials and contract labor costs mostly
attributable to our plants in the U.S. Gulf Coast and Europe, an unfa-
vorable currency impact and higher environmental-related charges.
These cost increases partially were offset by lower utility costs. In
addition, we experienced unfavorable manufacturing cost absorption
as we lowered first quarter production to reduce inventary levels
from the prior year end.

The gross profil percentage increased te 23.8% in 2007
compared with 22.3% in 2004. The increase in gross profit percent-
age primarily related to the improvements in the combination of price
and product mix, increased volume and a favorable currency impact.

Selling, Technicat, Administrative and Research Expenses
STAR expenses increased 10% in 2007 compared with 2004, Sell-
ing and administrative costs increased $22.0 million primarily from
an unfavorable currency impact and increased incentive compensa-
tion expense. In addition, technical expenses increased $6.6 million
primarily due to higher fuel and test part costs and an unfavorable
currency impact.

Other Income - Ret Other income in 2007 inctuded a $5.0 million
gain on the sale of land recorded in the first quarter of 2007, while
other income in 2004 was impacted favorably by $10.4 million due to
legal setttements of insurance and commercial matters as well as a
$1.5 million gain on the sale of certain properties.

Segment Operating Income Segment operating income increased
29% in 2007 compared with 2006 due to the factors discussed above,

2004 COMPARED WITH 2005

Revenues Revenues increased 14% in 2006 when compared with
2005. The increase primarily was due to an improvement in the com-
bination of price and product mix, while a slight increase in volume
was offset by a slight unfaverable impact of currency.
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Volume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The
following table shows the geographic break-down of our volume in
2004 as well as the percentage changes compared with 2005:

2006
Yolume % Change
NorthAmerica............................. 38% %
BUFOPE oo e 30% 3%
Asia-Pacific /Middle East....._..... R, 26% 2%
LatinAmerica .......... ... ... i iiean. 6% &%
Total L 100% -

Volume increased slightly in 2006 compared with 2005;
however, excluding the impact of nonrecurring, temporary business
gains in 2005, volume increased 2% in 2006 compared with 2005.

The decrease in volume in Europe was due in part to a
change in a customer sourcing from Europe to North America. The
volume growth in the Asia-Pacific /Middle East region primarily
resulted from growth in China, which represented our third largest
country in terms of volume sold despite the fact that a majority of the
2005 termporary business gains occurred in this region. The volume
growth in Latin America primarily was driven by stronger demand by
our major international customers.

Gross Profit Gross profit increased 9% in 20046 compared with 2005
as we continued to recover from margin erosion that occurred in
2005 and prior years. The Lubrizol Additives segment implemented a
series of price increases in 2006 and 2005 in response to continued
raw material and utility cost increases. The effective dates of the
selling price increases varied by geographic zone. The gross profit
increase primarily was due to an improvement in the combination of
price and product mix partially offset by a 19% increase in average
malterial cost in 2006 as compared with 2005. Manufacturing costs on
a per-unit-sold basis increased 3% in 2006 compared with 2005, The
increase was due in part to higher utility costs as well as higher
operating supplies and outside services partially offset by lower
depreciation expense, employee benefits and a reclassification of
certain expenses from manufacturing to STAR due to a change in
organizaticn structure in our European operations. In addition, man-
ufacturing costs were impacted favorably by approximately
$5.2 million in 2004 as we curtailed production activity at our Brom-
borough, U.K. plant in accordance with our previously announced
timetable to close this facility.

The gross profit percentage declined to 22.3% in 2006 com-
pared with 23.3% in 2005. The decline in gross profit percentage pri-
marily was due to continuing raw material cost increases throughout
most of 2006 outpacing the timing of price increases.

Selling, Technicai, Administrative and Research Expenses
STAR expenses increased 7% in 2006 compared with 2005, This
increase primarily was due to an increase in selling and administra-
tive expenses of $14.8 million. The higher selling and administrative
costs primarily resulted from the impact of reclassifying to STAR
certain expenses that previously were classified as manufactur-
ing resulting from a change in organization structure in our Eurc-
pean operations, increases in base and variable compensation and
a change in the timing of annual salary increases. The balance of
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the change in STAR expenses was due to an increase in technical
expenses of $3.5 million primarily associated with technical pro-
grams within our driveline and industrial oils additives packages.

Other Income - Net Other income was impacted favorably by $10.4
miltion due to legal settlements of insurance and commercial matters
as well as a $1.5 million gain on the sale of certain properties.

Segment Operating Income Segment operating income increased
15% in 2006 compared with the prior year due to the factors dis-
cussed above.

LUBRIZOL ADYANCED MATERIALS SEGMENT
2007 COMPARED WITH 2004

Revenues Revenues for the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment
increased 7% in 2007 compared with 2006. The increase was due to
a 3% improvernent in the combination of price and product mix, & 2%
increase in volume and a 2% favorable currency impact.

Volume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The
following table shows the geographic break-down of our volume in
2007 as weil as the percentage changes compared with 2004:

2007
Yolume % Change
Nerth America, . ..oo. oo &F (1%)
BUROPE .. .vvirii e e }1.7.%) 2%
Asia-Pacific /Middle East ................... 112%) 19%
Latin America ..........c.oiiiniiia . (&%) 21%
Tokal ..., 100% 2%
——

In the first quarter of 2007, we made a minor change
to improve the consistency of our reporting of shipment volumes.
Yolume in our performance coatings product line, and to a much
lesser extent, our Noveon consumer specialties product line, was
reported previously on a dry basis, or excluding the carrier fluid that
is shipped with the base performance material. We are now reporting
all product lines on an "as shipped” hasis, including carrier fluid that
is blended with the base material. This change has been reflected for
all periods presented.

Volume in North America decreased 1% in 2007 compared
with 2006 as increases in our engineered polymers and Noveon con-
sumer specialties preduct lines were more than offset by a decrease
in our performance coatings product line. The increase in cur Noveon
consumer specialties product line was due to increased customer
demand in our surfactants business and personal care applications.
Yolume in our engineered polymers product line increased due to
strang demand in fire sprinkler and industrial applications. Volume
in our performance coatings product line decreased due to reduced
custemer demand in textiles and inks applications.

Volume in Europe increased 2% in 2007 compared with
2006 as increases in our engineered polymers and Noveon consumer
specialties product lines more than offset a decrease in our perfor-
mance coatings product line. The increase in our engineered poly-
mers product line primarily was due to increased customer demand
in industrial and plumbing applications. Volume in our Moveon con-
sumer specialties product line increased due to strong demand in



/

personal care and pharmaceutical applications. Volume in our per-
formance coatings product line decreased due to reduced custormner
demand in inks applications.

Volume in Asia-Pacitic /Middle East increased 19% in 2007
compared with 2006 with increases in all of our product lines. This
increase was due to strong custemer demand in geophysical, fiber,
plumbing, industrial, paints and coatings, inks, textiles, personal
care and explosives applications.

Volume in Latin America increased 21% in 2007 compared
with 2006 with increases in all of our product lines. The volume increase
primarily was attributable to increased custemer demand in plumb-
ing, explosives, personal care and paints and coatings applications.

Gross Profit Gross profit increased $1.8 mitlion in 2007 compared

with 2006. The slight increase in segment gross profit in 2007 pri- -

marily was due to an improvement in the combination of price and
product mix and increased volume, offset by higher average raw
material cost and manufacturing expenses. Average raw material
cost increased 7% in 2007 compared with 2006. Manufacturing costs
increased primarily due to increased compensation expense, an
unfavaorable currency impact and higher volume. Manufacturing costs
on a per-unit-sold basis increased 5% in 2007 compared with 2006.

The gross profit percentage for this segment was 27.1%
in 2007 compared with 28.8% in 2006. The decrease in gross profit
percentage in 2007 was due to higher average raw material cost and
manufacturing expenses.

Selling, Technical, Administrative and Research Expenses
STAR expenses increased $25.7 million, or 11%, in 2007 compared
with 2006. The increase in STAR was due to increased headcount to
support our growth strategy, an unfavarable currency impact, higher
compensation expense and higher costs associated with the imple-
mentation of a common information systems platform.

Segment Operating Income Segment operatingincome decreased
15% in 2007 compared with 2006, The decrease in segment cperating
income primarily was due to the factors discussed above.

2006 COMPARED WITH 2005

Revenues Revenues for the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment
increased 7% in 2006 compared with 2005. The increase was due to
a 4% improvement in the combination of price and product mix and a
3% increase in volume. The improvement in the combination of price
and product mix primarily occurred in our Noveon consumer special-
ties product line.

Volume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The
following table shows the geographic break-down of our volume in
2006 as well as the percentage changes compared with 2005:

2004
Volume % Change
North America. ..o nn 69% (%]
EUrope ...t e 17% 5%
Asia-Pacific /Middle East .................,. 10% 28%
Latin America ..., A% 32%
TORAL ..o 100% 3%

Our performance coatings product line had a slight
decrease in volume in North America in 2006 compared with 2005,
which we believe primarily was due to the continued migration of
the textile industry from North America to China. Our engineered
polymers and Noveon consumer specialties product lines both had
increases in volume in North America in 2006 compared with 2005.
The increase in our engineered polymers product line was due to
increased customer demand in both our Estane® thermoplastic poly-
urethane business [Estane} and our TempRite® engineered polymers
business [TempRite). TempRite benefited from continued conver-
sions from metals to plastics. The increase in the Noveon consumer
specialties product line primarily was due to increased customer
demand in our personal care and home care businesses and tolling
sales to the buyer of our FNS business.

Our engineered polymers and performance coatings prod-
uct lines had increases in Eurepe in 2006 compared with 2005. The
increase in our performance coatings product line primarily was
due to customer demand and market share gains in the textiles
market and customer demand in the paints and coatings market.
The increase in our engineered polymers product line was due to
market-share gains in our Estane business and business gains in
our TempRite business resulting from continued conversions from
metals to plastics. Our Noveon consumer specialties product line
had a decrease in volume in Europe in 2006 compared with 2005
primarily attributable to our AMPS® specialty monomers business.
The increase in Asia-Pacific /Middle East volume fer 2006 primarily
was due to higher customer demand and market-share gains in both
our Estane business and performance coatings product line, pre-
dominately in the textiles market, and higher customer demand in
our Noveon consumer specialties product line. We also experienced
higher customer demand in the TempRite business, particularly in
the Middle East and India.

Gross Profit Gross profit increased $23.3 million, or 6%, in 2004
compared with 2005. The increase in segment gross profit in 2006
primarily was the result of higher revenues due lo the increase in
volume and improvernent in the combination of price and product
mix partially offset by higher average raw material cost and man-
ufacturing costs. Average raw material cost increased 4% in 2006
compared with 2005. Manufacturing costs primarily were higher due
to increased utility costs, the impact of reclassifying certain expenses
from STAR to manufacturing as a result of a change in organizational
structure in our European operations and higher volume.

The gross profit percentage for this segment was 28.8%
in 2006 compared with 29.1% in 2005. The decrease in gross profit
percentage in 2006 was due to higher average raw material cost
partially offset by an improvement in the combination of price and
product mix.

Selling, Technicat, Administrative and Research Expenses
STAR expenses increased $9.0 million, or 4%, in 2006 compared with
2005. The increase in STAR was due to higher salaries and incentive
compensation and increased hiring to support growth initiatives par-
tially offset by the impact of reclassifying certain expenses from STAR
to manufacturing as a result of a change in organizational structure
in our European operations and reductions in bad debt expense.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS continueo

Segment Operating Income Segment operating income increased
11% in 2004 compared with 2005. The increase in segment operating
income primarily was due to the increase in segment gross profit as
described above, partially offset by the increase in STAR expenses.

WORKING CAPITAL, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Selected Measures of Liquidity and Capitat Resources The
following table summarizes our financial performance indicators
of liquidity:

2007 2008
Cash and short-term investments
lin millions of doltarst . .............oo0iee, [$50283] $ 5757
Working capital lin mitlions of dollars} ........ $5427H $1,201.9
CurrentTatio ...ovvveeeeeetiiaeieanraans 231] 29
Debt as a % of capitalization ................. (62322 47.8%
Net debt as a % of capitalization . ............. 328, 5} 36.5%

Summary Of Cash Flows The following table summarizes the
major components of cash flows:

fin Millions of Dotlars} 2007 2006 2005
Cash provided by [used for]:

Operating activities ., ....,....... 1§, 746748 $334.8 $362.2

Investing activities . .............. (30918 151.4 [106.8

Financing activities .............. 12600} {183.9) [312.8)
Effect of exchange-rate changes

oNeEash .......cvviiiiiniia.n. i 20:C] _Ito _hen
Net [decrease] increase in cash )

and short-term investments . ..., 1$1173%)] $3133 $(73.5)

Operating Activities Cash provided by operating activities
increased $141.6 million in 2007 compared with 2006. The increase
in cash provided by operating activities primarity related te an
increase in net incorme and an improvement in working capital levels.
Specifically, we focused our efforts toward reducing inventory levels
and our accounts payable improved due to the timing of raw material
purchases and cash disbursements. In addition, the accounts payable
we retained at the closing of the FNS divestiture had an unfavorable
impact of $27.0 miltion to operating cash flows in 2006. We also
improved the timeliness of our cash collections, which partially offset
our increase in accounts receivable associated with higher revenues.

We manage our levels of inventories and accounts receiv-
able on the basis of average days sales in inventory and average days
sales in receivables. Our geal is to minimize our investment in inven-
tories while at the same time ensuring reliable supply for our cus-
tomers. Qur average days sales in inventory improved to 76.6 days for
the year ended December 31, 2007 from 80.9 days for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Our average days sales in receivables improved
to 47.2 days for the year ended December 31, 2007 from 48.7 days for
the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Investing Activities On February 7, 2007, we used $15.7 million to
acquire assets from Lockhart. On November 1, 2007, we used $124.6
million to acquire assets from Croda.

Our capital expenditures in 2007 were $182.8 million, as
compared with $130.9 million and $136.7 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Capital expenditures increased in 2007 as we increased
our production capacity in our Lubrizol Advanced Materiats product
lines in China, North America and Europe to meet growing demand
and continued our project to bring both segments onto a common
information systems platform. Capital expenditures for the Lubrizol
Additives segment primarily are made to maintain existing manufac-
turing capacity and plant infrastructure. Approximately 35% of the
capital expenditures in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment
related to increasing capacity. In 2008, we estimate annual capital
expenditures will be approximately $215.0 million to $225.0 miilion.

The sales of FIIS and A&I were completed on May 1, 2006
and May 23, 2006, respectively. In consideration for these divested
businesses, we received net cash proceeds of approximatety $254.8
million and $10.4 million, respectively. The FIIS sale resulted in a tax-
able gain, which was cffset by our net eperating loss carryforwards.
The sale of Telene was completed in February 2005 for net cash pro-
ceeds of $6.2 miltion,

Financing Activities Cash used for financing activities increased
$76.1 million in 2007 compared with 2006. Cash used for financing
activities of $260.0 million in 2007 primarily consisted of the repay-
ment of £85.0 million against our €250.0 million revolving credit agree-
ment, which repaid our euro credit facility in futl, the repurchase of
common shares and the payment of dividends, partially offset by
proceeds from the exercise of stock options. This compares to $183.9
miltion used for financing activities in 2006, which primarily consisted
of net repayments of long-term debt and the payment of dividends,
partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Capitalization And Credit Facilities At December 31, 2007, our
total debt outstanding of $1,428.8 million consisted of 72% fixed-rate
debt and 28% variable-rate debt, including $400.0 million of fixed-
rate debt that effectively has been swapped to a variable rate. Our
weighted-average interest rate at December 31, 2007 was approxi-
mately 5.6%.

QOur net debt to capitalization ratio at December 37, 2007
was 32.1%. Net debt represents total short-term and long-term debt,
excluding original issue discounts and unrealized gains and losses
an derivative instruments designated as fair-value hedges of fixed-
rate debt, reduced by cash and short-term investments. Capitaliza-
tion is calculated as shareholders’ equity plus net debt. Total debt as
a percent of capitalization was 42.2% at December 31, 2007.

Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.1
and 2.9 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decrease
in our current ratio from December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2007
primarily was related to the reclassification of $204.9 million from
long-term to short-term debt.




-

On September 20, 2006, we amended our five-year unse-
cured committed U.S. bank credit agreement to reduce the revolving
credit facility from $500.0 million to $350.0 million and extend the
maturity date to September 2011. In addition, as of September 20,
2004, our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries were released as
guarantors under the ¢redit agreement and we no longer are sub-
ject to any investment or acquisition restrictions. This credit facility
allows us to borrow at variable rates based upon the U.S. prime rate
or LIBOR plus a specified credit spread. At December 31, 2007, we
had no cutstanding borrowings under this agreement.

In addition, at December 31, 2007, two of our wholly owned
fareign subsidiaries had a €250.0 million revolving credit facility that
matures in September 2010. This credit agreement permits these
foreign subsidiaries to borrow at variable rates based on EURIBOR
plus a specified credit spread. We have guaranteed all obligations of
the borrowers under the credit agreement. On September 20, 2004,
we amended this credit agreement such that we no longer are sub-
ject to any investment or acquisition restrictions. No other terms or
conditions of the agreement were madified. At December 31, 2007,
we had no borrowings under this agreement.

The cash and short-term investments balance of $502.3
million at December 31, 2007 will be used to fund ongoing operations,
pay down debt, pursue acquisition opportunities and buy back shares.
Given the call premiurn on our long-term debt, it is unlikely that we
will reduce debt significantly before our next scheduled maturity in
late 2008. We have no debt that is prepayable without incurring a
penalty. Therefore, it is possible that we will carry excess cash until
our next scheduled maturity.

Contractual Cash Obligations The following table shows our
contractual cash obligations under debt agreements, leases, non-
cancelable purchase commitments and other long-term liabilities at
December 31, 2007:

Payments Due by Period
20093 2013

{in Mullions of Doliars/ jTotal] 2008 201 0] % [and]Afieq
Total debt!t .. ... ... GRS IS RS £ B ¢ G
Interestf@ .. ... ..... 87347} Hyy RO %ﬂﬂ
Operating leases . .. .. 58'8 18%9] 3078) 315} a3
MNan-cancelable

purchase

commitmentsl | Wi 9322 wa [519] ab
Dther long-term

liabilities 451 . . ... [C6T I3 7 5] (51 O R 2 0}
Tatal contractual

cash obligations . . .. | RO OFRS NGO OFRD AP

[1) Total debt includes bath the current and long-term portions of debt as reported in
Nete 7 to the consatidated financial statements, excluding original issue discounts
and unrealized gains on derivative instruments designated as fair-value hedges of
fixed-rate debt.

(2] Represents estimated contractual interest payments far fixed-rate debt anly. We
are not able to estimate reasonably the cash payments for interest associated with
variable-rate debt due to the significant estimation requived relating 1o both mar-
ket interesl rates as well as projected principal payments.

(3] Non-cancelable purchase commitments primarily include raw materials purchased
under take-or-pay contracts, drumming, warehousing and service contracts, utitity
purchase agreements, terminal agreements and toll processing arrangements,

(4) Other long-term liabilities disclosed in the table represent long-term liabilities
reported in our consolidated balance sheet at Decemnber 31, 2007 under “noncur-
rent liabilities,” excluding pension, postretirement, postemployrment, environ-
mental and other non-contrattual liabilities, At December 31, 2007, we had gross
unrecognized tax benefits of $59.3 million relating to uncertain 1ax positions. Que
to the high degree of uncertainty regarding the timing of future cash outflows
associated with these tax pesitions, we are unable to estimate when cash settle-
ment ray occur.

[5) We are required to make minimum contributions to our U.S. qualified defined
beneflit persion plans pursuant o the minimum funding requirements of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. Funding requirements for plans ouiside
the United States are subject to applicable local regulations, In 2008, we expect to
make employer contributions of approximately $30.5 million to the qualified plans
1o satisly these minimum statutory funding requirements. In 2008, we expect to
make payments of approximately $1.6 million relating to our unfunded pension
plans. The expected payments associated with the unfunded plans represent an
actuarial estimate of future assumed payments based upon retirement and pay-
ment patterns. Actual amounts paid could differ from this estimate. In addition,
non-pension postretirement benefil payments are expecled to approximate $5.1
millien in 2008. We have included these expected contributions of $37.2 million in
the above table. Due to uncertainties regarding signsficant assumptions invelved in
estimating future reguired contributions to our defined benefit pension and other
plans, such as interest rate levels, the amaunt and timing of asset returns and
future restruciurings, if any, we are not able to reasonably estimate our contribu-
tions beyond 2008.

In addition, at December 31, 2007, we had $35.7 million of
contingent obtigations under standby letters of credit issued in the
ordinary course of business to financial institutions, customers and
insurance companies to secure short-term support for a variety of
commercial transactions, insurance and benefit programs.

We had $1,428.8 miltion of debt outstanding at December
31, 2007 compared with $1,541.7 million outstanding at December
31, 2006. Our total debt as a percent of capitalization has decreased
from 47.8% at December 31, 2006 to 42.2% at December 31, 2007. We
believe our future operating cash flows will be sufficient to cover our
debt repayments, other contractual obligations, capital expenditures
and dividends. In addition, we have untapped borrowing capacity that
can provide us with additional financial resources. We currently have
a shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission [SEC] under which $359.8 million of debt securities,
preferred shares or common shares may be issued. In addition, at
December 31, 2007, we maintained cash and short-term investment
balances of $502.3 million and had $350.0 million available under
our U.5. revolving credit facility and €250.0 million available under
our euro revolving credit facility.

Guarantees On May 1, 2006, we sold the FIIS business to SPM Group
Holdings, LLC, now known as Emerald Performance Materials, LLC
[Emerald]. As a result of the sale, Emerald became responsible for a
supplier contract with SK Corporation [SK). We provided a guarantee
to SK, revocable by us upon 60 days’ priar written notice, for the
timely performance of Emerald’s payment obligations provided SK is
unable to collect payment from Emerald using commercially reason-
able efforts. On November 5, 2007, we terminated the guarantee,
which originally extended to January 31, 2008.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS continued

Indemnificatiens We have provided indemnifications to Emerald
with respect to the FIIS business sold to them. These indemnifications
are associated with the price and quantity of raw material purchases,
permit costs, costs incurred due to the inability to obtain permits
and environmental matters. For those indemnification agreements
where a payment by us is probable and estimable, we recorded a
liabitity at December 31, 2007. We believe that losses incurred in any
of these matters would not have a material effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in
accordance with U 5. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S.
GAAP)| requires us to make judgments, assumgptions and estimates
at a specific point in time that affect the amaunts reperted in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes.
In preparing these financial statements, we have utilized available
information including our past history, industry standards and the
current economic environment, among other factors, in forming our
estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the consoli-
dated financial staterments, giving due consideration to materiality. It
is possible that the ultimate outcome as anticipated by management
in formulating our estimates inherent in these financiat statements
may not materialize. Application of the critical accounting policies
described below involves the exercise of judgment and the use of
assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results
could differ from these estimates. In addition, other companies may
utilize different estimates, which may impact the comparability of
our results of operations to similar businesses.

Accounting for Reserves and Contingencies Our account-
ing policies for reserves and contingencies cover a wide variety of
business activities, including reserves for potentially uncollect-
ible receivables, slow-moving or obsolete inventory and legal and
environmental exposures. We accrue these reserves when our
assessments indicate that it is probable that we have incurred
a liabitity or will not recover an asset and we can reasonably esti-
mate an amount. For tax exposures, we only recognize the economic
benefit associated with a tax position if it is more likely than not that
we will ultimately sustain a tax position. After this threshold is met,
we report a tax position at the largest amount of benefit that is more
likely than not to be ultimately sustained. We review these estimates
guarterly based on currently available information. Actual results
may differ from our estimates and our estimates may be revised
depending upon the outcome or changed expectations based on the
facts surrounding each exposure. We discuss annually with the audit
committee of our board of directors our reserves and contingencies,
as well as our policies and processes for evaluating them.

Accounting for Sales Discounts and Rebates We offer sales
discounts and rebates to certain customers to promote customer
loyalty and to encourage greater product sales. These rebate pro-
grams provide that upon the attainment of pre-established volumes
or the attainment of revenue milestones for a specified period, the
customer receives credits against purchases. We estimate the provi-
sion for rebates based upon the specific terms in each agreement at
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the time of shipment and an estimate of the customer’s achievement
of the respective revenue milestones. We accrue custamer claims,
returns and allowances and discounts based upon our history of
claims and sales returns and allowances. The estimated provisions
significantly could be affected if future occurrences and claims differ
from these assumptions and historical trends.

Determination of Net Periodic Pension Cost Each year we
review with our actuaries the actuarial assumptions used in the
determination of net periodic pension cost, as prescribed by SFAS No.
87, "Employers Accounting for Pensions.” The determination of net
periodic pension cost is based upon a number of actuarial assump-
tions. The two most critical assumptions are the expected return on
plan assets and the discount rate for determining the funded status.
Other assumptions include the rate of compensation increase and
demographic factors such as retirement age, mortality and turnover.
We review the critical assumptions for our U.S. pension plans with
the audit committee of our board of directors. Our net periodic pen-
sion cost for our U.S. pension plans was $24.0 million in 2007, $31.0
million in 2006 and $25.7 million in 2005, Our net periodic pension
cost for all pension plans was $44.8 mitlion in 2007, $52.9 million
in 2006 and $43.5 million in 2005. The net periodic pension cost for
all ptans included a settlement loss of $2.9 million and $0.3 million
in 2004 and 2005, respectively. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, actual
results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated and amor-
tized over future periods and, therefore, affect expense recognized
and obligations recorded in future periods.

In developing our assumption for the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets, we considered historical returns and
the future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as
the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio. At December
31, 2007, our weighted-average assumptions for the U.S. pension
plans and non-U.S. pension plans was 8.25% and 6.63% [7.56% on
a weighted-average basis for all plans), respectively, based on our
investment mix and projected market conditions. We believe our
expected long-term rates of return represent a reasonable return
that could be achieved over the long term using our current asset
allocation. At December 31, 2007, our U.S. pension plans’ assets had
an investment mix that approximated 68% in equity securities and
32% in debt securities, while our non-U.S, pension plans” assets had
an investment mix that approximated 62% in equity securities and
38% in debt securities.

A change in the rate of return of 100 basis points would
have the following effects on 2008 net periodic pension cost:

100 Basis Point
fin Mitlions of Dotlars! | tmeen
US. pensionplans ... ... ..o 1$(219)} 5219
International pension plans . ................... 1272)} c_gﬂ
Al fonplans. ... e e
Il pension plans 1S (551} @

The selection of a discount rate for pension plans is
required to determine the value of future pension cbligations and
represents our best estimate of our cost in the marketplace to settle
all pension obligations through annuity purchases. We determined
the discount rate based upon current market indicators, including
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yields from dedicated bond portfolios that provide for a general
matching of bond maturities with the projected benefit cash flows
from our plans. The dedicated bond portfolios consist of non-callable
corporate bonds that are at least AA- guality. We set the December
31, 2007 discount rate assumption for our U.S. pension plans at
6.67%, which was an increase from 6.25% at December 31, 2006. We
set the December 31, 2007 weighted-average discount rate assump-
tion for our non-U.S. pension plans at 5.61%, which was an increase
from 4.89% at December 31, 2006. On a worldwide basis, the
weighted-average discount rate increased to 6.19% at December 31,
2007 from 5.63% at December 31, 2006.

A change in the discount rate of 100 basis points would

A change in the discount rate of 100 basis points woh

have the following effects on 2008 postretirement benefit cost:

100 Basis Point
fin Mitlions of Dattars/
U.5. postretirementplans ..................... I$(0%]

$072)

International postretirementplans ............. A QE

All postretirement plans ...................... IS0} %
—_——

A change in the assumed heatth care cost trend rate of 100
basis points would have the following effects on 2008 postretirement
benefit cost:

have the following effects on 2008 net periodic pension cost: 100 Basis Polnt
100 Basis Point {in Mittions of Dolfars/ Increase]
fin Mitlions of Dollars) Increase U.S. postretirementplans ..................... 1S 181} Em@
US. pension plans ..........ccocovvirnnenens $1215)] (5,583 international postretirement plans ............. o7 @ﬁﬂ
International pensionplans . ................... B _ 68 All postratirement plans ..........ooiiiiiao .t [$.1'8] S [374)]
All pension plans . ..........ooooiiiiinias.ns 1§81 ] [$10%)
—_— [ ——

At December 21, 2007, the accumulated benefit obligation
for all pension plans worldwide exceeded the value of plan assets by
$34.8 million. This represents a $48.5 million improvement in funded
status from the $83.3 million in the total unfunded accumutated ben-
efit obligation reported in 2006. The accumulated benefit obligation
exceeded the plan assets for the U.S. pension plans by $12,9 million
and the non-U.S. plans by $21.9 million in 2007. The primary driver
behind the $48.5 million decrease in the unfunded benefit obtigations
was a resutt of an increase in discount rates at Decemnber 31, 2007.

We expect changes in pension plan assumptions to
decrease pension expense for most pension plans worldwide in 2008.
We expect the 2008 pension expense to be approximately $40.5 mil-
lion, excluding the impact of any settlernent charges. The expected
decrease in pension expense in 2008, excluding the impact of settle-
ment charges, primarily is due to an increase in expected returns on
assets due to the increase in fair value of plan assets at December 31,
2007, a reduction in the amortization of actuarial losses and the increase
in the discount rate for all plans, offset by an increase in interest cost
associated with an increase in the projected benefit obligation.

Determination of Postretirement Benefit Cost Annually, we
review with our actuaries the key economic assumptions used in
calculating postretirement benefit cost as prescribed by SFAS No. 104,
“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pen-
sions.” Postretirement benefits include health care and life insur-
ance plans, The determination of postretirement benefit cost is based
upon a number of actuarial assumptions, including the discount rate
for determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation,
the assumed health care cost trend rates and the ultimate health
care trend rate. Except for the U.S. plans, the same discount rate
selected for the pension plans generally is used to calculate the post-
retirement benefit obligation by country. Net non-pension postretire-
ment benefit cost (credit] was $2.6 million in 2007, [{$0.1) million in
2006 and $3.4 million in 2005.

Accounting for Business Combinations We allocate the pur-
chase price of business cornbinations to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their relative fair value at the date of acquisition
pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations.”
In estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets and
liabilities acquired, we consider information obtained during our due
diligence process and utilize various valuation methods including
market prices, where available, appraisals, comparisons to transac-
tions for similar assets and liabilities and present value of estimated
future cash flows. We are required to make subjective estimates in
connection with these valuations and allocations.

Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets We review
the carrying value of our long-lived assets, including property and
equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss exists when estimated undiscounted future cash
flows expected to result from the use of the asset, including disposi-
tion, are less than the carrying value of the asset. The measurement
of the impairment {0ss to be recognized is based on the difference
between the fair value and the carrying amounts of the assets. Fair
value generally is determined based upon a discounted cash flow
analysis. In order to determine if an asset has been impaired, assets
are grouped and tested at the lowest ievel for which identifiable,
independent, cash flows are available.

The determination of both undiscounted and discounted
cash flows requires us to make significant estimates and considers
the expected course of action at the balance sheet date. Subsequent
changesin estimated undiscounted and discounted cash flows arising
from changes in anlicipated actions could impact the determination
of whether an impairment exists, the amount of the impairment
charge recerded and whether the effects could materially impact our
consolidated financial statements.
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Discontinued Operations in accordance with the requirements of
SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposat of Long-
Lived Assets,” we report in discontinued operations the results of
a compenent of our business that either has been disposed of or is
classified as held for sale. We classify a component of aur business
as held for sale if it meets the following criteria as of each balance
sheet date:

o We commit to a plan to sell the disposal group.

o The disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present
condition, subject only to the terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such disposal groups.

o We have initiated an active program to locate a buyer and other
actions required to complete the plan to sell.

o We believe the sale of the disposal group is probable and expect
the transfer to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year.

o We actively market the disposal group for sale at a price that is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value.

& Actions necessary to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely
that significant changes to the plan will be made or that the plan
will be withdrawn,

The results of aperations of all entities that have been dis-
posed of or are classified as held for sale have been classified in the
income [loss) from discontinued operatiens - net of tax line item in
the consolidated statements of income for 2006 and 2005. The 2007,
2006 and 2005 cash flow statements are presented on a consolidated
basis, including both continuing operations and discentinued opera-
tions for 2006 and 2005.

Accounting for Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs
over the value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible
assets of businesses acquired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwitl and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill is to be tested
annuatly and between annual tests if events occur or circumstances
change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of an
operating segment below its carrying amount. We have elected Octo-
ber 1 as the annual evaluation date to test for potential goodwill
impairment. The annual goodwill impairment test requires us to
make a number of assumptions and estimates concerning future
levels of earnings and cash flow, which are based upon our strategic
plans. The combination of a discounted cash flow analysis and termi-
nal value mode! is used to determine the fair value of each reporting
unit. While we use available information to prepare estimates and to
perform the impairment evaluation, actual results could differ sig-
nificantly resulting in future impairment and charges related to
recorded goodwill balances. We identified no impairment of goodwill
in the annual impairment test completed in 2007. (See Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.}

Intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions,
including customer lists, purchased technology, trademarks, pat-
ents, land-use rights and non-compete agreements, are amortized
on a straight-line method over periods ranging from 3 to 40 years.

2 B THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

Under SFAS No. 142, intangible assets determined to have indefinite
tives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment at teast annu-
ally. We have elected October 1 as the annual evaluation date to test
for potential impairment of indefinite lived intangible assets. The
combination of a discounted cash flow analysis and terminal value
model is used to determine whether the fair value of an intangible
asset exceeds its carrying amount. As part of the annual impairment
test, the non-amortized intangible assets are reviewed to determine
if the indefinite status remains appropriate.

We completed a corporate identity review in the fourth
quarter of 2006 and made a final determination in January 2007 to
no longer use the trade name "Naveon” to describe the Lubrizol
Advanced Materials segment of aur company and that its use would
be discontinued except in connection with the consumer specialties
product line, As a result, we recognized an impairment charge for the
Noveon trade name in accordance with SFAS No. 142, We calculated
a pretax charge of $41.2 million ($25.4 million after tax] to reduce the
related asset to its estimated fair vatue. We reflected this charge in
the fourth quarter of 2006 as we believed at that time we would more
likely than not discontinue the use of the Noveon trade name, except
in the limited context of the consumer specialties product tine.

Asset-Retirement Obligations We account for asset retirement
obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obtigations™ and Financial Accounting Standards Board
[FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset-
Retirement Obligations - an interpretation of FASB Statement
No.143.” FIN No. 47 requires the recognition of a liabitity for the fair
value of a legal sbligation to perform asset-retirement obligations
{AROs) that are conditional on a future event if the amount can be
reascnably estimated. We have identified AROs related to certain of
our leased facilities and to asbestos remediation activities that may
be required at other company-owned facilities in the future. We
record liabilities for AROs at the time that they are identified and
when they can be reasonably estimated. Due to the long-term, pro-
ductive nature of some of our manufacturing operations, absent
plans or expectation of plans to initiate asset retirement activities,
we are unable to reasonably estimate the fair value of such asbestos
remediation liabilities since the potential settlement dates cannot be
determined at this time.

NEYY ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

SFAS No. 141R

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 [revised 2007],
“Business Combinations.” This statement replaces SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations,” and requires an acquirer to recognize the
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling inter-
est in the acquiree at the acquisition date, measured at their fair val-
ues as of that date, with limited exceptions. SFAS No. 141R requires
costs incurred to effect the acquisition to be recognized separately
from the acquisition as period costs. SFAS No. 141R also requires the
acquirer to recagnize restructuring costs that the acquirer expects to
incur, but is not obligated to incur, separately from the business com-
bination. In addition, this statement requires an acquirer to recognize
assets and liabilities assumed arising from contractual contingen-
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cies as of the acquisition date, measured at their acquisition-date fair
values. Other key provisions of this statement include the require-
ment to recognize the acquisition-date fair values of research and
development assets separately from goodwill and the requirement
to recognize changes in the amount of deferred tax benefits that are
recognizable due to the business combination in either income from
continuing operations in the period of the combination or directly in
contributed capital, depending on the circumstances. At December
31, 2007, we had amounts recorded in our financial statements for
unrecognized tax benefits and valuation allowances related to past
acquisitions. Any reversal of these amounts prior to the adoption of
SFAS No.141R would affect goodwill. However, subsequent ta the
adoption of SFAS No. 141R, any reversals would affect the income tax
provision in the period of reversal. With the exception of certain tax-
related aspects described above, this statement applies prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual reporting period after December 15,
2008. We currently are evaluating the impact of this recently issued
standard on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 160

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Noncantrolling
Interests in Financial Statements - an amendment of ARB No. 51.”
This statemment amends Accounting Research Bulletin No, 51, “Can-
solidated Financial Statements,” to establish accounting and report-
ing standards for noncontrolling interests in a subsidiary and for
the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontralling
interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated
entity that should be reported as eguity in the consolidated finan-
cial statements. This statement requires consolidated net income
attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest to be
reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. This
statement also requires expanded disclesures in the consolidated
financial statements that clearly identify and distinguish between
the interests of the parent’s owners and the interests of the non-
controlling owners of a subsidiary. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fis-
cal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning
after December 15, 2008 and shall be applied prospectively as of
the beginning of the fiscal year in which it is initially adopted, except
for the presentation and disclosure requirements, which are applied
retrospectively for ail periods presented. Early adaption is prohibited.
We currently are evaluating the impact of this recently issued stan-
dard on our conselidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 159

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financiat Liabilities.” This statement
permits entities to make an irrevocable election to measure many
financial instruments and certain other items at fair value at speci-
fied election dates. The fair value option may be applied instrument
by instrument and, if applied, then it must be applied to the entire
instrument, Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the entity
elects the fair value option are reported in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Early
adoption is permitted as of the beginning of the fiscal year that begins
on or before November 15, 2007, provided the entity also elects to
apply the provisions of SFAS No.157, “Fair Value Measurements.”

Entities are not permitted to apply this statement retrospectively to
the fiscal years preceding the effective date unless the entity chooses
early adoption. We currently are evaluating the impact of this recently
issued standard on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 158

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, "Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans - an amendment of FASB Statements No, 87, 88, 104, and
132R.” This statement requires an employer to recognize a plan's
funded status in its statement of financial position, measure a plan's
assets and obligations as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year and
recognize the changes in a plan’s funded status in comprehensive
income in the year in which the changes occur. SFAS No.158's
requirement to recognize a plan’s funded status and new disclosure
requirements are effective for us as of December 31, 2006. The
requirement to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of
the date of our fiscal year-end statement of financial position is
effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. Currently,
we measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of our
fiscal year end. We adopted the required provisions of SFAS No. 158
on December 31, 2006,

SFAS No. 157

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.157, "Fair Value
Measurements.” This statement defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in accordance with U.S. GAAP
and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157
does not expand the use of fair value measures in financial state-
ments, but simplifies and codifies related guidance within U.S. GAAP.
SFAS MNo. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy using observable
markel data as the highest level and an entity's own fair value
assumptions as the lowest level. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within
those years. SFAS No. 157 requires adoption prospectively as of the
beginning of the fiscal year in which this statement is initially applied,
with the exception of certain financial instruments in which adoption
is applied retrospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which
this statement initially is applied. We currently are evaluating the
impact of this standard on our consotidated financial statements.

FIN No.48

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, "Accounting for Uncer-
tainty in Income Taxes,” that prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. Under FIN No.48, a contingent tax asset only will be recog-
nized if it is more likely than not that a tax position ultimately will be
sustained. After this threshold is met, a tax position is reported at the
largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized.
FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and disclosure.
FIN No. 4B was effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2006. FIN No. 48 requires the cumulative effect of applying the
provisions to be reported separately as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. Effective Janu-
ary 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FIN No.48.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS convinuep

As a result of adopting FIN No.48 on January 1, 2007, we
recognized an $8. million reduction to retained earnings and a $5.4
million increase to goodwill for pre-acquisition income tax liabili-
ties of Noveon International. At January 1, 2007, after recording this
FIN No. 48 adaption impact, we had gross unrecognized tax benefits
of $57.8 million, of which $38.8 million, if recognized, would have
affected the effective tax rate. At December 31, 2007, we had gross
unrecognized tax benefits of $59.3 million, of which $39.3 million, if
recognized, would have affected the effective tax rate.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as a compoenent of the income tax provi-
sion. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized gross
interest expense of $4.2 million and gross interest income of $3.2 mil-
lion in our consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, we had accrued $7.7 million and $7.1 million, respectively,
for the potential payment of interest and penalties.

We operate in numerous taxing jurisdictions and are sub-
ject to reqular examinations by various U.5. federal, state and foreign
jurisdictions. Our income tax positions are based on research and
interpretations of the income tax laws and rulings in each of the
jurisdictions in which we do business. Due to the subjectivity of inter-
pretations of laws and rulings in each jurisdiction, the differences
and interplay in tax laws between those jurisdictions and difficulty
in estimating the final resolution of complex tax audit matters, our
estimates of income tax liabilities may differ from actual payments
or assessments.

We do not anticipate that the total unrecognized tax
benefits will change significantly due to the settlement of audits
and the expiration of statute of limitations within one year of Decem-
ber 31, 2007.

With few exceptions, we.no longer are subject to U.5.
federal, state and local tax examinations for years before 2001 and
foreign jurisdiction examinations for years before 2000.

Effective with the adoption of FIN No.48, the majority of
our unrecognized tax benefits are classified as noncurrent liabilities
because payment of cash is not expected within one year. Prior to
the adoption of FIN No.48, we classified unrecognized tax benefits in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

SFAS No.123R

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R. This standard
requires compensation costs related to share-based payment trans-
actions to be recognized in the financial statements. With limited
exceptions, the amount of compensation cost is measured based on
the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued.
In addition, liability awards are remeasured each reporting period.
Compensation cost is recognized over the period that an employee
provides service in exchange for the award. This standard reptaces
SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatien,” and
supersedes APB Dpinion No.25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and applies to all awards granted, modified, repur-
chased or cancelled after July 1, 2005. In April 2005, the SEC amended
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the compliance date of SFAS No.123R through an amendment of
Regulation S-X. We adopted SFAS No.123R on January 1, 2006. Our
adoption of SFAS No. 123R incrementally increased before-tax com-
pensation expense by approximately $2.4 million during 2006.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS FOR SAFE HARBOR PURPOSES

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Qperations contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the federal securities laws, As a general matter,
forward-looking statements are those focused upon future plans,
objectives or performance as opposed to historical items and include
statements of anticipated events or trends and expectations and
beliefs relating to matters not historical in nature. Forward-looking
statements are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to our
operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to
predict and many of which are beyond our control. These uncertain-
ties and factors could cause our actual results to differ materially
from those matters expressed in or implied by any forward-looking
statements, although we believe our expectations reflected in those
forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assump-
tions. For this purpose, any statements contained herein that are
not statements of historical fact should be deemed to be forward-
looking statements.

We believe that the fotlowing factors, among others, could
affect our future performance and cause our actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking state-
ments made in this annual report:

o The cost, availability and quality of raw materials, especially petro-
leum-based products.

o Our ability to sustain profitability of our products in a competitive
environment.

o The demand for our products as influenced by factors such as the
global economic environment, longer-term technology develop-
ments and the success of our commercial development programs.

o The risks of conducting business in foreign countries, inctuding the
effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates upan ocur consoli-
dated results and political, social, economic and regulatory factors.

o The extent ta which we are successful in expanding our business in
new and existing markets and in identifying, understanding and
managing the risks inherent in those markets.

o The effects of required principal and interest payments and the high
degree of volatility in the capital markets on our ability to fund cap-
ital expenditures and acquisitions and to meet operating needs.

o Our ability to identify, complete and integrate acquisitions for prof-
itable growth and operating efficiencies.

o Our success at continuing to develop proprietary technology to
meet or exceed new industry performance standards and indi-
vidual customer expectations.
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o Our ability to implement a new common information systems plat-
farm primarily into our Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment suc-
cessfully, including the management of project costs, its timely
completion and realization of its benefits.

o Our ability to continue to reduce complexities and conversion costs
and modify our cost structure to maintain and enhance our com-
petitiveness.

o Qur success in retaining and growing the business that we have
with our largest customers.

o The cost and availability of energy, especially natural gas and
electricity.

o The effect of interest rate fluctuations on our net interest expense.

o The risk of weather-related disruptions to our Lubrizol Additives
production facilities located near the U.S. Gulf Coast.

o Significant changes in government regulations affecting environ-
mental compliance,

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK

We operate manufacturing and blending facilities, laboratories
and offices around the world and utilize fixed-rate and variable-rate
debt to finance our global operations. As a result, we are subject to
business risks inherent in non-U.S. activities, including political and
econemic uncertainties, import and export limitations, and market
risks related ta changes in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates. We believe the political and economic risks related
to our foreign operations are mitigated due to the stability of the
countries in which our largest foreign operations are located.

In the normal course of business, we use derivative finan-
cial instruments including interest rate and commodity hedges and
forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage our market
risks. Our objective in managing our exposure to changes in interest
rates is to limit the impact of such changes on our earnings and cash
flow. Our objective in managing the exposure to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates is to reduce volatility on our earnings and
cash flow associated with such changes. Our principal currency expo-
sures are the eurg, the pound sterling, the Japanese yen and certain
Latin American currencies. Qur objective in managing our exposure
to changes in commadity prices is to reduce the volatility on earnings
of utility expense. We do not hold derivatives for trading purposes.

We measure our market risk related to our holdings of
financial instruments based on changes in interest rates, foreign
currency rates and commaodity prices utitizing a sensitivity analysis.
The sensitivity analysis measures the potential loss in fair value, cash
flow and earnings based on a hypothetical 10% c¢hange lincrease
and decreasel in interest, currency exchange rates and commodity
prices. We use current market rates on our debt and derivative port-
folios to perform the sensitivity analysis. Certain items such as lease
contracts, insurance contracts and obligations for pension and other
postretirement benefits are not included in the analysis.

Our primary interest rate exposures relate to our cash h

short-term investments, fixed-rate and variable-rate debt and inter-
est rate swaps. The calculation of potential loss in fair value is based
on an immediate change in the net present values of our interest
rate-sensitive exposures resulting from a 10% change in interest
rates. The potential toss in cash flow and income before tax is based
on the change in the net interest income/expense over a cne-year
period due to an immediate 10% change in rates. A hypothetical 10%
increase in interest rates would have had a favorable impact and a
hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates would have had an unfa-
vorable impact on fair values of $4%.8 million and $41.1 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition, a hypothetical
10% increase in interest rates would have had an unfavorable impact
and a hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates would have had a
favorable impact on cash flows and income before tax of $0.8 million
and $1.6 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Our primary currency exchange rate exposures are to

- foreign currency-deneminated debt, intercompany debt, cash and

short-term investments and forward foreign currency exchange con-
tracts. The calculation of potential loss in fair value is based on an
immediate change in the LS. dollar equivalent balances of our cur-
rency expasures due to a 10% shift in exchange rates. The potential
loss in cash flow and income before tax is based on the change in
cash flow and income before tax over a one-year period resutting
fram an immediate 10% change in currency exchange rates. A hypo-
thetical 10% increase in currency exchange rates woutd have had
an unfavorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease in currency
exchange rates would have had a favorable impact on fair values
of $17.0 million and $3.5 millien at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. In addition, a hypothetical 10% increase in currency
exchange rates would have had an unfavorable impact and a hypo-
thetical 10% decrease in currency exchange rates would have had
a favorable impact on cash flows of $24.9 miltion and $21.1 million
and on income before tax of $6.5 mitlion and $4.0 million in 2007 and
2006, respectively.

Our primary commodity hedge exposures relate to natural
gas and electric utility expenses. The calculation of potential lass in
fair value is based on an immediate change in the U.S, dollar equiva-
lent balances of our commodity expasures due to a 10% shift in the
underlying commodity prices. The potential loss in cash flow and
income before tax is based on the change in cash flow and income
before tax over a one-year period resulting from an immediate 10%
change in commodity prices. A hypothetical 10% increase in com-
moadity prices would have had a favorable impact and a hypothetical
10% decrease in commodity prices would have had an unfavorable
impact on fair values, cash flows and income before tax of $1.4 mil-
lion and $1.3 million in 2007 and 2004, respectively.

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION g 27



MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of The Lubrizol Corparation and its subsidiaries
lthe Companyl is responsible for establishing and maintaining ade-
quate internal control over financial reporting. The Lubrizol Corpora-
tion's internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance to the Company's management and board of directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published finan-
cial statements.

Allinternal control systems, no matter how well designed,
have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined
to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation.

The Lubrizol Corporation’s managemenl assessed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, manage-
ment used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0) in Internal Con-
trol—Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, manage-
ment believes that, as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is effective based on thuse criteria.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, who expressed an ungualified opinion as stated in their report,
a copy of which is included in this annual report,

S NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE CERTIFICATIONS

On April 30, 2007, James L. Hambrick, as chief executive officer,
certified, as required by Section 303A.12{a] of the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE] Listed Company Manual, that as of that date he
was not aware of any violations by the Company of the NYSE's Cor-
porale Governance listing standards. This certification has been
delivered to the NYSE.

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer cer-
tifications created by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
are included as exhibits to our Form 10-K and are incorporated
herein by reference.
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDERNT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Deloitte,

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
The Lubrizol Corporation

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of The
Lubrizol Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Company”) as of Decem-
ber 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orga-
nizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management
is respoensible for maintaining effective internal controt over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal con-
trol over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Manage-
ment's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Campany Accounting Oversight Board [United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in alt material respects. Qur audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal contrel over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
contrel based on the assessed risk, and performing such other pro-
cedures as we considered necessaryin the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons per-
forming similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of
directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accor-
dance with generally accepled accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reparting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of recards that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2] provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and directors of the company: and (3] provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the tinancial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over
financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to
error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
controt over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the
risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes

in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
precedures may deteriorate.

In our apinian, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the crileria established in /nternal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spon-
soring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States], the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2007 of the Company and our report dated February
28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial state-
ments and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Com-
pany's adoption of new accounting standards.

Deboitly + Jpucke 22P

Cleveland, Ohio
Febiruary 28, 2008
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REPORTS OF INDEPEMNDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM continuep

Deloitie.

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
The Lubrizok Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
The Lubrizel Corporation and subsidiaries [the "Company™] as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated state-
ments of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Pubtic Company Accounting Oversight Board [United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
The Lubrizol Corporation and subsidiaries at Becember 31, 2007
and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.
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As discussed in Notes 2 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for uncertain income tax positions with the adoption
of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes” effective January 1,
2007. As discussed in Notes 2 and 16 to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting
for stock-based compensation with the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS™] No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payment” effective January 1, 2006. As discussed in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its
method of accounting for defined pension and other postretire-
ment plans with the adoption of SFAS No. 158, "Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretire-
ment Plans” effective December 31, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States|,
the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated February 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion
on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Deboitly + Joucde 22P

Cleveland, Ohio
February 28, 2008




COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31

e
~

[In Milliens of Dellars Except Per Share Datal 2007 20056 2005
3T S G P D EYAXRMD $4,040.8 $3,622.2
Costofsales. .. ... i e R3t328h] 3,045.2 2,700.1
Bross profit. ... ... . 1181201 995.6 9221
Selling and administrative eXpenses . . ... ... oot iiiae e, &RA 381.7 348.4
Research, testing and development expenses .. ....... ... ........... 12489 205.5 198.9
Amortization of intangible assets ... ... i i 124%3] 23.7 235
Restructuring and impairmentcharges ............. ... .. ... ... ... i15) 51.9 15.9
OHRer INCOME = MBL L.\ttt et ettt ie e aneanneas (8718} (8.5 (1.8
INterest INCOME « ... . ittt e 112810]] [20.4) (8.1)
INtErest BXPENSE . ... .. ..ttt e e L, 99.7 105.1
Income from continuing operations beforeincometaxes................... 139910} 262.0 240.2
Provision for income taxes ... ... ... ..ot 1036 82.2 80.8
Income from continUINg OPerations . . ... ... ..\ ooy etee s e - 1283YC) 179.8 159.4
Income (loss] from discontinued operations - netoftax ................ e (76.2] 27.8
NEtINCOME . ..ottt e e S JR283% $ 103.6 $ 187.2
"
Basic earnings [loss] per share:
Continuing OPerationg . ... ...t 8 &% $ 262 2.35
Discomtinued operations . ... ... .. ... ... ., i o .11 0.41
Netincome pershare, basic.......... ... i iiiiiiiiiiniiinenenn, 8 & $ 1.5 $ 276
Diluted earnings (loss] per share:
COntiNUING OPEratiONS . ..o\ttt ettt et e et 8 &8 $ 259 $ 232
Discontinued operations .. ... ... ... oottt e (1.10 0.40
Net income pershare, diluted ... ... ... ... . .cciviiiiiinrinnnnnnns, 8 &5 $ 1.49 2.72
Dividends paid pershare. .. ... .. i i e 8 w6 $ 1.04 $ 104
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
o
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

[In Millions of Dollars Except Share Datal 2007 I 2006
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments . .. ... .. e e e 8 R $ 575.7
RECBIVADIES . . . . i e e 66519) 573.6
VO S . e 60070 589.0
Other CUITENE BSSBES .. .. ottt e et e et e e _@;ﬂ 98.0
Total cUrrent @ssets . . ... ... ... ... ... ... e 1584733] 1,836.3
Property and equipment - 8L COSE .. v ittt ittt e et e 287 63821 2,546.0
Less accumulated depreciation ... .. .. ... . M 1,464.7
Property and equipment - Met . ...ttt e LGB 1,081.3
GOOOWILL . .. oo e 1%1,7018] 1,076.1
INtangible 885ets - et . . ... e 38.0%3) 322.8
Investments in non-consolidated companies .. ... .. L (EY3)] 7.7
T LTt R 66.7
TOTAL . .o i $4,390.9
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Short-term debt and current portion of long-termdebt . .......... ... .o ool 8 anp $ 37
ACCOUNES Payable . . . e [£.0478)] 3405
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . ....... ... ... ... . ... . .. T@ 290.2
Total current liabilities .. . ...... ... .. ... .. .. ...l 1..7 4344
LONG-tBFmM debt . .. oo e e (522319) 1,538.0
Pension obligations . ... .. ... ... . e 19532 237.9
Other postretirement benefit obligations . ......... ... ... it LY 93.5
Noncurrent Liabilities. . .. ... ... \14757) 72.3
Deferred INCOME tAXES . ... ittt et e e e e _ @8 BO.4
Totalliabilities .. ...... ... ... ... . ... .. i @ 2,656.5
Contingencies and commitments
Minority interest in consolidated companies ....... ... . i e e ;Gﬂfé 51.3
Preferred stock without parvalue - unissued . ... ... ... .. = -
Common shares without par value - 68,383,833 and 69,020,569
outstanding shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. ....................... 17 6376) 7101
REt@INE BIMINGS - o v vttt ettt et ettt et e e e e e e e e 112817 1,033.8
Accumulated other comprehensive income [loss) ... ... o i e 5 (60.8)
Total shareholders’ equity .. ... ... . ... ... . ... ... ... ... 13 1,683.1
TOTAL . $LI6L3T8 $4,390.9

The accampanying notes are an integral part of these cansolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

r
\

UIn Millions of Doltars] 2007 2004 2005
Cash provided by (used for):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
[T T et 131 1= S 15528373 $103.6 $187.2
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . .. ... ... .. i WL 161.8 179.8
Deferred income taxes ...t 120524 28.6 2.1
Deferred compensation ... .. .. .. it ans 195 16.3
Restructuring and impairment charges . ............ ... .. oot a6 105.6 111
(Gain) loss from sales of property and equipment and divestitures ...... (:715)] 9.6 (3.9
Change in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions
and divestitures:
Receivables .. ... . it e (£288)] (3.4) (52.9)
BVERLOTIBS L\ttt it e e e 317151 (56.2 (47.5)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities . . .. 2081 (57.1) 56.1
Other CUrrent assels . . ...\t it et &0 3.4 b9
' 13%2]) (113.3] [37.4)
Change in noncurrent liabilities . .. ....... ... ... .. i %8 8.5 8.6
OthEr IEBMS = Bt oottt sttt v e et e B 10.9 _ [8.8)
Total operating activities. . . ......... ... U 14,7 5%4) 334.8 362.2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures ... ... ... . e ({182!8) [130.9] (136.7}
ACQUISIIIONS & v\ttt ettt vr e v e e e e e e e ({W40%3)] - -
Net proceeds from sales of property and equipment and divestitures ........ WAES 2819 30
0 YT S T Jit2) 0.4 (0.2)
Total investing activities .. ............................... 130918] 151.4 [106.8i
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Changes in short-termdebt - met ............. .. i {3%6)] (0.5 (4.0]
Repayments of long-termdebt ............ ... ... . . i (0040 (143.4) (512.2)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-termdebt ........ ... ... ... ... ... o - 2358
Dividends Pait ... e e e (80701 (71.21 (70.4]
Payment of debt issuancecosts....................... s = - {0.8)
Common shares purchased . ... ... ... .. et 110053 - -
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options .. ........ ... ... ... o i oma 26.5 388
Tax benefit from the exercise of stock optionsandawards. . ................ o N7, 48 -
Totat financing activities .. .. .......................... ... 26010]] 1183.9] (312.8)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash ..............cooviiniiinoane.nn 2010 1.0 _s.)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and short-term investments ... ............ 1737 313.3 [73.5)
Cash and short-term investments at the beginningofyear.................. Gy 262.4 _ 3359
Cash and short-term investments at theendofyear. .. .................... 15150253} $ 575.7 $ 262.4

The accompanying nates are an integral parst of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

Shareholders’ Equity
Number of Accumulated Other
Shares Common Retained Comprehensive
{in Millions} Outstanding Shares Earnings Income (Loss) Total
BALANCE, JANUARY 1,2005 .. .................... 66.8 $610.6 $ 8852 $ 127 $ 15085
Comprehensive income:
Metincome 2005 ........ ... ... ... ol L. - 187.2 - 187.2
Other comprehensive loss ..................... - - (126.2] (126.2]
Total comprehensive income .........ocoviaaa.. 61.0
Dividends declared ...............coooiiaaL. - (70.7) - (70.7)
Deferred stock compensation ................. o 8.8 - - 8.8
Cormmon shares - treasury:
Shares issued upon exercise of
stock optionsandawards .................... 1.2 44.3 - - 44.3
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31,2005. . .................. 48.0 663.7 1,001.7 {113.5) 1,551.9
Comprehensive income:
Netincome 2006 . ... ... ... ... ... . .. ... ... - 103.6 - 103.6
Other comprehensiveincome................... - - 115.5 113.5
Total comprehensiveincome ............... ... .. 2191
Adjustment to recognize pension and other
postretirement benefit plans funded status ....... - - (62.8] {62.8)
Dividends declared .......... ... ... ... ......... - I71.5) - {71.5)
Deferred stock compensation .................... 11.2 - - 11.2
Common shares - treasury:
Shares issued upon exercise of
stock options andawards .................... 1.0 35.2 - - 35.2
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31,2006 .................... 6%.0 710.1 1,033.8 (60.8] 1.683.1
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle due to the adeption of FINNo. 48 ... .. ... L - (8.9] - (8.9)
BALANCE, JANUARY 1,2007 .. ... ................. (6910} 7,081 (%0248 (£078) (¥674%]
Comprehensive income:
Net income 2007. .. .....oiiene i o 283V ° F28374)
Other comprehensive income . .................. o o 11976 e
Total comprehensive income . ........... ... ... 1403824
Dividends declared .................. i, e (8278)] < (8216]]
Deferred stock compensation .................... 41819 o o B
Comman shares - treasury:
Common shares purchased . ................... (;187)] (:3%3)) 19720]) = 1 00%3])
Shares issued upon exercise of
stock options andawards . ................... %0 =7 = e - BR
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31,2007 .................... 687y S 1N.28 § a0 5119583

The accampanying notes are an integeal part of these consolidated financial staternents.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{In Millions Except Per Share Data)

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Lubrizol Corporation {the company] is an innovative specialty
chemical company that produces and supplies technologies that
improve the quality and performance of its customers’ products in
the global transportation, industrial and consumer markets. These
technologies include lubricant additives for engine oils, other trans-
portation-related fluids and industrial lubricants, as well as addi-
tives for gasoline and diesel fuel. In addition, the company makes
ingredients and additives for personal care products and pharma-
ceuticals; engineered polymers, including plastics technology; and
performance coatings in the form of specialty resins and additives.

The company is erganized into two operating and reportable
segments: Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizol Advanced Materials. Refer
to Note 15 for a further description of the nature of the company’s
operations, the product lines within each of the operating segments,
segment operating income and related financial disclosures for the
reportable segments.

WOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOURTING POLICIES

Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the company and its consolidated subsidiaries. The com-
pany consolidates certain entities in which it owns less than a 100%
equity interest if it is either deemed to be the primary beneficiaryin a
variable interest entity, as defined in Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB]| Interpretation [FIN) No.46 [revised December 2003),
"Consolidation of Variable interest Entities,” or where its ownership

~ interest is at least 50% and the company has effective management

control. The equity method of accounting is applied to non-consoli-
dated entities in which the company can exercise significant influence
over the entity with respect to its operations and major decisions.
The book value of investments carried on the equity method and cost
methed were inmaterial at December 31, 2007 and 20064.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards {SFAS) No. 160, "Noncontrolling interests in
Financial Statements - an amendment of ARB No. 51.” This statement
amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, "Consalidated Finan-
cial Statements,” to establish accounting and reporting standards for
nencontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of
a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary
is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be
reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. This
statement requires consolidated net income attributable to both the
parent and the noncontrolling interest to be reported and disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements. This statement also requires
expanded disclosures in the consolidated financial statements that
clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent’s
owners and the interests of the nancontrolling owners of a subsid-
iary. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2008 and
shall be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in
which it is initially adopted, except for the presentation and disclo-
sure requirements, which are applied retrospectively for all periods
presented. Early adoption is prohibited. The company currently is
evaluating the impact of this recently issued standard on its conseli-
dated financial statements.

Discontinued Operations The results of a component of the
company that either has been disposed of or is classified as held
for sale are reported in discontinued operations in accordance with
the requirements of SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” A component of an entity is classi-
fied as held for sale when the transaction has been approved by the
appropriate level of management and there are no known significant
contingencies outstanding that would prevent the sale from closing
within one year. The results of operations of all entities that have
been disposed of or that are classified as held for sale in 2006 and
2005 have been classitied as discontinued operations in all periods
presented in the consolidated statements of income. The 2006 and
2005 cash flow statements are presented on a consolidated basis,
including both continuing operations and discontinued operations.

Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples [U.S. GAAP] requires management to make estimates and
assumnptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabil-
ities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates,

Cash Equivalents The company invests its excess cash in short-term
investments with various banks and financial institutions. Short-term
investments are cash equivalents, as they are part of the cash man-
agement activities of the company and are comprised of investments
having maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Inventories inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market
value. Cost of inventories is determined by either the first-in, first-
out [FIFQ) method or the moving-average method, except in the
United States for chemical inventories, which primarily are valued
using the last-in, first-out (LIFQ) method.

The company accrues volume discounts on purchases
from vendors where it is probable that the required volume will be
attained and the amount ¢an be reasonably estimated. The com-
pany records the discount as a reduction in the cost of the purchase
[generally raw materials), based on projected purchases over the
purchase agreement period.

Property and Equipment Property and equipment are carried
at cost. Repair and maintenance costs are charged against income
while renewals and betterments are capitalized as additions to the
related assets. Costs incurred for computer software developed or
obtained for internal use are capitalized for application development
activities and immediately expensed for preliminary project activities
or post-implementation activities. Accelerated depreciation methods
are used in computing depreciation on certain machinery and equip-
ment for approximately 5% and 6% of the depreciable assets at
December 31, 2007 and 2004, respectively. The remaining assets are
depreciated using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives are 10 to 40 years for buildings and building and tand improve-
ments. Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 20 years for machinery
and equipment,
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NOTES 7O FIMANCIAL STATEMENTS continven
fin Millions Except Per Share Datal

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets The company
reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets, including property
and equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss exists when estimated undiscounted future cash
flows expected to result from the use of the asset, including disposi-
tion, are less than the carrying value of the asset. The measurement
of the impairment loss to be recognized is based on the difference
between the fair value and the carrying amounts of the assets. Fair
value generally is determined based on a discounted cash flow analy-
sis. In order to determine if an asset has been impaired, assets are
grouped and tested at the lowest level for which identifiable, inde-
pendent cash flows are available.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Goodwill represents the excess
of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the
net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired
and is not amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” Goodwill is tested for impairment annually
and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change
that indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. The company
has elected to perform its annual tests for potential impairment of
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of October 1 of each
year. Impairment testing is performed at the reporting unit level. An
impairment loss generally would be recognized when the carrying
amount of the reporting unit's net assets exceeds the estimated fair
value of the reporting unit. The estimated fair value of a reporting
unit is determined through a combination of discounted cash flow
analysis and terminal value calculations.

Intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions,
inctuding customer lists, purchased technology, trademarks, pat-
ents, land-use rights and non-compete agreements, are amortized
on a straight-tine method over periods ranging from 3 to 50 years.
Under SFAS No. 142, intangible assets determined to have indefi-
nite lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment at least
annually. As part of the annual impairment test, the non-amortized
intangible assets are reviewed to determine if the indefinite status
remains appropriate.

Deferred Financing Costs Costs incurred with the issuance of
debt and credit facitities are capitalized and amortized over the life
of the associated debt as a component of interest expense using the
effective interest method of amortization. Net deferred financing
costs were $12.9 million and $15.7 million at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. Amortization expense incurred in 2007, 2006 and
2005 was $2.8 million, $2.9 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

Environmental Liabilities The company accrues for expenses
associated with ervironmental remediation obligations when such
expenses are probable and reasonably estimable, based upon cur-
rent law and existing technologies. These accruvals are adjusted as
further information develops or circumstances change. Costs of
future expenditures for environmentat remediation obligations are
not discounted to their present value.
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Share Repurchases The company uses the par-value method of
accounting for its treasury shares. Under this method, the cost to
reacquire shares in excess of paid-in capital related to those shares
is charged against retained earnings.

Foreign Currency Translation The assets and liabilities of the
company’s international subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dol-
lars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, while rev-
enues and expenses are translated at weighted-average exchange
rates in effect during the period. Unrealized translation adjustments
are recorded as a component of accumutated other comprehen-
sive income or loss in the consolidated statements of shareholders’
equity, except for subsidiaries for which the functional currency is
other than the local currency, where translation adjustments are
recognized in income. Transaction gains or losses that arise from
exchange rate changes on transactions deneminated in a currency
other than the functional currency, except those transactions that
function as a hedge of an identifiable foreign currency commit-
ment or as a hedge of a foreign currency investment, are included in
income as incurred.

Revenue Recognition Revenues are recognized at the time of
shipment of products to customers, or at the time of transfer of title,
if later, and when collection is reasenably assured. All amounts in a
sales transaction billed to a customer related to shipping and handling
are reported as revenues.

Provisions for sales discounts and rebates to customers
are recorded, based upon the terms of sales contracts, in the same
period the related sales are recorded, as a deduction to the sale.
Sales discounts and rebates are offered to certain customers to pro-
mote customer loyalty and encourage greater product sales. These
rebate programs provide that upon the attainment of pre-established
volumes or the attainment of revenue mitestones for a specified
period, the customer receives credits against purchases. The com-
pany estimates the provision for rebates based on the specific terms
in each agreement at the time of shipment and an estimate of the
customer’s achievernent of the respective revenue milestones.

Components of Cost of Sales Cost of sales is comprised of raw
material costs including freight and duty, inbound handling costs
associated with the receipt of raw materials, direct production, main-
tenance, utility costs, depreciation, plant and engineering overhead,
terminals and warehousing costs, and outbound shipping and han-
dling costs.

Research, Testing and Development Research, testing and
development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and develop-
ment expenses, excluding testing, were $148.2 million in 2007,
$135.3 million in 2006 and $128.1 million in 2005. Costs to acquire
in-process research and development {IPR&D) projects that have no
alternative future use and that have not yet reached technological
feasibility at the date of acquisition are expensed upon acquisition.




-

Income Taxes The company provides for income taxes in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 109, “"Accounting for Income Taxes.” SFAS No. 109
requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of the
assets and liabilities.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN No.48, "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” that prescribes a recognition threshold
and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition
and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be takenina
tax return. Under FIN No.48, a contingent tax asset only will be rec-
ognized if it is more likely than not that a tax position ultimately will
be sustained. After this threshold is met, a tax position is reported
at the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be
realized. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classi-
fication, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and
disclosure. FIN No.48 was effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. This interpretation requires the cumulative effect
of applying the provisions to be reported separately as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption.
The company adopted FIN No.48 on January 1, 2007 [see Note 12].

Per Share Amounts Net income per share is computed by dividing
netincome by average common shares outstanding during the period,
including contingently issuable shares. Net income per diluted share
includes the dilutive impact resulting from outstanding stock options
and awards. Per share amounts are computed as foltows:

2007 2006 2005

Numerator:
Income from continuing aperations ......... CHERA | $1798 $159.4
Incame [loss| from discontinued
operations - netoftax ................... < 176.2) 278
NEtinEOME . . ....cooveieiie i iieins, CFRA | $10346  $187.2
Denominator:
Weighted-average cammeon :
sharesoutstanding ..................... (4912 £8.7 67.9
Dilutive effect of stock eptions
andawards ..., 0]6] 0.6 0.9

Denominatgr for net income

pershare, diluted . ...................... \7010} £9.3 48,8

Basic earnings [toss) per share:

Continuing operations . . ................... B&0 | $262 $235
Discontinued operations. .................. :72. o4t
Net income per share, basic ............... 06 [ $151 $276

Dituted earnings (less] per share:

. Continuing operations.........,........... BamB | $259 $ 232
Discontinued operations. . ................. e [1.10) 0.40
Net incomne per share, diluted ., ............ BAB | $149 $272

[ — —

There were an insignificant number of shares excluded
from the diluted earnings per share calculations because they were
antiditutive in 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments Derivative financial
instruments are recognized on the balance sheet as either assets or
liabilities and are measured at fair value. Derivatives that are not
hedges are adjusted to fair value through income. Depending upon
the nature of the hedge, changes in fair value of the derivative are
either offset against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities or
firm commitments through earnings or recognized in other compre-
hensive income or loss until the hedged item is recognized in earnings.
The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in value is recognized
immediately in earnings. The company only uses derivative financial
instruments to manage well-defined interest rate, foreign currency
and commodity price risks. The company does not use derivatives far
trading purposes.

Costs Associated With Exit or Disposal Activities Liabilities
for costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recognized
and measured initially at fair value when the liability is incurred pur-
suant to the requirements of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”

Asset-Retirement Obligations The company accounts for asset
retirement obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Account-
ing for Asset Retirement Obligations” and FIN No.47, "Accounting
for Conditional Asset-Retirement Obligations - an interpretation
of FASB Statement No.143.” FIN No.47 requires the recognition of
a liability for the fair value of a legal obligation to perform asset-
retirement obligations [AROs] that are conditional on a future event if
the amaunt can be reasonably estimated. The company has identified
AROs related to certain of its leased facilities and to asbestos reme-
diation activities that may be required in the future. The company
records liabilities for AROs at the time they are identified and when
they reasonably can be estimated. However, due to the long-term,
preductive nature of the company’s manufacturing operations, absent
plans ar expectation of plans to initiate asset retirement activities,
the company is unable to reasenably estimate the fair value of such
asbestos rernediation liabilities since the potential settlement dates
cannot be determined at this time.

Guarantees FIN No.45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others,” requires the recognition of a liability for any
guarantees entered into or modified. At December 31, 2006, the com-
pany had guaranteed the timely performance of payment obligations
under supplier contracts by a third-party purchaser of the company's
food ingredients and industrial specialties (FIIS) business. The com-
pany believed that it was highly untikely that an event would occur
requiring the company to pay any monies pursuant to the guarantee.
On November 5, 2007, the company terminated the guarantee, which
originally extended to January 31, 2008. Accordingly, no liability was
reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2007 and 2004 (see Note 18]. The company did not
have any other material guarantees within the scope of FIN No. 45 at
Decermnber 31, 2007 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMERNTS continuep
(In Millions Except Per Share Datal

Stock-Based Compensation Effective January 1, 2006, the com-
pany adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
"Share-Based Payment,” using the modified praspective transition
method and therefore has not restated results for prior periods.
Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense
for 2006 includes compensation expense for all stock-based com-
pensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, January
1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance
with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.” Stock-based compensation expense for all
stock-based compensation awards granted after January 1, 2006 is
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No.123R. The company recognizes these com-
pensation costs, net of a forfeiture rate, on a straight-line basis over
the reguisite service period of the award, which generally is the
aption vesting term of three years with the options becoming exercis-
able 50% one year after date of grant, 75% after two years and 100%
after three years. The company estimates the forfeiture rate based
on its historical experience during the preceding 10 years.

The following table shows the pro forma effect on net
income and earnings per share if the company had applied the fair-
value recognition provisions of SFAS No, 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation for
2005. There is no pre forma presentation necessary after December
31, 2005 as the company adopted the fair value recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006.

2005

Reported Net iNCOMB ... v.irvr ettt ea e air e e aeaeaanes $187.2
Plus: Stock-based employee compensation [net of tax]

included innetincome L. ... e 5.5
Less: Stack-based employee compensation [net of tax]

using the fairvalue methed .. ... ... ...l LY
Protormanetintome. ... vue i virt e ier e $186.2
Reported net income per share, basic ............... oo i, @
Pra forma net income per share, basic ... oL $_2_'.E
Reported net income per share, diluted .......................... ﬂ
Pro forma net income per share, dituted ... ........... ... ... ﬂ

Fair Vatue Measurements In September 2006, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This statement defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with U.5. GAAP and expands disclesure about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not expand the use of fair value
measures in financial statements, but simplifies and codifies related
guidance within U.S. GAAP. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value
hierarchy using observable market data as the highest level and an
entity's own fair value assumptions as the lowest level. SFAS No. 157
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and
interim periods within those years. SFAS No.157 requires adop-
tion prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which this
statement is initially applied, with the exception of certain financial
instruments, in which adoption is applied retrospectively as of the
beginning of the fiscal year in which this statement initially is applied.
The company currently is evaluating the impact of this standard on
its consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.™

This statement permits entities to make an irrevocable election to
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair
value at specified election dates. The fair value option may be applied
instrument by instrument and, if applied, then it must be applied
to the entire instrument. Unrealized gains and losses on items for
which the entity elects the fair value option are reported in earnings.
SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of the fis-
cal year that begins on or befare November 15, 2007, provided the
entity also elects to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements.” Entities are not permitted to apply this statement
retrospectively to the fiscal years preceding the effective date unless
the entity chooses early adoption. The company currently is evaluat-
ing the impact of this recently issued standard on its consolidated
financial statements.

Business Combinations In December 2007, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 141 [revised 2007), "Business Combinations.” This state-
ment replaces SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations,” and requires
an acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed
and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition
date, measured at their fair values as of that date, with limited excep-
tions. SFAS No.141R requires costs incurred to effect the acquisi-
tion to be recognized separately from the acquisition as period costs.
SFAS No. 141R also requires the acquirer to recognize restructuring
costs that the acquirer expects to incur, but is not obligated to incur,
separately from the business combination. In addition, this statement
requires an acquirer to recognize assets and liabilities assumed
arising from contractual contingencies as of the acquisition date,
measured at their acquisition-date fair values. Other key provisions of
this statement include the requirement to recognize the acquisition-
date fair values of research and development assets separately from
goodwill and the requirement to recognize changes in the amount of
deferred tax benefits that are recognizable due to the business com-
bination in either income from continuing operations in the period
of the combination or directly in contributed capital, depending on
the circumstances. At December 31, 2007, the campany had amounts
recorded in its financial statements for unrecognized tax benefits
and valuation allowances related to past acquisitions. Any reversal
of these amounts prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 141R would affect
goodwill. However, subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No.141R,
any reversals would affect the income tax provision in the period of
reversal. With the exception of certain tax-related aspects described
above, this statement applies prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reparting period after December 15, 2008. The company cur-
rently is evaluating the impact of this recently issued standard on its
consolidated financial statements.

Reclassifications Certain prior period amounts have been reclas-
sified to conform to the current year presentation.
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NOTE 3 - ACQUISITIONS

On November 1, 2007, the company completed the acquisition of the
refrigeration lubricants business of Croda International Plc (Crodal
for approximately $124.6 million in cash. The acquisition primarily
included lubricant technology, trade names, customer lists, manu-
facturing know-how and inventory. No manufacturing facilities were
included in the transaction. The company began consolidating the
results of the refrigeration lubricants business of Croda in the
company's consolidated financial statements in November 2007.
Revenues in 2007 for this business, which were included in the com-
pany's consolidated results, were approximately $8.3 million. The
preliminary purchase price allocatien for this acquisition included
goodwill of $53.3 million and intangible assets of $64.7 million,

On February 7, 2007, the company completed the acquisi-
tion of a broad line of additive products used in the metalworking
markets worldwide from Lockhart Chemical Company {Lockhart] for
approximately $15.7 million in cash. The company purchased Lock-
hart's entire metalworking product line, which included natural, syn-
thetic and gelled sulfonates; emulsifier packages; corrosioninhibitors
and lubricity agents; grease additives; oxidates; esters; soap; semi-
finished coatings; and rust preventatives. The company began con-
solidating the results of the metatworking business of Lockhart in
the company's consolidated financial statements in February 2007,
In 2007, these product lines contributed revenues of $16.8 million to
the company’s consolidated results. The purchase price aliocation
for this acquisition included goodwill of $8.3 miltion and intangible
assets of $7.6 million.

The pro forma impacts of acquisitions in 2007 were imma-
terial to the company’s consolidated financial statements.

NOTE & - DIVESTITURES

n May 2005, the company sold the FIIS business and the active phar-
maceutical ingredients and intermediate compounds business [A&II,
both of which were included in the Lubrizo! Advanced Materials seg-
ment. A&| and almost all of FIIS were included in the Novean® con-
sumer specialties product line. A small portion of the FIIS divestiture
was included in the performance coatings product line. In consid-
eration for the FIS and A&I businesses, the company received net
cash proceeds of approximately $254.8 million and $10.4 million,
respectively. The company recorded a $10.4 million pretax {$15.9
million after tax] loss on the sale of these divested businesses. The
tax charge of $5.5 million primarily related to the difference in book
and tax basis in goodwill. The net charge of $76.2 million recorded
in discontinued operations in 2004 also reflected a $40.6 million
after-tax goodwill impairment charge in the first quarter of 2006 to
reduce the FIIS business to its estimated fair value, The company
performed the impairment test on the FIIS business in connection
with its classification as held for sale and estimated its fair value
based on expected proceeds from the sale, less transaction costs. In
addition, a charge of $4.4 million pretax ($2.9 million after tax) was
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2006 to write-off an intangible asset
associated with the FIIS business.

In February 2006, the company sold certain assets and
liabilities of its Tetene® resins business (Telene), which was included
in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment. The company received
net cash proceeds of $4.2 million for the sale of Telene.

The results of the FIIS, A&l and the Telene businesses
were reflected in the income [loss) from discontinued operations -
net of tax line item in the consolidated statements of incame for 2004
and 2003.

In Decermnber 2005, the company sold certain assets, lia-
bilities and stock of its Engine Control Systems [ECS] business and,
in September 2005, the company sold certain assets and liabilities
of its U.S. and U.K. Lubrizol Performance Systerns (LPS) operations,
both of which were included in the Lubrizol Additives segment. The
company reflected the results of these businesses in the income
(loss) from discontinued operations - net of tax line item in the con-
solidated statement of income for 2005.

Revenues from discontinued operations were $143.8 mil-
lion and $476.7 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Loss from
discontinued operations - net of tax was $74.2 million in 2006 and
primarily related to a $60.6 million after-tax goodwill impairment
charge on the FIIS business recorded in the first quarter of 2006 and
a $16.6 million after-tax loss on the sale of divested businesses. Loss
from discontinued operations - net of tax in 2006 included income tax
expense of $9.4 millioen. Income from discontinued operations - net
of tax in 2005 was $27.8 million and included income tax expense of
$15.5 million.

The company’s consolidated balance sheets at December
31, 2007 and 2004 do not reflect any businesses classified as discon-
tinued operations as all activities related to discontinued operations
were completed during 2006.

NOTE 5 - INVENTORIES

2007 2005
Finished products . ......................... 1$332L7 $315.0
Products I Process ..........ovviinniiain., 110570] 108.2
Rawmaterials .........oocvvvei i 13282} 138.2
Supplies and engine testparts _.............. _ g 278
Totalinventory . ......coooveiiiieiieeans S $589.0

Inventories valued using the LIFO method were 37% and 40% of con-
solidated inventories at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The current replacement cost of these inventories exceeded the LIFQ
cost at December 31, 2007 and 2006 by $147.4 miltion and $132.8
million, respectively.

MOTE 6 - GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Goodwilt is tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level as of October 1 of each year or if events or circumstances occur
that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting
unit below its carrying amount. No impairment of goodwill was iden-
tified in connection with the 2007, 2006 or 2005 annual impairment
test. However, during the first quarter of 2004, the company recog-
nized a $60.6 million impairment charge related to the FIIS business

" (see Note 4.
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The carrying amount of goodwill by reporting segment follows:

Lubrizol
Advanced Lubrizel
Materials Additives Total
Balance, January 1,2006 ........... $1,043.0 $ 95.8 $1,1388
Goodwill of divestitures. . ......... 187.61 - (87.6)
Translation and other adjustments . 229 2.0 249
Balance, December 31,2006, ....... 978.3 97.8 1,076.1
Goodwill acquired ............... e (5194 [6175)
Translation and otber adjustments., 3214) _ a3
Balance, December 31,2007 ........ Emiﬂ

The goodwill acquired in 2007 related to the acquisitions
from Lockhart and Croda.

Intangible Assets The major components of the company’s identi-
fiable intangible assets are customer lists, technology, trademarks,
patents, land-use rights and non-compete agreements. Definite-lived
intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives, which range
between 3 and 50 years. The company’s indefinite-lived intangible
assets include certain trademarks that are tested for impairment
each year as of October 1 or more frequently if impairment indicators
arise. Indefinite-lived trademarks are assessed for impairment sep-
arately from goodwill. No impairment of indefinite-lived trademarks
was identified in connection with the 2007, 2006 or 2005 annual
impairment test. However, during the fourth quarter of 2006, the
company recognized a $41.2 million write-down of the Noveon trade
name in the Lubrizol Advanced Materiats segment [see Note 17).

The following table shows the components of identifiable
intangible assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
Gross) Gross
Carcying Carrying Accumulated
Aot Amount  Amortization
Amortized
intangible assets:
Customer lists. . ... [$195'5] 8 aa0 $1450 - $24.0
Technology. ... ..... T 558 139.8 - 449
Trademarks. . ..... 227¢) 721 20.7 5.5
Patents........... 4% 517} 14.0 6.2
Land-use rights . .. §10:3} %5} 7.5 1.2
Non-compete
agreements .. ... as jifo} 8.2 7.2
Other............. _° __®° 0.9 0.7
Total amortized
intangible
assets ........ 14,0.775] TEY 336.1 87.7
MNon-amortized

trademarks......... 8419 2] 744 -
Total............. s GIE $410.5 $87.7
[ e—— ] — —

The increase in intangible assets in 2007 primarily related
to the acquisitions of Lockhart and Croda. Annual intangible amorti-
zation expense for the next five years will approximate $25.8 million
in 2008, $24.1 million in 2009, $23.9 million in 2010, $23.8 million in
2011 and $23.4 million in 2012
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WNOTE 7 - DEBT

The company’s debt was comprised of the following at December 31,
2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
Shart-term debt:
Current portion of lang-termdebt ................. game(s 10
Yen denominated, at weighted-average rate of 0.8% . . a 25
Other ... o e e 0.2
Totalshort-termdebt.............................. Eg % $ 37
. —_——

Long-term debt:

5.875% notes, due 2008, including a fair value
adjustment of $2.1 million and $(1.1} million in
2007 and 2006, respectively, for unreatized
gains [losses) on derivative hedge instruments
and remaining unamortized gain on termination
of swaps of $2.5 million and $5.2 million in
2007 and 2006, respectively .. ................... G and | $ 200

4.625% notes, due 2009, net of original issue discount
of $0.1 million and $0.2 million in 2007 and 2006,
respectively, and fair value adjustments of
$12.0) million and $[4.1) miltien tor unrealized
losses on derivative hedge instruments in 2007
and 2006, respectively . ..................oll 1379 3715

5.5% notes, due 2014, net of original issue
discount of $2.2 million and $2.4 million in

2007 and 2004, respectively ... ..oeenaennn.... 40 76) 4474
7.25% debentures, due 2025 ... ...... ..o 1100'0] 100.0
6.5% debentures, due 2034, net of original issue

discount of $4.8 million in 2007 and 2006 . ... ... 29512 295.2
Debt supported by long-term banking arrangermnents: ‘

Eurg revolving credit borrowing, at EURIBOR plus

0.4% [4.1% at December 31, 2008F. . .............. o 112.2
LA U .48 24

1742818 1,539.0

Less: current portion of long-term debt .......... ... 20535 1.0

Totatlong-termdebt .............coovveriiirinnnnnns OFRE | $1,5380
0

The scheduled principal payments for all outstanding debt
are $200.3 million in 2008, $382.2 million in 2009, $0.3 miltion in
2010, $0.3 million in 2011, $0.2 millien in 2012 and $850.0 millien
thereafter.

During the third quarter of 2006, the company repurchased
$18.2 mitlion of its 4.625% notes due in 2009. The weighted-average
purchase price was 97.298% per note, resulting in a gain on retire-
ment of $0.5 million. The company also accelerated amortization
of $0.6 million in debt issuance costs, original issue discounts and
losses on Treasury rate lock agreements associated with the repur-
chased notes. The remaining outstanding batance on the 4.625%
notes due in 200% was $381.8 million at December 31, 2007.

In September 2009, certain wholly owned international
subsidiaries of the company entered into a five-year unsecured com-
mitted €250.0 million revolving credit agreement. This credit agree-
ment permilts these designated international subsidiaries to borrow
at variable rates based on EURIBOR plus a specified credit spread. In
September 2006, two of the company’s wholly owned foreign subsid-
iaries amended their five-year unsecured committed €£250.0 million




credit agreement such that neither the company nor its subsidiaries
are subject any longer to any investment or acquisition restrictions.
No other terms or conditions of the agreement were modified. At
December 31, 2007, the company had no outstanding borrowings
under this agreement. At December 31, 2006, borrowings of €85.0
million were outstanding under this agreement.

In November 2004, the company entered into interest rate
swap agreements that effectively converted the interest on $200.0
million of outstanding 4.625% notes due 2009 to a variable rate of
six-month LIBOR plus 40 basis points. In June 2004, the company
entered into interest rate swap agreements that effectively con-
verted the interest on $200.0 miltion of outstanding 5.875% notes
due 2008 to a variable rate of six-month LIBOR plus 111 basis points.
In addition, the company had an interest rate swap agreement, which
expired in October 2004, that exchanged variable-rate interest obli-
gations on a notional principal amount of Japanese yen 500.0 million
for a fixed rate of 2.0%.

In September 2004, the company issued seniorunsecured
notes and debentures having an aggregate principal amount of
$1,150.0 miltion including: $400.0 million 4.625% notes due October
1. 2009; $450.0 million 5.5% notes due October 1, 2014; and $300.0
mitlion §.5% debentures due October 1, 2034. The price to the public
was 79.911% per 2009 note, 99.339% per 2014 note and 98.341% per
2034 debenture. The resulting original issue discount from the issu-
ance of these notes and debentures of $8.3 million was recorded as
a reduction of the underlying debt issuances and is being amortized
over the tife of the debt using the effective interest method. Interest
is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year,
beginning April 1, 2005. The notes and debentures have no sinking
fund requirement, but are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the
option of the company. The proceeds from these notes and deben-
tures were used to repay a portion of the 364-day credit facility that
was utilized ta bridge finance the Noveon International, Inc. [Noveon
Internationall acquisition. Including debt issuance costs, original issue
discounts and losses on Treasury rate lock agreements, the 2009
notes, 2014 notes and 2034 debentures have effective annualized
interest rates of approximately 5.3%, 6.3% and 6.7%, respectively,
with a weighted-average interest rate for the aggregate issuances of
approximately 6.1%.

In August 2004, the company entered into a five-year
$1.075.0 million unsecured bank credit agreement consisting of:
$575.0 million in term loans and a $500.0 million committed revelving
credit facility. This credit agreement permits the company to borrow
at variable rates based upon the U.5. prime rate or LIBOR plus a
specified spread. The spread is dependent on the company’s long-
term unsecured senior debt rating from Standard and Poor’'s and
Moody's Investor Services. in September 2004, the company bor-
rowed $575.0 million in term loans, the proceeds of which were used
to repay a portion of the 364-day credit facility used to bridge finance
the Noveon International acquisition. Principal on the term loans
was due quarterly in equal installments of $14.4 million beginning
March 31, 2005, with any remaining unpaid balance due in September
2009. in the fourth quarter of 2004, the company prepaid $75.0 mil-
lion and, in 2005, the company prepaid the remaining $500.0 million
to pay off the bank term loan. The loans were prepayable at any time
without penalty. In September 2006, the company amended its five-
year unsecured committed U.S. bank credit agreement to reduce

the amount of revolving credit available under the agreement from
$500.0 million to $350.0 million and extended the maturity date
to September 2011. In addition, the company’s direct and indirect
domestic subsidiaries were released as guarantors under the credit
agreement, and the company no longer is subject to any investment
or acquisition restrictions. Due to provisions in each of the three
indentures underlying the company’s outstanding public debt, upon
effectiveness of the amendment to the credit agreement described
above, the company’s direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries were
released as guarantors of the outstanding public debt effective in
September 2006. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the company had
$350.0 million available under the revolving credit facility.

In July 2002, the company terminated its interest rate
swap agreements expiring December 2008, which converted fixed-
rate interest on $100.0 million of its 5.875% dehentures to a variable
rate. In terminating the swaps, the company received cash of $18.1
mitlion, which is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense
through December 1, 2008, the due date of the underlying debt.
Gains and losses on terminations of interest rate swap agreements
designated as fair value hedges are deferred as an adjustment to
the carrying amount of the outstanding obligation and amortized as
an adjustment to interest expense related to the obligation over the
remaining term of the original contract life of the terminated swap
agreement. In the event of early extinguishment of the outstanding
obligation, any unamortized gain or loss from the swaps would be
recognized in the consolidated statement of income at the time of
such extinguishment. In 2002, the company recorded a $17.3 million
unrealized gain, net of accrued interest, on the termination of the
interest rate swaps as an increase in the underlying long-term debt.
The remaining unrealized gain was $2.5 million and $5.2 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2004, respectively.

In November 1998, the company issued notes having an
aggregate principal amount of $200.0 million, The notes are unse-
cured, senior obligations of the company that mature on December 1,
2008, and bear interest at 5.875% per annum, payable semi-annually
on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The notes have no sinking
fund requirement but are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the-
option of the company. The company incurred debt issuance costs
aggregating $10.5 miltion, including a loss of $4.5 million related
to closed Treasury rate lock agreements originally entered into as
a hedge against changes in interest rates relative to the anticipated
issuance of these notes.

The company has debentures outstanding, issued in June
1995, in an aggregate principal amount of $100.0 million. These
debentures are unsecured, senior obligations of the company that
mature on June 15, 2025, and bear interest at an annualized rate of
7.25%, payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each
year, The debentures are not redeemable prior te maturity and are
not subject to any sinking fund requirements.

The company's credit facilities contain restrictive cove-
nants and require compliance with financial ratios, including debt to
consolidated earnings before income taxes, depreciation and amorti-
zation (EBITDA) ias defined in the credit facilities} and consolidated
EBITDA (as defined in the credit facilities) to interest expense. At
December 31, 2007, the company was in compliance with all of its
debt covenants,
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At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the company had $35.7
million and $45.7 million, respectively, of contingent obligations
under standby letters of credit issued in the ordinary course of busi-
ness to financial institutions, customers and insurance companies to
secure short-term support for a variety of commercial transactions,
insurance and benefit programs.

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, was $91.5 million,
$98.2 million and $104.3 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively. The amount of interest capitalized during 2007, 2086 and 2005
was $1.7 million, $1.5 million and $0.7 million, respectively.

NOTE 8 - FINARCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company has various financial instruments, including cash and
short-term investments, investments in nonconsolidated companies,
foreign currency forward contracts, commodity forward contracts,
interest rate swaps and short-term and long-term debt. The company
has determined the estimated fair value of these financial instru-
ments by using available market information and generally accepted
valuation methodolegies. The use of different market assumptions or
estimation methodologies could have a material effect on the esti-
mated fair value amounts. The estimated fair value of the company’s
debt instruments at December 31, 2007 and 2006 approximated
$1,406.1 million and $1,533.5 million, compared with the carrying
value of $1,428.8 miltion and $1,541.7 million, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk frem changes in
interest rates. The company’s policy is to manage interest expense
using a mix of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. To manage this mix
in 3 cost-efficient manner, the company may enter into interest rate
swaps in which the company agrees to exchange, at specified inter-
vals, the difference between fixed and variable interest amounts cal-
culated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount.
interest payments receivable and payable under the terms of the
interest rate swap agreements are accrued over the period to which
the payment relates and the net difference is treated as an adjust-
ment of interest expense related to the underlying liability.

In Novermber 2004, the company entered into interest rate
swap agreements that effectively convert the interest on $200.0 mil-
lion of outstanding 4.625% notes due 2009 to a variable rate of six-
month LIBOR plus 40 basis points. The fair value of the interest rate
swaps included in long-term debt was $(2.0) million and $[4.1} mil-
lion at December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. In June 2004, the
company entered into interest rate swap agreements that effectively
convert the interest on $200.0 million of autstanding 5.875% notes
due 2008 to a variable rate of six-month LIBOR plus 111 basis points.
The fair value of the interest rate swaps included in short-term and
long-term debt was $2.1 million and ${1.1] million at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. These swaps are designated as fair-value
hedges of underlying fixed-rate debt obligations and are recorded as
an adjustment to either short-term or tong-term debt and current
or noncurrent assets or liabilities. These interest rate swaps qualify
for the short-cut method for assessing hedge effectiveness per SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties.” Changes in fair value of the swaps are offset by the change in
fair value of the underlying debt. As a result, there was no impact to
earnings in 2007, 2006 or 2005 due to hedge ineffectiveness.
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The company atso had an interest rate swap agreement
that matured in October 2006 that exchanged variable-rate interest
obligations for a fixed rate on a notional principal amount of Japanese
yen 500.0 million. This interest rate swap was designated as a cash-
flow hedge.

In June 2004, the company entered inte several Treasury
rate lock agreements with an aggregate notional principal amount
of $900.0 million, all maturing September 30, 2004, whereby the
company had locked in Treasury rates relating to a portion of the then
anticipated public debt securities issuance. These rate locks were
designated as cash-flow hedges of the forecasted semi-annual
interest payments associated with the expected debt issuance. In
September 2004, the company incurred a pretax loss on the termina-
tion of these agreements in an aggregate amount of $73.% million.
Gains and losses on terminations of Treasury rate lock agreements
designated as cash-flow hedges are deferred and amortized as an
adjustment to interest expense over the life of the correspending
debt issuance using the effective interest method. The unamortized
balance of the Treasury rate lock recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of tax, was $38.2 million and $41.2 mil-
lion at Decemnber 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The company is exposed to the effect of changes in foreign
currency rates on its earnings and cash flow as a result of deing busi-
ness internationally. In addition to working capital management,
pricing and sourcing, the company selectively uses foreign currency
forward contracts to lessen the potential effect of currency changes.
The maximum amount of foreign currency forward contracts out-
standing at any one time was $94.3 million in 2007, $35.5 million in
2004 and $34.4 million in 2005. At December 31, 2007, the company
had short-term forward contracts to buy or sell currencies at various
dates during 2008 for $12.9 million. At December 31, 2004, the com-
pany had short-term forward contracts to buy or sell currencies at
various dates during 2007 for $28.8 mitlion, Changes in the fair value
of these contracts are recorded in other income. The fair value of
these instruments at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related
adjustments recarded in other income, were an unrealized gain of
$0.1 million and $0.2 millien, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes
in commodity prices. The company uses financial instruments to
manage the cost of natural gas and electricity purchases. These
contracts have been designated as cash-flow hedges and, accord-
ingly, any effective unrealized gains or losses on open contracts are
recorded in other comprehensive income or loss, net of related tax
effects. At December 31, 2007 and 2004, the notional amounts of
open contracts totaled $15.1 millien and $15.0 million, respectively. A
hedge Liability of $0.8 million [$0.5 million net of tax] and $1.9 million
{$1.2 million net of tax) was recorded at December 31, 2007 and 2005,
respectively, which represents the net unrealized losses or gains
based upon current futures prices at that date. Ineffectiveness was
determined to be immaterial in 2007 and 2006. Contract maturities
are less than 24 months. The company expects that approximately
$0.8 million of these losses will be reclassified into earnings within
the next 12 months.




NOTE ¢ - OTHER BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

2007 2006

Receivables:
Customers ..........ocooiiiiniaiiin. [$58274) $509.3
Affiliates ... ... ... 772 4.0
Other ..o D _ 603
TOWL .o como $573.6
== -

Receivables are net of atlowance for doubtful accounts of $4.3 mil-
lion and $7.5 millien at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

2007 2005
Property and equipment - at cost:
Land and improvements................... 8 FAG $ 177.0
Buildings and improvements ............... 457.8
Machinery and eguipment ................. \11994%0) 1,820.2
Constructioninprogress .................. 1387} ?1.0
Total .. GEA | $2566.0

Depreciation expense of property and equipment from con-
tinuing operations was $137.1 million, $133.3 million and $139.4 mil-
lion in 2007, 2066 and 2005, respectively. Depreciation expense of
property and equipment frem discontinued operations was $4.4 mil-

lion in 2006 and $15.2 midlion in 2005.

/

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:

Employee compensation .................. 1130} $108.1
INCOME LAXES . i iiriiriraeninas 2.142] 485
Sales allowances andrebates .............. b8t 33.8
Taxes other thanincome .................. 2753] Nz
Interast ... ... ... e b1 6¥4) 17.9
Other ... e B _ 507
B ﬁ@ $250.2

—_ —_—

Dividends payabte at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were
$20.5 millien and $17.9 miltion, respectively, and are included in
accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets.

HOTE 10 - SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

The company has 147.0 million autherized shares cansisting of
2.0 mitlien shares of serial preferred stock, 25.0 miltion shares of
serial preference shares and 120.0 million common shares, each of
which is without par value. Common shares outstanding exclude
common shares held in treasury of 17.8 million and 17.2 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2005, respectively.

The company previously had a shareholder rights plan,
which expired in Octaber 2007. No rights were issued under the
ptan and they were delisted from the New York Stock Exchange and
deregistered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Accumulated other comprehensive income [loss) shown in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity at December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 is comprised of the following:

Foreign Unrealized Unrecognized Accumulated
Currency Treasury [Losses) Gains Pension Plan and Other
Translation Rate on Cash Flow Other Postretirement  Comprehensive
Adjustment Locks Hedges Benefit Costs Income {Loas)

Balance, January 1,2005.................... $ B9.0 $[47.4) $ - $128.9) $ 127
Other comprehensive {lass] income:

Pretas ... {114.5) L4 (0.8 119.9] 132.0)

Tax benefit [provision] ..................... 1.4 __h5 _ 03 54 58

Total L. _114.9] 29 _lo5) _h3.7] _h26.2)
Balance, December31,2005. ... ............. [25.9] [44.5] {o.51 142.8) (113.9)
Other comprehensive income [loss):

Pretax ...oven i 80.2 5.0 {1.00 46.8 131.0

Tax lprovision) benefit ..................... __[o2) _ha _ 03 _113.9] __15.5)

Totak, e 80,0 33 _[o7 329 _Ns5
Adjustment to recognize pension and gther

postretirement benefit plans funded status:

Pretax . ...ooovvieiinei i - - - [32.8) [92.8)

Taxbenefit ...l - - - _300 __ 300

Total . - - - _ls2.8} _1s2.8)
Balance, December31,2006................. 54.1 [41.2§ 1.2) (72,5} 160.8)
Other comprehensive income:

Pretax ..o e 3474 &g J1N] 4576} iﬁﬁ:}

Tax benefit [provision) ..................... _.® [(157)] 7@@] @ i{%ﬂ]

Total . s ap o 13187 L{ﬁ‘»:
Balance, December 31,2007 ................. &}8‘ @8} <EI%@J @ ;37:&‘);2
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NOTE 11 - OTHER INCOME - NET

2007 l 2006 2005
Gain on sale of Bayport, R 3 ]
TeXas Property .......vvveveraenns [65T0RM $ - $ -
Currency exchange/transaction p )
gain(loss] ... ..ol 210 [2.9] {0.8)
Settlement of insurance and e
legalmatters .................00. (0743 1.6 -
Equity earnings of noncensclidated .
COMPANIeSs . ......covvveennnnnns. 1524 1.0 0.8
Minarity interest in earnings of e
consolidated companies . .......... Ba - 14,1} n.n
Other-net .......ooveiiennianannn.. GH 29 33
Total . ... $8'8 $8.5 $18
[ ) — —

Dividends received from nonconsolidated companies were $0.9 mil-
lion in 2007, $0.2 million in 2006 and $0.9 million in 2005.
HOTE 12 - INCOME TAXES

Income from continuing operations before income taxes consists of
the following:

2007 2004 2005
United States .. .......ooveneeeiois 1$13110] $ 755 $ 40.2
Foreign .........ooooiiiiiiiaii. ) 1885 _200.0
Total . ...l 53 $242.0 $240.2
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations
consists of the following:
2007 2006 2005
Current:
United States: )
Federal ........oovvvvevvvnnns- sz %39 $ 4.0
State. . ......ieiii an 0.7 (0.2)
Foreign ........o.oieririenanannns By 482 675
s |  ws  ma
Deferred: IR
United States:
Federal ....................... 259 8.6 9.5
State e g 85 6.1
FOT@ign . ..vvevererrnrnieinienes ) 915 : 15 s
YR
Total ... $822 @
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The differences between the provision for income taxes at
the U.S. statutory rate and the tax shown in the consolidated state-
ments of income are summarized as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Tax at statutaryrate of 35% ......... $13917) $91.7 $84.1
U.5. and foreign tax on

foreign dividends .. .............. (4Y2] 7.7 8.1
U.S. tax benefit on exports .......... (075!} [4.1) (5.0
State and local income taxes........ fan 5.1 38
Untaxed translation gains .......... BA [0.5] 10.8)
Provision impacts of

foreign operations .. ............. [(26Y8)] 119.3} 1.4
Other-net .........ovvvvvivnvnnns 176) 1.6 20
Provision for income taxes. ......... 15,1157} $82.2 480.8

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to
significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December
31 are as follows:

2007 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued compensation and benefits. _.......... %1387 $148.4
IOWENEOMY o vt f2214) 224
Cashflowhedges. ..................coviiann j20'8] 229
Net operating losses and tax credits
carried forward . ... oL j1319) 29.9
Other .o R51E) _ 238
Totat gross deferred taxassets ................. Eﬂ,ﬂ 247.4
Less: valuation allowance ................ .. ... M _17.8)
Net deferred taxassets ........................ H@ 2294
Deferred tax tiabilities:
Depreciation and other basis ditferences ....... 121776} 203.8
Foreign subsidiary and affiliate
undistributed earnings . ...........o 7| 7.9
Oher © e e e _@ _ns
Total gross deferred tax tiabilities .......... ... ' ﬂ@ 2234
Net deferred tax tiabilities] assets .. ... .......... 8End | $ 60
: i —

At December 31, 2007, the company had state and foreign
net operating loss carryforwards [NOLs}. The company had $8.4 mil-
lion of state tax benefit from NOLs that expire in 2008 through 2027.
Foreign NOLs totaled $19.2 million, of which $15.2 million expire in
2009 through 2022 and $4.0 million have an indefinite life. Addition-
ally, the company has incurred losses in a foreign jurisdiction where
realization of the future economic benefit is so remote that the bene-
fitis not reflected as a deferred tax asset,
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Gross deferred tax assets at December 31, 2007 and 2004
were reduced by valuation allowances of $18.7 million and $17.8 mil-
lion, respectively, to reflect the amounts expected to be realized.
Of the $18.7 million in valuation allowances at December 31, 2007,
$9.4 million relates to certain Noveon International deferred tax
assets existing at the time of the 2004 acquisition. Any reversal of
this partion of the valuation allowance reduces goadwill. U.S. income
taxes and foreign withholding taxes are not provided on undistributed
earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are considered to be indefi-
nitely reinvested in the operations of such subsidiaries. The amount
of these earnings was approximately $753.0 million at December 31,
2007. Determination of the net amount of unrecognized taxes with
respect to these earnings is not practicable.

Income taxes paid during 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $81.4
million, $72.9 million and $75.7 million, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2007, the company adopted the provi-
sions of FIN No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” FIN
No.48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attri-
bute for tax positions taken or expected to be taken in tax returns.

Under FIN No. 48, the economic benefit associated with a tax position -

onty will be recognized if it is more likely than not that a tax position
ultimately will be sustained. After this threshold is met, a tax position
is reported at the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than
not to be ultimalely sustained. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods and disclosure. Prior to January 1, 2007, the com-
pany regularly assessed positions with regard to tax expesures and
recorded liabilities for uncertain income tax positions in accordance
with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies.”

As a result of adopting FIN No.48 on January 1, 2007, the
company recognized an $8.9 mitlion reduction to retained earnings
and a $5.4 millicn increase to goodwill for pre-acquisition income tax
liabilities of Noveon international. At January 1, 2007, after recording
this FIN No. 48 adoption impact, the company had gross unrecognized
tax benefits of $57.8 million, of which $38.8 millian, if recognized,
would have affected the effective tax rate. At December 31, 2007,
the company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $59.3 million,
of which $39.3 million, if recognized, would have affected the effective
tax rate. Fotlowing is a reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits:

Balance at January 1, 2007 ... .. .. . e
Additions:
Currentyeartax positions ......... ... ... vivrvreririnennnn.
Prior yearstax pesitions .. ........ ..o i

Reductions for prior years tax positions ._..... e

Egsg §

Expirations of statutes of timitations ............... ... .coiini..
SetHemMBNLS .. . e 10%1)]

8]

The increase in prior-year tax positions primarily wash

to an unfavorable foreign currency translation impact. The company
recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits as a component of the income tax provision. During the
year ended December 31, 2007, the company recognized gross inter-
est expense of $4.2 million and gross interest income of $3.2 mil-
lion in its consolidated statement of incorne. At December 31, 2007
and 2004, the company had accrued $7.7 million and $7.1 million,
respectively, for the potential payment of interest and penalties.

The company operates in numerous taxing jurisdictions
and is subject to regular examinations by various U.S. federal, stale
and foreign jurisdictions. The company’s income tax positions are
based on research and interpretations of the income tax laws and
rulings in each of the jurisdictions in which the company does busi-
ness. Due to the subjectivity of interpretations of laws and rutings in
each jurisdiction, the differences and interplay in tax laws between
those jurisdictions and difficulty in estimating the final resolution of
complex tax audit matters, the company’'s estimates of income tax
liabilities may differ from actual payments or assessments.

The company does not anticipate that the total unrecog-
nized tax benefits will change significantly due to the settlement of
audits and the expiration of statute of timitations within one year of
December 31, 2007.

With few exceptions, the company no lenger is subject to
U.S. federal, state and local tax examinations for years before 2001
and foreign jurisdiction examinations for years before 2000.

Effective with the adoption of FIN No. 48, the majority of
the company's unrecognized tax benefits are classified as noncurrent
tiabilities because payment of cash is not expected within one year.
Prior to the adoption of FIN No. 48, the company classified unrecog-
nized tax benefits in accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

NOTE 13 - PENSION, PROFIT SHARING AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The cormpany has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans cov-
ering most employees. Pension benefits under these plans are based
on years of service and the employee’s compensation. The company's
funding policy in the United States is to contribute amounts to sat-
isfy the funding standards of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
as amended, and elsewhere to fund amounts in accordance with
local regulations. Several of the company’s smaller defined benefit
plans are not funded.

The investment objective of the funded pension plans
sponsored by the company and certain subsidiaries is to assure the
timely payment of promised benefits at 2 minimum cost consistent
with prudent standards of investment, given the strength of the com-
pany and the subsidiaries, their earnings record, the adequacy of
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each plan’s funding and the age of each entity’s work force. The plans
utilize diversified investment portfolios and seek to earn returns con-
sistent with a reasonable level of risk. The long-term expected return
on plan assets used to determine the net periodic pension cost is
based upon each entity's investment allocation and anticipated
returns for specific investment classes. In 2006, the company low-
ered the expected long-term rate of return assumption for the U.5.
pension plans 25 basis points to 8.25% (7.48% on a weighted-average
basis for all plans} based on investment mix and projected market
conditions. For 2007, the 8.25% long-term rate of return assumption
for the U.S. plans was still applicable.

As long-term asset allocation is recognized as the pri-
mary determinant of performance, the sponsering entities generally
utilize the following asset atlocation targets to achieve their plan
investment objectives: 70% equity securities and 30% debt secu-
rities. The non-U.5. plans have a slightly higher allocation to debt
securities than the U.S. plans. As appropriate, atlocation targets and
ranges may be established for various subcategories. Allocations are
reviewed periodically and adjusted as necessary.

Approved pension plan investments include, but are not
limited to: equities, fixed-income securities, venture capital, cash
and cash equivalent instruments and such other instruments {includ-
ing mutual fund investments], as the company may approve. Invest-
ments in tax-exempt securities, commodities and cptions, other than
covered calls, and the use of leverage are prohibited. Plan invest-
ment managers may use derivatives to hedge currency risk and to
maintain full investment. Any other use of derivative instruments
must be approved by the sponsoring entity.

The market values of penéion plan assets periodically are
compared to the value of plan benefit obligations. The future value of
assets, as calculated based on the expected long-term rate of return,
also are compared to expected future plan benefit distributions and
contributions to determine the sufficiency of expected plan funding
levels. Investment asset allocations are revised as appropriate.

Pian assets are invested in marketable equity securities
and fixed-income instruments. The allocation of pension plan assets
by major asset class is shown below on a weighted-average basis:

Percentage of Plan

Assets at December 31
2007 2006

Asset category:

Equity securities. . .. ... ..ooiiiaiii [65%) 68%
Debt SeCUMtiEs . ... oveereeen s, E35%3 32%
TOMBE. .o )100%%3 100%
[ e— —
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No equity or debt securities of the company or any of its
subsidiaries were included in the pension plans assets in 2007 and
2006, respectively.

The company also provides certain non-pension postre-
tirement benefits, primarily health care and life insurance benefits,
for retired employees. Most of the legacy Lubrizol full-time employ-
ees in the United States may become eligible for health care benefits
upon retirement. Full-time employees who retired between January
1, 1992 and December 31, 2002 also are eligible for life insurance
benefits. Participants contribute a portion of the cost of these ben-
efits. The company's non-pension postretirement benefit plans are
not funded. As part of the Noveon International integration efforts to
provide consistent benefits, the company communicated to employ-
ees in May 2005 changes to the benefits structure of certain of its
U.S. pension and postretirement benefit plans. This communication
triggered a remeasurement of the related benefit obligations and
net periodic benefit cost in 2005 for both the legacy Noveon Inter-
national U.S. pension plans as well as for the U.S. postretirement
benefit plan. The net impact of the benefit and actuarial assump-
tion changes reduced the company’s aggregate net periodic pension
and postretirement benefit cost by $2.5 million in 2005. The annual-
ized savings resulting from this benefits change was estimated to be
approximately $5.3 million.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-
retirement Plans - an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88,
104, and 132[R]." SFAS No. 158 requires an employer to recognize a
plan’s funded status in its statement of financial position, measure
a plan's assets and obligations as of the end of the employer’s fiscal
year and recognize the changes in a plan’s funded status in compre-
hensive income in the year in which the changes occur. SFAS No. 158's
requirement to recognize a plan's funded status and new disclosure
requirements were effective for the company as of December 31,
2006. The requirement to measure plan assets and benefit obliga-
tions as of the date of the company's fiscal year-end statement of
financial position is effective for fiscal years ending after December
15, 2008. Currently, the company measures plan assets and benefit
obligations as of the date of its fiscal year-end. The company adopted
the required provisions of SFAS No. 158 on December 31, 2006.
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The change in the projected benefit obligation and plan
assets for 2007 and 2006 and the amounts recognized in the con-
solidated balance sheets at December 31 of the company’s defined

benefit pension plans were as follows:

Pension Plans

2007 2004
USSR on UTSY U.S. Non-U.S.
Clan  Clens WED| Plans  Plans  Total
Change in Projected
Benefit Obligation:
Projected benefit
obligation at
beginning of year .. | QTR QG QARG | $ 3694 $ 2904 $659.8
Service cost ...... 1217 3115 19.5 12.2 31.7
Interest cost ...... 2440 WD 2010} 208 14.1 349
Plan participants’
contributions . . .. o 079 (0Y9) - 0.9 0.9
Actuarial gain . . ... MaAs) @A (R (35 07 (210
Currency exchange
rate change ..... o 281 W2 - 350 350
Plan amendments . )2 {1%] a8 2.5 - 25
Adjustments ., ..., = an £310) - - -
Settlements /
curtailments . ... o o o 0.6 13.4) [2.8]
Divestitures. ...... e © © [3.6) - 13.61
Benefits paid. . .. .. + g mad  ERe)  Dsil 013 (264
Projected benefit
obligation at end
ofyear ........... _Ahg  $me w0 | 3902 3208 71140
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of ptan
assets at beginning
ofyear ........... a8 HRD D) 2886 1645 4011
Actual return on
planassets ..... §1.9 7R 11" 7 S 3 13 37.0 134 50.6
Employer
contributions. . . . e mR @By 108 13.2 24.0
Plan participants’
contributions.. ... o o 009 - 09 0.9
Currency exchange
rate change . .... ] 870} 670} - 199 19.9
Adjustments .. . ... o %! 176! 0.2 1.0 12
Benefils paid. . ... o) (3  ERED D510 113) 1264)
Fair value of plan
assets at end
ofyear.......... BRHY #AQ  GRA| 2695 2018 4NJ
Funded Status. . ... .. SRED 6 (86D SR $120.71 $1119.01 $(232.7)
Net amounts
recognized in the
consolidated
balance sheets:
Other assets ...... 8 o0 a0 ap(s - ¢ 10 $ 10
Accrued expenses
and other current
liabilities ....... 4  ®  E) (02 i2e (28
Pension obligations | (EE) (AW (DOREK (12051 (117.4) (237.9)

Funded Status . ... .,

éﬁm] éﬁi&lﬂ] E{]ﬂ%ﬂ) $1120.7) $1119.01 $(239.7]

The company's defined benefit non-pension postretire-
ment plan liabilities predominately relate to U.S. plans. The change
in the projected benefit obligation and plan assets for 2007 and 2006
and the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheels at
December 31 of the company's defined benefit nen-pension postre-

tirement plans were as follows:

Non-Pension
Pestretirement Plans
2007 2006

Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:

Prajected benefit obligation at
beginningofyear ......................... i5178%9] $103.2
SErvICE COSE .o\ ovvete e eee s 176! 18
S = a8 5.4
Plan participants’ centributions ............ af 36
Actuarialgain . ...t 18%2)] 0.7l
Currency exchange rate change . ........... 4212 11
Settlements fourtailments . ................ © .5
Divestitures e 16.2)
Benefits paid 72) _ lsa

Projected benefit obligation at end efyear ... .. ) ﬂa_@ ﬁﬁg

Change in Plan Assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . . a -
Employer contributions ................... &y 48
Plan participants’ contributiens ............ &8 3.6
Benefits paid ........coooeeeiiinininnnnn. B3 _ 184l

Fair value of ptan assets at end of year ..., .... e -

Funded Status ..............coooieveenne., GBEED $(98.3]

= —

Net amaounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets:

Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities ....................... 12%]) 14.8)
Other postretirement benefil obligations . ., ., 333 1935
Funded Status ... ....ovovvnreiieinianiiiines 5(2712)] $198.31
= it
o
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The amount of net loss, prior service cost and transition obligation recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income [loss)
retated to the company’s defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans is comprised of the following:

Pension Plans Non-Pension Pestretirement Plans
fActuariall jiransition] [ActuarialllPriorSenyvicelRTCans tion]
[Netj{oss) Cost] [Netlloss] [Cost; U
Balance at January 1,2007 .................... 156219 $(1710]] $(0%3)] $(18!5]) $28%2 1$1270)] [$i7215)}
Reclassification adjustments:
Pretax ...t a9 an @9 {153 16%7]] 072} an
Tax {provisionl benefit. ...................... ﬁ[ﬂ@ _[Eﬂ] _° ;@m - as [mb@ ;@@
TOML L 8B W _@9 __ap _E) 03! _ab
Adjustment to recognize changes B
in actuarial assumptions:
o 140%2] (33]] o 5L7] o o (278}
Tax [provision] benefit. . ..................... (1278 ] _ e e L7 o o s
Total ... __@ _[Eé] :C- :@:@ ; . E :338
Balance at December 31,2007 ................. 5 (376 S 1775 502 SIT%e) 15235 aned $(20)
= = = = = == e
The accumutated benefit obligation for all defined benefit 2006

pension plans was $567.2 million and $554.6 million at December 31,

U.S Non-U.5.

2007 and 2006, respectively. The projected benefit obligation and fair Plans _ Plans Combined
value of plan assets for pension plans with projected benefit obliga- Service cost - benefits earned
tions in excess of plan assets were $703.3 million and $506.6 million, during period ... $19.5 $122 $31.7
respectively, at December 31, 2007, and $697.4 million and $456.6 Interest cost on projected
- . benefit obligation ................... 208 14.1 34.9
mitlion, respectively, at December 31, 2006.
) o ) Expected returnon plan assets ........ [18.2) (10.1) (28.3]
The accumulated benefit obligation and fair vatue of plan o . .
. . . . . Amortization of prior service costs. ... .. 1.8 0.7 2.5
assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in o . o
excess of plan assets were $366.6 million and $316.5 million, respec- | Amertization of initial net obligation...... . B 07 07
tively, at December 31, 2007, and $539.0 million and $450.6 million, | Recognized netactuarialloss .......... 3.5 5.0 8.5
respectively, at December 31, 2006. Settlement fcurtailment loss [gain). .. .. . 3.4 [0.7] 29
The company amortizes gains and losses, as well as the Net periodic pension cost. ............. $31.0 $21.9 $52.9
effects of changes in actuarial assumptions and plan provisions, over
the average remaining service period of participating employees 2005
expected to receive benefits under the plans. US.  Non-US. .
Net periodic pension cost of the company’s defined benefit Plans _ Plans Combined
pension plans consists of: Service cost - benefits earned
2007 during period ............ ..o $19.0 $103 $29.3
E% Nen=uish Interest cost on projected
Plans benefit obtigation . . ................. 19.9 12.3 32.2
Service cost - benefits earned Expected return on plan assets .. ..., . (17.1] 9.8 [26.91
during period ... $18:6 1512:7 6 3 105 Amortization of prior service costs...... 1.7 0.7 24
Ingaresfl_::o;{lont?ro]ected Amortization of initiat net obligation . ... - 0.7 0.7
enefit obligation. .. ............... 20 Wld L0°0]
9 Recognized net actuarial loss .......... 2.2 33 5.5
Expected return on ptan assets ....... 12519)) 111278)) (3437
o . ] Settlement/fcurtailment loss .. ......... - 03 03
Amorlization of prior service costs .. . ., bz31] 027 12:8) o— U o
) = o Met periodic pension cost ............. $25.7 $178 $43.5
Amortization of initial net obligation. . . . = 041] (0Y1] — — —
Racognized net actuarialloss ......... 0] &0 B ™ L of net | ] ] Land t i
iy iy e amount of net loss, prior service cost and transition
Net periodic pensioncost. . ........... 1$270] 1$20°8] an _— . P .
obligation that is expected to be recognized as a compenent of net
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periodic pension cost in 2008 is $2.9 million, $2.9 million and $0.1
million, respectively.
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Net periodic non-pension postretirement benefit cost
consists of:

2007 2004 2005
Service cast - benefits earned
duringperiod ..........c.iiiiiiiiiiins 15178 $18 $2.2
Interest cost on projected
benefit abligation . ..................... an 5.4 b4
Amortization of prior service credits ....... [16%7)] (8.4) {7.7]
Amortization of initial net obligation. ... ..., (072} 0.4 0.4
Recognized net actuarialloss ............. [153] 18 2.1
Settlement /curtailment gain. ............. e 1.1] -
Net periodic non-pension postretirement
benefitlcreditcost . ................... [$276) $(0.1) $3.4
[——] — —

The following table shows the amounts the company ck

tributed toits postretirement plans in 2006 and 2007 and the expected
contributions for 2008:

Petision Plans  Other Plans Total
2006, .. e $24.0 $4.8 $28.8
2007 ... 522 47 54.9
2008 [expected) .............. 321 5.1 37.2

The amount of net loss, prior service cost [credit) and tran-
sition obligation that is expected to be recagnized as a component of
net periodic non-pension postretirement benefit cost (credit] in 2008
is $0.9 million, $(6.8) miltion and $0.4 million, respectively.

The company’s weighted-average actuarial assumptions
used to determine pension benefit obligations for its U.S. and non-
U.5. defined benefit pension plans were as follows:

Decembar 31, zuuﬂ December 31, 2006

Expected employer centributions for pension benefits in
2008 include $1.4 million for unfunded plans. The expected con-
tributions to these plans represent an actuarial estimate of future
assumed payments based on historic retirement and payment pat-
terns. Actual amounts paid could differ from this estimate.

Contributions by participants to the non-pension post-
retirement benefit plans were $4.5 miltion and $3.6 million for the
years ending December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The following table shows the benefits expected to be paid
in each of the next five years and the aggregate benefits expected to
be paid tor the subsequent five years:

mng, s @I | US. Non-U.S. Com-
fems  (fkip Cfxd) | Plans Plans  bined

Discount rate .. .... GRS BRR GURD | 425%  4.89%  5.63%

Rate of compensa-

tionincrease...... GRS 90Rd A5D | 429%  3483%  3.9%

The company’s weighted-average assumptions used to
determine net periodic pension cost were as follows:

Pensien Other Total

Benefits Benefils Benaefits
2008, ... . $311 $9.1 $36.2
2009, . i e, 36.2 55 417
20010, 00 e 38.9 6.0 449
{1 40.8 6.5 47.3
2. s 46.6 6.9 53.5
2013-2017 ... .. 2625 40.5 303.0

2007 2006
08, OpdS @ne | VS, Non-Us. Com-
ey (e (es) | Plans  Plans  bined
Discountrate ....... OFD GO BOOR | 5.75%  4483%  5.25%
Expected long-term
return on
plan assets .. ... .. GFEFD OOSH BERL | 825%  637%  7.48%
Rate of compensation
increase ......... 16429~ 318 300} 432% 341%  392%
2005

US. HNon-U.5. Com-
Plans Plans bined

Discountrate ....... 6.20% 5.12%  5.72%

Expected long-term
return on
planassets ....... B50%  6.62% TTh

Rate of compensation

increase ......... 432% 3.466% 4.03%

Theweighted-average discount rates used to determine the
company’'s other postretirement benefit obligations were 6.45% and
5.99% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The weighted-
average discount rates used to determine net periodic non-pension
postretirement benefit cost were 5.99%, 5.50% and 6.15% for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The other benefits in the above table are presented net of
expected Medicare Part D subsidy payments of $0.7 million in 2008,
$0.8 million in 2009, $0.9 million in 2010, $1.0 million in 2011, $1.1
million in 2012 and $4.1 million in 2013 - 2017. The weighted-average
of the assumed health care cost trend rates used in measuring the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for the company’s
postretirement benefit plans at December 31, 2007 was 8.28% (9.11%
at December 31, 2006), with subsequent annual decrements to an
ultimate trend rate of 5.14% by 2012. The assumed health care cost
trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the
health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed
health care cost trend rate would have the following effects as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2007:

Ona-Percentage-Point

Increase Decrease
Eiffect on postretirement benefit obligation. . .. $11.3 $(9.4]
Effect on total service and interest
COSLCOMPONEMES L\ coveerienrvrnnernnens $1.1 $(0.9]

The company also has defined contribution plans, princi-
pally involving profit sharing plans and /or 401(k] savings plans, cover-
ing most employees in the United States and at certain nen-U.S, sub-
sidiaries. Expense for all defined contribution retirement plans was
$17.8 million in 2007, $16.3 million in 2006 and $15.3 million in 2005.
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NOTE 14 - LEASES

The company has commitments under operating leases primarily for
office space, terminal facilities, land, railcars and various computer
and office equipment. Rental expense from continuing operations was
$28.7 miltion in 2007, $26.4 million in 2006 and $28.2 miltion in 2005.
Future minimum rental commitments under operating leases having
initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms exceeding one year
are $18.9 million in 2008, $17.0 mitlion in 2009, $13.4 million in 2010,
$8.6 million in 2011, $4.9 million in 2012 and $3.8 million thereafter.

NOTE 15 - SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The company is organized into two operating and reportable seg-
ments: Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizol Advanced Materiats. The
Lubrizo! Additives segment represented 66% of the company’s con-
solidated revenues for 2007 and is comprised of the company's busi-
nesses in engine additives and driveline and industrial oil additives.
The Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment represented 34% of the
company's conselidated revenues for 2007 and is comprised of the
businesses in Noveon consumer specialties, engineered palymers
and performance coatings.

Lubrizol Additives consists of two product lines: engine
additives and driveline and industrial oil additives. Engine addi-
tives is comprised of additives for lubricating engine oils, such as
for gasoline, diesel, marine and stationary gas engines and additive
components, additives for fuel products and refinery and oil field
chemicals, as well as outsourcing strategies for supply chain and
knowledge center management. In addition, this product line sells
additive components and viscosity improvers within its lubricant
and fuel additives product areas. Driveline and industrial oil addi-
tives is comprised of additives for driveline oils, such as automatic
transmission fluids, gear oils and tractor lubricants and industrial oil
additives, such as additives for hydraulic, grease and metalworking
fluids, as well as compressor lubricants. Lubrizol Additives product
lines generally are produced in company-owned shared manufactur-
ing facilities and largely sold to a common customer base. During
2003, the company sold the equipment companies, ECS and LPS, and
recorded the results of operations of these businesses in the income
{loss) irem discontinued operations - net of tax line item in the con-
solidated statement of income in 2005 [see Note 4).

The Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment consists of
Noveon consumer specialties, engineered polymers and perfor-
mance coatings product lines. The Noveon consumer specialties
product line is characterized by global production of acrylic thicken-
ers, specialty monomers, film formers, fixatives, emollients, sili-
cones, surfactants and process chemicals. The company markets
products in the Novean consumer specialties product line to the
personal care and pharmaceutical primary end-use industries. The
Noveon consumer specialties products are sold to customers world-
wide and these customers include major manufacturers of cosmet-
ics, personal care products, water soluble polymers and household
products. The engineered polymers product line is characterized by
products such as TempRite® engineered polymers and Estane® ther-
moplastic polyurethane. Engineered polymers products are sold to
a diverse customer base comprised of major manufacturers in the
construction, automotive, telecommunications, electronics and rec-
reation industries. The performance coatings preduct line includes
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high-performance polymers and additives for specialty paper,
graphic arts, paint and textile coatings applications. During the sec-
ond quarter of 2006, the company completed the sale of the FIIS and
A&| businesses, while the sale of the Telene business was completed
during the first quarter of 2006. The company recorded the results
of operations of these divested businesses in the income (loss) from
discontinued operations - net of tax line item in the consolidated
statements of income for 20046 and 2005 [see Note 4).

The company primarily evaluates performance and allo-
cates resources based on segment operating income, defined as
revenues less expenses identifiable to the product lines included
within each segment, as well as projected future returns. Segment
operating incame reconciles to conselidated income from continuing
operations before income taxes by deducting corporate expenses
and corporate other income (expense] that are not attributed to the
operating segments, restructuring and impairment charges and net
interest expense.

The following table summarizes the results of the com-
pany’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005:

2007 2006 2005

Lubrizol Additives:

Revenues from external customers ... | EBI000 | $2,4005  $2.280.0

Equityearnings .................... 132 1.0 08

Amortization of intangibles .......... [£Y5] 3.1 N}

Operating income .................. 3910 303.0 2633

Totalassets ....................... \1¥6537e) 1,397.6 1,324.0

Capital expenditures . ............... mH 77.1 70.0

Depreciation .. _..........c.coeun.n. 7076} 71.7 79.7
Lubrizol Advanced Materials:

Revenues from external customers . .. [$1153719] $1,440.3 $13422

Amortization of intangibles .......... 41918} 206 205

Operatinginceme ........c.......... 114176} 167.4 150.9

Totalassets .................co..e. }2}240'0] 2,193.7 2,536.8

Capital expenditures ................ 77221 40.2 51.3

Depreciation ... .................... (6352 41,0 99.0
Carporate:

Totalassels ............cooevni.., 0 U | % 7996 % 5104

Capital expenditures ... ............. 12110] 8.4 0.6

Depreciation ... ......oovvvvven.n. 28 0.5 0.7
Discontinued operations:

Capital expenditures ................ 8 | $ 52 % 148

Depreciation ....................... o 4.4 15.2
Reconcitiation o income from centinuing

operations befare income taxes:

Segment aperating inceme. . ......... S ERO | $ 47086 % 4142

Corporate expenses. ................ 73%3]] [73.6) {61.1)

Corporate other incame [expense) - net af {3.8) -

Restructuring and impairment charges [11%5]] (51.9) 1159

Interest expense -net............... (5318]) [79.3) 157.01

Income frem continuing operations

before income taxes. ..., .......... O &R0 | $ 2620 $ 2602




Revenues from external customers by product line are
as follows:

2007 200& 2005

Engine additives .................. $11930%8 $1,665.4 $1,404.7
Driveline and industrial oil additives, , [1'03015] 935.1 875.3

Total Lubrizol Additives .......... S 2,600.5 2,280.0
Performance coatings ............. |54082) B43.7 537.6
Engineered polymers .............. 5848]] 523,1 £42.3
Noveon consumer specialties . .. .... _ GRS 3735 342.3

Total Lubrizol Advanced Materials. ., Lﬁ_ﬂ_@ 1,440.3 1,342.2
Total revenues from

external customers .. ............. M $4,040.8 $3,422.2

Revenues are attributable to countries based on the loca-
tion of the customer. The United States is the only country where
sales to external customers comprise in excess of 10% of the com-
pany’s consolidated revenues. Revenues from external customers by
geographic zone are as follows:

2007 2004 2005

United States ..................... $1,637.0 $1,492.3
Canada ..................cooiinl 19235} 187.2 178.3
EUrope ..o N34 7321 1,144.7 1,045.0
Asia-Pacific/Middle East ........... 195652 823.5 708.8
Latin America .........oovviiinns, 2504 248.4 197.8
Total revenues from

external customers............... $4,040.8 $3,622.2

The company’'s sales and receivables are concentrated in
the oil and chemical industries. Lubrizol Additives’ customers con-
sist primarily of oil refiners and independent oil blenders located in
more than 100 countries. The company’s 10 largest customers, maost
of which are international oil companies, comprised approximately
39% of consolidated revenues in 2007, 2004 and 2005, respectively.
In 2007, 2006 and 2005, there was no single customer that accounted
for more than t0% of consolidated revenues.

Segment assets include receivables, inventaries and long-
lived assets including goodwill and intangible assets. Corporate
assets include cash and short-term investments and other current
and noncurrent assets.

The company’'s property and equipment are located in the
following countries at December 31;

2007 2004
United States . ................ooooieiii., SIR7 303! $ 7089
France ... ... .. .. . e 12376} 102.4
Belglum ... [84Y2] 76.4
ChiNa . . e (51%2] 35.1
United Kingdom ................ ..ol .. 143:5] £2.8
T - 30!5) 0.7
Other. ..o _ aR 93.0
Total property and equipment -net ........... w $1,081.3

Income from continuing operations of nan-U.5. subsidiar-
ies was $201.3 million in 2007, $136.8 million in 20046 and $138.4
million in 2005. Dividends received from these subsidiaries were
$14.6 miltion, $0.4 million and $151.8 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

NOTE 16 - STOCIK COMPERNSATION PLANS

All references to the number of shares and share units in this Note
are based on actual share and unit numbers and are not shown
in millions.

Effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Pay-
ment,” using the modified prospective transition method and there-
fore has not restated results for prior periods. Under this transition
method, stock-based compensation expense for 2004 includes com-
pensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted
prior to, but not yet vested, as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-
date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS No.123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Stock-
based compensation expense for all stock-based compensation
awards granted after January 1, 2006 is based on the grant-date fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.
The company recognizes these compensation costs, net of a forfeiture
rate, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the
award. The company estimates the forfeiture rate based on its his-
torical experience during the preceding 10 years. The impact of
adopting SFAS No. 123R in 2006 resulted in an increase in compensa-
tion expense of $2.4 million pretax [$1.4 million after tax].

Prior to January 1, 2004, the company accounted for stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value method under the
recagnition and measurement principles of APB Opinion 25, "Account-
ing for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations and
applied SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”
as amended by SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compen-
sation - Transition and Disclosure,” for disclosure purposes only.
SFAS No. 123 disclosures included pro forma net income and earn-
ings per share as if the fair value-based method of accounting had
been used. Under the provisions of APB No. 25, no stock-based
employee compensation cost is reflected in netincome, as all options
granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying stock on the date of grant.

The company utilizes the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan [2005
Plan] and other deferred compensation plans to provide equity
awards to its key employees. The 2005 Plan, approved by the com-
pany’s shareholders on April 25, 2005, provides for the granting of
stock appreciation rights, restricted and unrestricted shares, share
units and options to buy common shares up to an amount equat to
4,000,000 common shares, of which ne more than 2,000,000 can be
settled as full-value awards. After the 2,000,000 limit has been
reached, full-value awards are counted in a 3-to-1 ratio against the
4,000,000 limit. Options become exercisable 50% one year after date
of grant, 75% after two years, 100% after three years and expire up
to 10 years after grant. In addition, the 2005 Plan provides each non-
employee director of the company an automatic annual grant of
restricted stock units worth approximately $0.1 million based on the
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fair market value of the campany’s common shares on the date of
each Annual Meeting of Shareholders. These restricted stock units
vest one year after the grant date. For all grants made prior to
November 14, 2006, fair market value was defined as the average of
the high and low common share prices of the company on the date of
grant. For grants made on or after November 14, 2006, fair market
value is defined as the closing price of the comnpany’s commaon shares
on the date of grant.

Option activity as of December 31, 2007 and changes dur-
ing the year ended December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Weighted-Average
Shares Exercise Price

Qutstanding, January 1,2007............ QISR 1$32172]

Granted .. ..o e k2137200 [£53107

Exercised ............ciiiiiiiiiiiaeas 19575217 )] 430189,

Forfeited . ..o e 475 [$32760]

Outstanding, December 31, 2007......... % 535107

Options exercisable, December 31, 2007 . . 1232310952] [$32195]
=

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding at
December 31, 2007 based on the company’s closing stock price on the
last trading day of 2007, which would have been received by the option
holders had all options been exercised on that date, was $49.5 mil-

* lion. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable at Decem-
ber 31, 2007 based on the company’s closing stock price on the last
trading day of 20607, which would have been received by the option
holders had all options exercisable been exercised on that date, was
$47.3 million. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was
$26.8 mitlion, $13.5 million and $13.0 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Intrinsic value is the amount by which the company's
closing share price exceeds the exercise price of the options multi-
plied by the number of in-the-money eptions. The weighted-average
remaining contractual term of options outstanding and exercisable
at December 31, 2007 was 5.3 years and 4.7 years, respectively,

The fair vatue of share-based payment awards are esti-
mated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted-
average assumptions used to value the stock options granted during
2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

2007 200610 2005
Risk-freeinterestrate ............. LIBA N/A 4.3%
Dividendyield..................... 210573 N/A 2.5%
Volatility ...vovevi e, N/A 21.2%
Expected life lyearsk ............... 1070] N/A a0
Weighted-average fair value of
options granted during the year. . .. [$.1248] NfA $9.87

1 Not applicable. There were no stock options granted during 2004.

121 | the fair-vatue method to measure compensation cost for the 2005 awards
had been used, the cempensation cost, which is required to be charged against
incame, would have been $6.5 millicn in 2005.
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The company issued 957,217 and 938,950 common shares
from treasury upon exercise of employee stock options during 2007
and 2004, respectively. Cash received from option exercises dur-
ing 2007 was $28.2 million. The company realized a reduction in its
income tax payable of $9.7 million in 2007 relating to the exercise
of nonqualified stock options and awards. For accounting purposes,
these tax benefits were realized as increases in paid-in capital
included in the common shares caption in the consolidated state-
ment of shareholders’ equity.

At December 31, 2007, there was $16.2 million of total
pretax unrecognized compensation cost related to all stock-based
awards that were not vested. That cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years. The company is using
previously purchased treasury shares for all net shares issued
for option exercises, long-term incentive plans and restricted share
unit awards.

Nonvested restricted share unit awards at December 31,
2007 and changes during 2007 were as follows:

Share Weighted-Average
Units  Grant Date Fair Value
Nonvested at January 1, 2007 ... .. 571777, 529766}
Granted .........oooeviian... 1101755 558757
Vested .........oiiieiiaan... l1328777)] (942127
Forfeited . ... ...covoevnee.... [ﬂ,ﬂ;ﬁ] 1$58157)
Nonvested at December 31, 2007 . . [547560] 531157
[ em—

In 2004, there were 12,777 restricted share units granted
with a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $42.27. In 2006,
there were 13,689 restricted share units that vested with a weighted-
average fair value of $39.45.

Under the company's long-term incentive program, dollar-
based target awards are determined by the organization and com-
pensation committee of the board of directors for three-year per-
formance periods. The company recognized compensation expense
of $0.6 million, $4.9 million and $8.0 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, related to the cash portion of these awards that are
not share-based. In addition, a portion of each of the awards was
converted inte @ number of share units based en the price of the
company comman stock on the date of the award. There are no voting
or dividend rights associated with the share units until the end of the
performance period and a distribution of shares from the 2005 Ptan,
if any, is made. The target awards correspond to pre-determined
three-year earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amorti-
zation [EBITDA| and /or earnings per share growth rate targets. Prior
to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, compensation expense for these
awards was based on variable accounting and was calculated using
the closing stock price at period end. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R
on January 1, 2006, compensation expense for these performance
awards, except for the 2004-2006 award, was calculated based on the
grant-date fair value. The terms of the 2004-2006 award state that
payment would be in cash and as such liability accounting was used
for this award and compensation expense was calculated based on
the year-end share closing price on December 31, 2006. During 2007,
the award for the 2004-2006 performance period was paid resulting
in the issuance of 178,541 shares as well as a cash distribution.




-

The foltowing table identifies the number of shares expected
to be issued based on current performance measures and the stock
price on the date of grant for the performance shares granted:

The following table summarizes information about stock
options outstanding, excluding the performance share stock awards,
restricted share stock awards and long-term incentive plan awards

Average at December 31, 2007:
i, S —— —
umber of Un! ah ]
Award to be Issued of Grant i il
Weighted-
A Weighted- Waighted-
2005-2007 ..t 232,594 $39.44 Range of Nurmber R."":I':l;g h Number  Averape
. Exercise Gutstandi Contractusi  Exercise Exercissble  Exercise
2006-2008. ... ... 288,652 $43.07 Pri “1”31;:1’ Lite Price 12N Price
2007-2009 .. ..o oi e 255,346 $53.07 |
1$19504 28] 1077701,y car s WS 21168 40737]
o 157207600] yearsR % 31%0.) 15720700 IS 31101]
Performance-based stock awards at December 31, 2007 D60 & ‘
and changes during 2007 were as follows: =00 GRID  WSpEe N anes &E@
V‘i.nlghted- =08 2137200 "y car s 653107 = P e
verage
Share Grant Date AEREY 6oz OB GEMIR OB
Units Fair Yalue i
Nonvested at January 1,2007 ............. 13707448 [$£0795]
Granted ...t 112976 30 1$53'07) MOTE 17 - RESTRUCTURING ARD IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
Performance increase. ..........o.ovv e In 2007, the company recorded aggregate restructuring and impair-
Vested ... 12327592) 1535704 ment charges of $1.5 million. These charges primarily related to asset
Forfeited . ..........covveieiisininn... 10370851} ($22Y51] impairment charges in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment,
Nonvested at Decernber 31,2007 .. ........ [$2 7172} partially offset by a gain recorded on the sale of a Lubrizol Additives

In 2006, no performance-based stock awards were granted.

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized in
the consolidated statements of income for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
$20.4 million, $14.8 million and $9.2 million, respectively. The related
tax benefit for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $7.1 million, $5.2 million and
$3.2 million, respectively.

In prior years, certain international employees received
stock-based awards that are similar to stock appreciation rights.
These awards vested 50% cone year after grant, 75% two years after
grant and 100% three years after grant and have a 10-year exercise
period from the date of grant. The value of these awards is based on
Lubrizol cormmon shares and is paid in cash upon employee exercise.
At December 31, 2007, the unexercised portion of these fully vested
stock-based awards is accounted for as a liability award. Compensa-
tion expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $0.3 million, $1.7 million and $1.1 millien,
respectively. These amounts are included in the total stock-based
compensation expense reported above.

manufacturing facility located in Bromborough, United Kingdom.

The following tables show the reconciliation of the restruc-
turing liability beginning from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2007
by major restructuring activity:

Restructuring
Liabilty and Liahitity
January 1, Impairment Cash Non-cash  Decambar 31,
2007 Charges Pait  Adjustments 2007

Bremborough, UK.

plant closure and sale | G040 151017 /IS 105 /IS (01 )] 508

Lubrizol Advanced
Materials ptant
closures, production
tine impairments and

workforce reductions | @F &) (1%0]] (37 )] Qs
Corporate/aother ‘
workforce reductions | @8 @9 (023]] © =

Noveon International
restructuring

liabilities assumed ;@@ _° M .. Qﬁ
gas $1076) IS (315 ) 15110]
[~—] [ ] ——1 [———] =

Inctuded in restructuring and impairment charges jor the
year ended December 31, 2007 was a $2.0 million gain on the sale of
the UK, plant,
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Restructuring
Liability and Liability
Jancary 1, Impairment Cash Non-cash  Decembar 31,
2004 Charges Paid  Adjustments 2006

Noveon trade name

impairment $ - $41.2 $ - $l41.2] $ -
Bromborough, UK.
plant closure 23 6.7 (8.2) 0.2 1.0
Lubrizat Advanced
Materials facility and
line closures and
workforce reductions 2.5 4.1 [2.5] 3.4 0.7
Corporate/other
workforce reductions 03 [0.1] - - 0.2
MNoveon International
restructuring
liabilities assumed 13 - [0.4) - 0%
$6.4 $51.9 $(11.1) $144.4 $28
Restructuring
Liability and Uahitity

January 1, tmpairment Cash Non-cash  Decamber 31,

Bromborough, UK,
plant closure $ - % 4.1 $ 3 $0.7) $2.3

Lubrizol Advanced
Materials facility
closures and

workforce reductions - 7.0 [2.3) [6.2) 25
Carparate/other
workforce reductions 2.7 0.7 [3.%] - 03

Novean International
restructuring
liabilities assumed 6.1 0.1 [5.0) 0.1 13

$8.8 $15.9 $113.5] $14.8) $6.4

In September 2006, the company entered into an agree-
ment to sell the manufacturing facility located in Bromborough,
United Kingdom. The sale closed in January 2007. In connection with
the sale, the company received net cash proceeds of $5.9 million
and recorded a pretax gain of $2.8 million during the first quarter of
2007. The gain was classified as a reduction to restructuring charges
associated with closure of the facility. Production from the Brombo-
rough facility was transferred to higher-capacity company facilities
in France and the United States. On January 17, 2005, the company
announced its plans to phase-out production at the Bremborough
facility by the end of 2004. At that time, the company estimated that
total restructuring costs, including employee severance and other
plant closure costs lincluding planned demolition costs), would be
approximately $15.0 million. Cumutative pretax charges of approxi-
mately $12.8 million were incurred through 2006, of which $6.7 mil-
lion were incurred in 2006, to satisfy severance and retention obliga-
tions, plant dismantling, site restoration and other site environmental
evaluation costs. The company has invested approximately $20.6 mil-
lien in capital related to the Bromborough plant closure for capacity
upgrades in France and the United States. At December 31, 2007,
the company had compteted its capital spending associated with the
replacement of productive capabitity as a result of the Bromborough
plant closure.
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As part of its corporate goal to enhance its “one company”
identity and to reflect more accurately its positioning in the market-
place, the company completed a corporate identity review in the
fourth quarter of 2006. Senior management of the company made a
final determination in January 2007 that the trade name “Noveon™ no
longer would be used to describe the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
segment of the company and that its use would be discontinued
except in connection with the Noveon consumer specialties product
line. The company acquired the rights to the Noveon trade name in
June 2004 when it acquired Noveon International. At the time of
acquisition, an appraised value was attached to the Noveon trade
name.-The company calculated a pretax charge of $41.2 miltion
[$25.4 million after-tax) to reduce the related asset to its estimated
fair value. This charge was reflected in the fourth quarter of 2006 as
the company believed at that time it would more likely than not dis-
continue the use of the Noveon trade name, except in the limited
context of its Noveon consumer specialties product line.

In 2005, management made the decision and the announce-
ment to close two Lubrizol Advanced Materials performance coat-
ings production facilities located in the United States. The aggregate
restructuring charges recorded for these closures were $8.0 million,
of which $1.4 million was recorded in 2004, Total charges were com-
prised of $4.8 million in asset impairments, $1.1 million in exit costs
and $2.1 million in severance costs. The impairment charges for both
facilities were recorded to reduce the related assets to their esti-
mated fair values, which were determined primarily from third-party
appraisals. Production from these sites was transferred to other
facilities in the United States. One facility, located in Mountaintop,
Pennsylvania, was closed in October 2005 and sold in January 2006.
The other facility, located in Linden, New Jersey, was closed in the
third quarter of 2006. These closures resulted in a workforce reduc-
tion of 62 employees. Additional asset impairment charges of $2.7
million were recorded in 2004, which primarily related to the planned
closure of a perfermance coatings production line in the first quarter
of 2007. In May 2005, the company announced the reorganizatien of
the Lubrizol Advanced Materials performance coatings product line.
This product line includes businesses acquired from Noveon interna-
tional as well as businesses included in the cermpany’s legacy opera-
tions. In connection with the reorganization, managernent eliminated
26 positions in North America and Europe. These reductions were
completed during 2005 and resulted in a severance-related charge of
$1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.

In the secend quarter of 2005, the company began a pro-
cess of idenlifying opportunities to increase efficiency and produc-
tivity, reduce costs and support the company’s integration strategy
of the Noveon International acquisition. As a result, the company
reduced headcount in the general and administrative area of its Ohio
headquarters. Through these restructuring efforts, the company
eliminated seven positions resulting in a severance-related charge of
$0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. All of the affected
employees had left their positions by June 30, 2005 and the remain-
ing personnel-related costs were paid in 2006.

The charges for these cost reduction initiatives and impair-

ments are reported as a separate line item in the consolidated state-
ments of income entitled "Restructuring and impairment charges.”
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NOTE 18 - CONTINGENCIES

The company has numerous purchase commitments for materials,
supplies and energy in the ordinary course of business. The company
also has numerous sales commitments for product supply contracts
in the ordinary course of business.

General There are pending or threatened claims, lawsuits and
administrative proceedings against the company or its subsidiar-
ies, all arising from the ordinary course of business with respect
to commercial, product liability and environmental matters, which
seek remedies or damages. The company believes that any liabil-
ity that finally may be determined with respect to commercial and
product liability claims should not have a material adverse effect on
the company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows. From time to time, the company also is involved in
legal proceedings as a plaintiff involving contract, patent protection,
environmental and other matters. Environmental matters and Liabili-
ties are addressed specifically below. Gain contingencies, if any, are
recognized when they are realized.

Environmental The company's environmental engineers and con-
sultants review and monitor environmental issues at operating facil-
ities and, where apprapriate, the company initiates corrective and for
preventive environmental projects to ensure environmental compli-
ance and safe and lawful activities at its current operations. The com-
pany also conducts compliance and management systems audits.

The company and its subsidiaries are generators of both
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, the treatment, storage,
transportation and disposal of which are regulated by various laws
and governmental regulations. These laws and regulations generally
impose liability for costs to investigate and remediate contamination
without regard to fault and, under certain circumstances, liahility
may be joint and several resulting in one party being held respon-
sible for the entire obligation. Liability alse may include damages to
natural resources. Although the company believes past operations
were in substantial compliance with the then-applicable regulations,
either the company or the predecessor of Noveon International, the
Performance Materials Segment of Goodrich Corporation (Goodrich),
has been designated under a country’s laws and /or regulations as a
potentially responsible party [PRP] in connection with several sites
including both third party sites and for current operating facilities.

The company participates in the remediation process for
onsite and third party waste management sites at which the company
has been identified as a PRP. This process includes investigation,
remedial action selection and implementation, as well as discus-
sions and negotiations with other parties, which primarily include
PRPs, past awners and operators and governmental agencies. The
estimates of environmental liabilities are based on the results of this
process. Inherent uncertainties exist in these estimates primarily
due to unknown conditions, changing governmental regulations and
legal standards regarding liability, remediation standards and evoly-
ing technologies for managing investigations and remediations. The
company revises its estimates accordingly as events in this process
occur and additional informatien is obtained.

The company's environmental reserves, measured on an
undiscounted basis, totaled $18.7 million at December 31, 2007 and
$14.2 million at December 31, 2006. Of these amounts, $5.3 million
and $4.5 million were inctuded in accrued expenses and other cur-
rent liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Goodrich
provided Noveon International with an indemnity for various environ-
mental liabilities. The company estimates Goodrich’s share of such
currently identified liabilities under the indemnity, which extends
through February 2011, to be approximately $3.7 million of which
$0.5 million of the recavery is included in receivables and $3.2 mil-
lion is included in other assets. There are specific environmental
contingencies for company-owned sites for which third parties such
as past owners and/for operators are the named PRPs and also for
which the company is indemnified by Goodrich. Goodrich currently
is indemnifying Noveon International for several environmental
remediation projects. Goodrich's share of all of these liabitities may
increase to the extent such third parties fail to honor their obligations
through February 2011.

The company believes that its environmental accruals
are adequate based on currently available information. The com-
pany believes that it is reasonably possible that $9.0 million in addi-
tional costs may be incurred at certain locations beyond the amounts
accrued as a result of new information, newly discovered conditions,
changes in remediation standards or technologies or a change in
the law. Additionally, as the indemnification from Goodrich extends
through February 2011, changes in assumptions regarding when
costs will be incurred may result in additional expenses to the com-
pany. Additional costs in excess of $9.0 million cannot currently be
estimated.

Guarantees On May 1, 2004, the company sold the FIS business
to SPM Group Holdings, LLC, now known as Emerald Performance
Materials, LLC (Emerald|. As a result of the sale, Emerald became
responsible for a supplier contract with SK Corporation [SK]. The
company provided a guarantee to SK, revocable by the company upen
60 days™ prior written notice, for the timely performance of Emer-
ald’s payment obligations provided SK is unable to collect payment
from Emerald using commercially reasonable efforts. On November
5, 2007, the company terminated the guarantee, which ariginally
extended to January 31, 2008,

Indemnifications In connection with the sale of the FIIS business,
the company has provided indemnifications lo Emerald with respect
to the business sold. These indemnifications have been associated
with the price and guantity of raw material purchases, permit costs,
costs incurred due to the inability to obtain permits and envirenmen-
tal matters. In each of these circumstances, payment by the company
is dependent on Emerald filing a claim. In addition, the company's
obligations under these agreements may be limited in terms of time
and/or amount. it is not possible to predict the maximum potentjal
amount of future payments under certain of these agreements due
ta the conditional pature of the company’s obligations and the unique
facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. For
those indemnification agreements where a payment by the company
is probable and estimable, a liability has been recorded at December
31, 2007. The company believes that if it were to incur a loss in any
of these matters, such loss would not have a material effect on the
company’'s business, financial condition or results of operations.
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NOTE 19 - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UMAUDITEDI]

The following table sets forth the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007)
G ORI Tt RIrd®  GU%Ew |

REVEMUES « ...\ttt et ettt e et e e te e e et r e e et e e 16190767 (5181545 1$.15 2% 80000 € 414990
BEOSS PrOfit ..o\ttt ittt ettt et e 8 FA6 52958 8 &Eas 8 mAA 1618 2079)
Ly e 1Y S B8 78 8 o 8 b 8 &Y £ mas
Net incame per commaon share:
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2008
First Second 12 Third ) Fourth Full Year

[Ty T3 D $984.1 $1.041.1 $1,031.0 $984.6 $4,040.8
Gross profit .. ... o e $244.8 $ 2458 $ 2482 $236.8 % 9954
Income from continuing OPerations ... .vuer vt vin st istir e $ 45.3 $ 630 $ 501 $ 214 $ 1798
Discontinued 0peratibns .. ........o.iereretrier e e (60.7) [12.4) [0.5) (2.6) [76.2)
L= 5Tl T3 $(15.4) $ 5046 $ 494 $ 188 $ 103.6
Per common share - basic:

Continuing OPerations. ... ... it $ 0.66 % 092 $ 07 $ 031 $ 2.2

Discontinued OPerationS ... ....vvrrerire e e ia i (0.89) (0.18] 0.0 [0.04) 1.11)

NEEINCOMIE . oLttt t et e n e et e e $10.23] $ 074 $ 072 $ 027 $ 151
Per common share - diluted:

Continuing Operations . ... ... ... it e $ 0.65 $ 09 $ 072 $ 031 $ 259

Discontinued operations ... . ... ... ittt (0.88) (0.8 - (0.04) (1.0

T =13, 1 S $ (0.23] $ 072 $ 072 $ 0.27 $ 149

{1) The company recorded restructuring and impairment lcredits) charges of $12.4] miltion, $0.9 million, $2.1 million and $0.9 enillion in the first, second, thirg and faurth
quarters of 2007, respectively.

12) Tha company recorded restructuring and impairment charges of $1.8 million, $1.8 million, $2.7 million and $45.6 million in the first, second, third and fourth quarters
of 2006, respectively.
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HISTORICAL SUMMARY

rd

2°N

{in Millions Except Shareholders, Employees and Per Share Data) 2007 ' 2006 2005 2004*
OPERATING RESULTS:
VNS L. i i e e AR | $4.040.8 $3,622.2  $2.B44.4  $1,984.2
Costofsales. ... ... .. . i e 3337851 3,045.2 2,700.1 2,104.6 1,460.2
Gross profit. . ..o e N1812019] 995.6 922.1 759.8 524.0
Selling. administrative, technical and research expenses ...... 6418] 587.2 547.3 469.6 355.1
Amortization of intangible assets ......... ... ... ... ... b2 %3} 23.7 235 16.9 4.8
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development . .. .. ) - - 340 -
Restructuring and impairment charges ..................... 43 51.9 15.9 38.1 225
Net interesl expense and otherincome ..................... 50 70.8 95.2 66.7 17.8
Income from continuing operations before income taxes . .. . .. e $39.910)] 262.0 240.2 134.5 123.8
Provision forincometaxes ................ .. .. ... ..L _ {ﬁE{é 82.2 80.8 49.0 36.2
Income from continuing operations. ..., 283743 179.8 159.4 85.5 874
Income (lossl from discontinued operations - netoftax . ....... e [76.2) 278 6.3 1.9
Net income ... ..o e O F|A | $ 1036 $ 1872 $ 918§ 895
Income from continuing operations per diluted share ............. 8 &B | $ 259 $ 232 $ 153 $ 170
Discontinued operations per dilutedshare ....................... e (1.10) 0.40 o.n 0.04
Dituted earnings pershare ... ... i 8 GBI $ 149 $ 272 % s % 176
FINANCIAL RATIOS:
Gross profit percentage ...... ... .. ... .. il b2 489 24.4 255 26.5 26.4
Percent of revenues:
Selling and administrative expenses ....................... 1974 9.4 9.6 9.9 9.5
Research and testing expenses ................ ... ... Y9 5.1 5.5 65 83
Return on average shareholders’ equity (%), .. ... ... . ... VWL b.4 12.2 75 %9
Debt to capitalization (%], .. ........ ... . (42524 47.8 51.8 56.5 28.6
Currentratio .......oiui i an 29 24 24 31
OTHER INFORMATION:
Dividends declared pershare. ...........c.ooviinnienenannnns 8 2B | % 104 $ 104 F$ 1046 $ 104
Average commeon shares outstanding:
B . 16957 68.7 67.9 55.7 51.7
Diluted. ... ... e 47.010] 69.3 48.8 56.0 51.9
Capital expenditures - continuing operations. . ................... 5] $ 1257 $ 1219 % 1226 $ 882
Depreciation expense - continuing operations .................... B 0 | $ 1333 0§ 1394 % 1238 $ 937
At Year End:
TOtAl@SSEUS . vv vt e . $4390.9  $43712  $45TL1 $19449
LONG-term debt . ... ... it LR | $15380  $1.662.9  $1.9641  $ 3867
TOtaldebl oo COWELEG | $1.5417  $14708  $1.9723  $ 3896
Total shareholders’ equity .. .............ccoeeeeeieoio., EOE9| $1.683.1  $15519  $1,5085 $ 941.0
Shareholders’ equity per basic share .. ..................... E{&&) 24.39 22.81 22.58 18.24
Common Share price . ...........coovuneinnoeeoon .. B35 $ 5013 % 4343 $ 3686 $ 32.52
Number of shareholders ...............coooeeeiinninn... RE 37029 3,265 3.500 3,698 3.903
Number of employees .. ... ... ..o vt e 2. 6,746 7.515 7.725 5,032

* The 2004 results includa the revenues and expenses of Noveon International, Inc. since June 3, 2004, the date of acquisttien.

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION E 57



| Lubrizol
’——"'——-—-_

ONE GLOBAL MARKETPLACE Sydney,AustraliasAntwerp, Belgium » Oevel, Belgium « Vilvoorde, Belgium ¢ Riode . aneirc

Niagara Falls, Ontario, Canada = Lanzhou, China ¢ Qingpy, China *Songjiang, China » Tianjin, China « Zhejiang, China « Le Havre, France » Mourenx.

Rouen, France ¢« Hamburg, Germany ° Ritterhude, bai, India it\la’dadora. India « Kinuura, Japan.'-? Sembilan, Malaysia + Apodaca,

Delfzijl, The Netherlands,'e: Yaﬁbd; Si‘:ludi Arabia urban, South Africa e Korea; = Barcelona, Spain ¢ Muang, T

PR

L o #eCdok, ML = Calvert
x OF o Chegrin F
/:mvaine Lteneuve, ‘
|

teriude, Germapy o Mumba

Barnstey, United Kingdom .+ Hucdersfield, Uni

Louisville, KY o Lawrence, MA o Wil

!
! + -|
itpanore o Bercelona, Spain ¢« Muang, |

nited Kingtiom = Grangemouth, United il
. |

4 - 1

¢, NC = Avon Lake, OH » Bowling Green, OH « Brecks:

Aleium » Qevel, Belgium © Vilvoorde, Belgiurm o Rlo de Janeird

Songjiang, Thina o T1anjin, China » Zhejiang, China » Le avre, France < Mourenx

OC  CONVERGENCE

The globalization of the specialty chermicals industry has brought the
world closer together. Leadership in this converging marketplace
requires a sound giobal infrastructure. The Lubrizol Corporation
owns and operates manufacturing facilities in 19 countries, as well
as sales and technical centers around the world. The company has

CORPORATE

INFORMATION °

Transfer Agent, Registrar and

approximately 6,700 employees worldwide.

Shareholder [nformation

Dividend Disbursing Agent

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane

New York, NY 10038

718.921.8200 800.937.544%

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at the Radisson
Hotel & Conference Center, Eastlake, Chio on April 28, 2008.

Form10-K

The Annual Report on Form 10-K to the Securities and Exchange
Commission will be avaitable on or about February 28, 2008. A
copy may be obtained without charge upon written request to the
Secretary of the Company or from the Internet site.
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The Common Shares of The Lubrizol Corporatien are listed on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LZ. The number
of shareholders of record of Common Shares was 3,040 as of
February 15, 2008.

Investors and shareholders may purchase shares of stock through
The Lubrizal Corporation Dividend Reinvestment and Direct
Stock Purchase and Sale Plan. To participate in the Plan, contact
our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
Dividend Reinvestment Department, at 877.573.3998 ltoll free)

or on the Internet at www.amstock.com.

Internet Yebh Site
Company and investor information is available on the Internet at
www.lubrizot.com.
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oo BOARD OF DIRECTORS and CORPORATE OFFICERS

Left to right: Robert E. Abernathy, Forest J. Farmer, Sr., Harriett Tee Taggart, William P. Madar,

James L. Hambrick, Deminic J. Pileggi, James E. Sweetnam, Gordon D. Harnett, Jerald A. Blumberg

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

James L. Hambrick

Chairman of the Board,

President and Chief
Executive Officer
Director since 2004

Robert E. Abernathy

Group President
of Kimberty-Clark
Director since 2006

Jerald A. Blumberg

Former Executive
Vice President,
Chairman of
DuPcnt Europe
Director since 1999

Forest J. Farmer, Sr.

President and Chief
Executive Officer

of The Farmer Group
Director since 1997

Gordon D. Harnett

Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
of Brush Engineered
Materials Inc.

Director since 1995

William P. Madar

Retired Chief

Executive Officer

of Nordson Corporation
Director since 1992

Dominic J. Pileggi

Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

of Thomas & Betts
Corporation
Director since 2005

James E. Sweetnam

Senior Vice President
and President -
Truck Group

of Eaton Corporation
Director since 2007

Harriett Tee Taggart

Retired Partner,
Senior Vice President
and Global Investment
Manager of Wellington
Management LLC
Director since 2007

Performance Comparisons

CORPORATE OFFICERS

James L. Hambrick
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Donald W. Bogus

Senior Vice President;
President, Lubrizol
Advanced Materials

Charles P. Cooley

Senior Vice President,
Treasurer and
Chief Financial Qfficer

Stephen F. Kirk

Senior Vice President;
President, Lubrizol
Additives

Joseph W, Bauer

Vice President and
General Counsel

Mark Meister

Vice President and
Chief Ethics Dificer

Patrick H. Saunier
Yice President
Gregory D. Taylor
Vice President

W. Scott Emerick
Corporate Cantroller
Leslie M. Reynolds

Corporate Secretary
and Counsel

Jeffrey A. Vavruska
Chief Tax Officer
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The following chart compares our combined total shareholder returns for
the five years ended December 31, 2007 to the combined total shareholder
returns of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500
Chemicals Industry (formerly the Standard & Peor's Chemicals Industryl.
The chart assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2002, and the
immediate investment of all dividends.

12-02 12-03 12-04 12-05 12-04 12-07
December 31, 2002 2003 2004 2005 200§ 2007
O The Lubrizol Corporation 100.0 110.26 129.04 155.%5 184.29 203.09
O SA&P 500 Chemicats Industry 1000 12853 151.2% 15034 175.09 222.40
O S&P 600 100.0 128.68 142,69 149.70 173,34 182.87

ey

£2  Employees featured in annual report: Jane Atkins, Chris Carter, Melissa Clere, Mary Galic Raguz, Debbie Hamrick, Rick Hartman, Fernando Hipola, Bruce Johnson,
Randell Joseph, Marianne Kissner, Michae! Kuta, Gwendolyn McDay, Bryan Maran, Jose Morell, David Moreton, Linda Mugambi, Kristin Pesek, John Petric,
Tess Linh Pham, Brian Pitts, Naser Pourahmady, Girish Rao, Lori Sacre, My Hang Truong, Aimee Veneri, Marc Verthongen, Viviana Wilson, Gary Yaa
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